=

- S~

Huabao

|+
[+t

Huabao International Holdings Limited
EZEBBREZERER QA

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(RBEFRETMK L2 BRAR])
Stock Code A&7 1X5% : 00336

2014-2015 Annual Report FE {4



Contents B &%

Corporate Information

NEIEH 2
Financial Highlights
BGHRE 4

Company Profile, Corporate Culture and
Key Events for the Year

SEEN « CEUEREFAERL 5
Chairwoman’s Statement
FREWE 12

Management Discussion and Analysis

EIRE A wm R AT 15
Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
BEELERERERE 51
Corporate Governance Report

PEERRE 61
Investor Relations Report

REEMERS 81
Directors’ Report

BEEERE 85
Independent Auditor’s Report

B AZ BRI 97
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e IR R 99
Statement of Financial Position

BRI R 100
Consolidated Income Statement

frelER 101
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

e EREE 102
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

maEREER 103
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

maRemnEk 104

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e BTSRRI AL 105
Five Year Financial Summary

hFEMBHE 197
Glossary

Eals 198



Corporate Information
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Financial Highlights
MBRE

TABLE OF FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Sales

Gross profit

Gross profit margin

Operating profit

EBIT margin

Selling and marketing expenses to sales

Administration expenses to sales

Profit before income tax

Profit attributable to the equity holders of
the Company

Earnings per share (HK cents)
— Basic
— Diluted

Net cash generated from operating activities

Net cash*

Total equity

Interim and special dividends paid per share
(HK cents)

Final and special dividends per share
(HK cents)

Dividend payout ratio for the year

Debt ratio*

Current ratio (times)

Liquidity ratio (times)

Inventory turnover (days)

Trade receivables turnover (days)

Trade payables turnover (days)

EF|

FEH =

EiB AR

EBIT=

HE R MiGERRS (L
HELE

THRAZhHEEL R

B 758 B 2 )

KRB R A AR & T

@M (GBI)
— HK
— ¥
LEERBELZRE TR
R
g
[EERESZTEGRE NS H
B (B
SRR R RIS
(&Ml
2EREDIRE
BEHE
MEBELE (£5)
EELLE (1F)
FERAEX (A)
FEWARFURE R (H)
FEfSERFURE R (H)

MBHER

Change in
2015 2014 percentage
—E-HF —T—MF ERalid-r)

HKD’000 HKD'000

BT T BT T
4,326,486 4,237,425 +2.1%
3,025,317 2,998,119 +0.9%

69.9% 70.8%
2,320,145 2,377,244 -2.4%

53.6% 56.1%

4.7% 4.0%

17.7% 15.5%
2,386,247 2,417,245 -1.3%
1,986,584 1,977,325 +0.5%
64.02 63.76 +0.4%
63.93 63.72 +0.3%
2,141,895 1,824,923 +17.4%
2,875,813 2,651,614 +8.5%

9,403,842 9,000,229

31.72 11.56

- 17.49

50% 46%

8.2% 6.1%

4.1 4.1

3.6 3.4

232 226

79 76

116 120

+ “Cash and bank balances” means “Short-term time deposits” plus “Cash

and cash equivalents”.

* “Net cash” means “Short-term time deposits” plus “Cash and cash

equivalents” minus “Borrowings”.

# “Debt ratio” means “Total borrowings (include current & non-current

borrowings” divided by “Total Equity (exclude non-controlling

interests)”.
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Company Profile, Corporate Culture and Key Events for the Year
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Company profile

Huabao International Holdings Limited (the “Group”) is currently
engaged in the R&D, production and sales of flavours and fragrances,
RTL, new tobacco materials and innovative tobacco products.
Adhering to the principle of “catering for the needs of consumers in
pursuit of high quality living”, the Group targets at serving the local
consumer related industry in China and makes use of internationally
advanced flavours and fragrances and related technologies. Leverage
on a multi-dimensional platform covering unique materials, open
R&D,
becomes the

innovative channels and business incubators, the Group
in enhancing the ecological

environment for the consumer related industry in various areas.

“leader to a better life”

The Group is a market leader in China’s flavours and fragrances
industry. The Group has been the leading producer in terms of sales
revenue among competitors, maintaining a significant position within
the flavours and fragrances industry in China. The Group possesses
an integrated core value chain, established upstream raw material
extraction bases in Botswana, southern Africa, Guangdong, Jiangsu,
Guangdong,

and Hunan, production bases in Shanghai, Jiangsu,

Yunnan, Jiangxi, Fujian, and Hong Kong, etc., overseas R&D centres
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Company Profile, Corporate Culture and Key Events for the Year

SEEN  EEEREFAERL

in Holzminden of Germany and North Carolina of the United States
of America, State-recognised R&D centre in Shanghai and R&D
departments in Guangdong, Yunnan and Fujian. The Group takes
on leadership roles in a number of flavours and fragrances industry
associations in China, including the Deputy Director of China
Association of Fragrance Flavour and Cosmetic Industries, Deputy
Director of China Food Additives & Ingredients Association and
Chairman of Shanghai Food Additive Industry Association.

The Group is also one of the market leaders in China’s RTL industry,
where its production capacity and sales account for significant
market shares and its production workmanship and product quality
have reached leading domestic and advanced international levels.
Guangdong Jinye, a subsidiary of the Group, is one of the RTL R&D
bases authorised by the STMA. In November 2012, the second
phase of Guangdong Jinye RTL production line was completed and
commenced production. In March 2014, the said production line
became the first one that was certified by the STMA and achieved
landmark-status in paper-making RTL production. Its production
workmanship has been recognised by the STMA to have reached
the highest technology level within domestic paper-making RTL
production, while its major technical indicators also have reached
advanced international levels. In January 2015, the Group’s
“High-speed high-efficiency clean and stable production key
technology of paper-making RTL” was granted “Second Class of the
Science and Technology Progress Award 2014" by China National
Tobacco Corporation, the highest level of award among RTL players
during the year. The award not only signifies that the technological
achievements of the Group are widely recognised and acclaimed in
the industry at a higher level, but also further consolidates its leading
position in the RTL industry.

The Group also maintained its leading position in the fields of
new cigarette materials and new workmanships. Three platforms,
namely the cigarette smoke transmission technological platform, the
dry-pressed RTL technological platform and the innovative tobacco
stem technological platform, have been established along with trial
production bases, where innovative products are being progressively
received by customers. In particular, the Group’s dry-pressed RTL
technology passed the project identification of the STMA in June
2015 and was identified as the first dry-pressed RTL pilot scale
production line and whole set equipment locally and abroad
developed with its own intellectual property rights, filling the gap
in the industry. Overall, such R&D achievements have attained the
advanced international level.
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Company Profile, Corporate Culture and Key Events for the Year

Meanwhile, the Group started to develop the business of innovative
tobacco products, and particularly the non-nicotine e-cigarette
business. Currently, the Group has established its own non-nicotine
e-cigarette brand “SPV” and is the first and only brand in Mainland
China with large-scale marketing and promotion. Since SPV's first
generation product launch in October 2014, the brand has gained
considerable recognition after preliminary promotion and is currently
the most influential e-cigarette brand in China. In June 2015,
reputable actors starred in the brand’s microfilm “Stand Point” and
the Group plans to kick off the works of comprehensive online and
offline channel development. In addition to e-cigarette products,
the Group enjoys inherent advantages in tobacco oil products
for e-cigarette production mainly benefiting from the Group'’s
comprehensive technological strengths in tobacco chemistry, analysis
and flavours and fragrances composition. Currently, the Group has
developed tens of unique tastes and flavours of tobacco oil products
for e-cigarette production, enjoying a leading position in the industry.

The Group will continue in adhering to its core development
strategy of “Multi-pronged, Focused Growth” beginning with “core
flavour and fragrance technology”. By nurturing new businesses
with innovation incubators and expanding into new businesses
along the industry chain (both upstream and downstream), the
Group will gradually strengthen and develop its multi-layered core
competencies, namely, “maintaining close partnership with the PRC
tobacco enterprises”, “mastering control over retail channels” and
"developing food additives channels” with a view to building the
Group into a strategic investment holding group of “Multi-pronged,
Focused Growth”.
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Company Profile, Corporate Culture and Key Events for the Year
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Corporate Structure

Vice President Legal Department

SEREE

Key Management Structure

BEEERE

Chairwoman of
the Board & CEO President

EERIER B
BFEHTE

)

Nomination Committee
REEER

)

Remuneration Committee

FMEEE

Audit Committee
EREE®

Strategy and Decision
Committee

BEREAREZES

Bl

I

Bles

L

Vice President
R4

Vica PreshE )7 Innovative Technology

AT A

Investment

BRI E

Aromatic Technology
BB

Hengxin Analysis and
— Inspection

R

Innovative Tobacco

Assistant to the President

RN

Assistant to the President &
Director of Tobacco
Business Centre
FEESAEupEE g
BRSO RES

Assistant to the President &

Director of Securities Affairs

BEBNER
BHEISHE

Director

Director
e

HELEE

Guangdong Jinye
BRE%E

Purchasing Department

RIS

| Administrative Department
TR

New Cigarette Materials

PIEEH £

Tobacco Business Centre
EREHER L

Securities Affairs Department

BB

Investor Relations Department

REEREE

Tobacco Flavours and
Fragrances Centre

RRAEERERT L
Food Flavours and
Fragrances Centre

RmkBABRERFRL

International Business

Director of Investment
REMRE

Department
B
Investment Management
Department
REEEER

Finance Department

M5 ER

Human Resources Department

Director of Corporate

L————— Management & Information

EREEREEMAE

AN EIRED
Corporate Management &
Information Department
EEERESE

Audit Department

8 Huabao International Holdings Limited #EEMIZERER AT

2014-2015 Annual Report ¥R}

Head of CEQ's Office
CEOWAREELE

Fital

CEQ's Office
CEOWRZE



Company Profile, Corporate Culture and Key Events for the Year
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Corporate Culture
EENE

w i
Vision fi= Spirit 1518

Leader to a better life Innovative, pragmatic, loyal and cooperative
A ES|EE BIET - IEE - B ik

A ,/

Core Value &/ 0MEEE

Client first, value creation and shared achievements

EFz2L  BEAE HFEAS

Strategy i B%

The Group will persist in its “Multi-pronged, Focused Growth” growth strategy for its business portfolio, it
endeavours to become a strategic investment holding group in enhancing the ecological environment for the
consumer related industry chain in China

The Group will enhance the flavours and fragrances technology to expand into the food and beverage flavours
and fragrances business by leveraging thereon and then replicate such success in other businesses such as
additives and food ingredients, forming the future mega flavours and fragrances segment

The Group will expand its business into tobacco reconstituted raw materials and differentiated auxiliary
materials according to the cigarette taste design proposal by capitalising on the differences in the design of
cigarette’s taste, forming the future tobacco auxiliary materials segment

The Group will establish an innovative incubator platform, utilising innovative organisation and incentive
mechanism, to focus on incubating new business and new models in relation to “Multi-pronged, Focused
Growth” and based on core competencies in establishing an accelerating growth engine in the future

BEATRALZT] REBEARREE  NARATEEERFEXBERARNBRREEREE
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Key Events for the Year
EFEAET

e Guangdong Zhaoging’s “Xinghu” ethyl maltol was again e Wuxi Huahai's “functional premium natural flavours
awarded the “Adopting International Standard Product and fragrances” was awarded the “High-tech product
Marking Certificate” by the Administration of Quality and certification” by the Jiangsu Provincial Department of
Technology Supervision of Guangdong Province. Science and Technology.

s EREEF[EN|IMIEXTHBAEGHEREESR o EBHEBRH MM ERATHEER ] BIHERR
MEERREN [HRARRREERRGES EEE [SHRERREEE

(. o) | ([~

e Guangzhou Huafang’s “molecular Guangdong Jinye was titled “Large-scale Industrial BackborD
distilled natural flavours” was Development Enterprise” by the Shantou Municipal Government.
accredited as a “Guangdong
province high-tech product” by the
Guangdong Provincial Department
of Science and Technology.

o BEMEFW[HFEBREERRE

e Huabao Kongque passed the audit of Intertek’s “FSSC 22000 Food
Safety Management System Certification”, representing Huabao
Kongque has fulfilled such internationally recognised standard.

o ERSEBIETARBFRT [RETEEBRES R HR

B EBRANRBERT A [ERE o EEIALMBIntertek RILEE [FSSC 220008 RE 2 BRI A e
\ SRR ) \ BB REEEALHR T RERBR RMERAMEE D
2014 2014 2014
MAY 5 A AUGUST 8H OCTOBER 108
2014 2014 2014 2014
APRIL 48 JULY 78 SEPTEMBER 9 A NOVEMBER 11 A

( The grand opening ceremony of tD
“China Tobacco Yunnan New Materials
R&D and Innovation Platform” took place
at Huabao Korea. The establishment of
such innovation platform marks the official

K- The grand opening ceremony of t@

“China Tobacco Yunnan - Huabao overseas technology cooperation between
International Tobacco Innovation and China Tobacco Yunnan and the Group.
Technology Joint Laboratory” took place u .

at Guangdong Jinye. The establishment c [Em *E&ﬂw /b%ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁlj ﬁi &l
of such laboratory is conducive to %%HE{%E&E%;E@@é%ﬁ ° EZE‘J%E%E\
generating synergies between the parties E’U%% ' /$ﬁ§%@n$kﬁgﬁ$%@EEiﬁ
in the areas of R&D of tobacco innovation K NBIMEIT & 1R B J

technology, product enhancement and
technology innovation.

o [EmEPIE — F 5 BREE A R

AEUERE | BEEREEESEE e Huabao Shanghai passed the audit of China Quality Certification Centre’s
i%.%ﬁ :?Z%ﬁ%ﬁfa’a&jﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁﬁ\ﬁﬁ "Occupation Health and Safety Management System OHSAS18001:2011".
RA = = ~. N

SEHEBE R R - EmITARM e FELIBBEATHESRTBH LY [BEERELREEIEE ROHSAS
K BAMTAIFF R RES) J 18001:2011 ] By&#HE
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SEEN  EEEREFAERL

e Yunnan Tianhong was accredited an
“A-Class Flavours and Fragrances
Supplier” by China Tobacco Yunnan.

. EERREEEGEIR AREHE

The Group’s dry-pressed RTL technology passed the project identification
of the STMA and was identified to own the first, locally and abroad, dry-
pressed RTL pilot scale production line and full set of equipment with its
own intellectual property rights, filling the gap in the industry. Overall,
such R&D achievements have attained the advanced international level.

SPV hosted a large-scale product launch in Shanghai, inviting numerous
mainstream TV, print and network media bodies. Mr. Feng Shaofeng, the
lead actor of the brand’s advertising microfilm “Stand Point”, attended
the event.

REBZRAREFR B RETRERMNABETE - RABEREAIN

BGRABR I NBEENAEE TR TALERIRERE  AMT
THEZR @ MRARRBEEEDBRELKF

ROt | o SPVE LEETANFRENE  ABTREE  PENEEEETHN

\ - mEMER (%) DRFABEELEEEEMS J

e The Group appointed McKinsey (Shanghai) Consulting Company
Ltd. to provide consulting services on the strategic development
and planning for the coming five years.

o FAEEZFERH (LB) FABRAARMRRAFHREERR

DECEMBER 12 A

\_ At

BB RS
2015 2015
JANUARY 1A APRIL 4 A
2014 2015 2015
MARCH 3 A JUNE 6 3

Xiamen Amber, a subsidiary of the Group, submitted the application for listing on
the National Equities Exchange and Quotations (the New Third Board).

The middle and senior management of the Group participated in the one-year strategic
training programme tailored by the China Europe International Business School.

AEE 2z FAREMRHACERER2EH NEERODERERS =) BMEHE
AR [B v = [ TR FE 22 0 e o IBR B R T R e 2 AR R B E Il R — AR e B )

K The Group’s “High-speed high-efficiency clean and stable production key technology for paper-making RTL" was granted\

“Second Class of the Science and Technology Progress Award 2014" by China National Tobacco Corporation, the highest level
of award among RTL players during the year.

The Group and Shanghai Research Institute of Fragrance & Flavor Industry kicked off the full cooperation in the areas of core
generic technology research and development, public service centre construction as well as training and development of
urgently-needed talents in the industry.

AEEN [EREEEBR SR RBEEEMBRN | KETBREERARNRE [2014FENERMES — S48 - BE
FREFR TR EEKT
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Chairwoman's Statement
FEHRE
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In today’s world, traditional values of man are being subverted with
the rapid development of technology. Various sectors and industries
are subject to a fast and ever-changing environment. Since its
establishment in 1996, Huabao has also undergone development over
two decades of change. Over the past 20 years, we have achieved
success in the flavours and fragrances segment; however, we are
truly aware that we must not be complacent and stop here. Huabao
needs to go farther to become a distinguished and well-respected
social enterprise.

The year of 2015 is the starting year of Huabao's comprehensive
strategic upgrade. In the next two decades, Huabao will have to
experience its second venture. In this “Internet+” era, the best way is
to be proactive, lead the change and upgrade thinking to re-examine
and rationalise the value chain of the enterprise and the entire
business metrics from the internet's perspective. We endeavour to
achieve re-engineering and upgrade through continuous innovation
utilising the industry leading manufacturing model and commercial
model.

Moving forward, Huabao expects to develop itself into a strategic
investment holding group of “Multi-pronged, Focused Growth”
with emphasis on investment returns and in adherence to the
principle of “catering for the needs of consumers in pursuit of high
quality living”. The Group targets at serving the local consumer
related industry in China and makes use of internationally advanced
flavours and fragrances and related technologies. Leverage on a
multi-dimensional platform covering unique materials, open R&D,
innovative channels and business incubators, the Group becomes the
“leader to a better life” in enhancing the ecological environment for
the consumer related industry in various areas.
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Chairwoman's Statement

Huabao will continue in adhering to its core development strategy of
“Multi-pronged, Focused Growth” beginning with “core flavour and
fragrance technology”. By nurturing new businesses with innovation
incubators and expanding into new businesses along the industry
chain (both upstream and downstream), the Group will gradually
strengthen and develop its multi-layered core competencies, namely,
“maintaining close partnership with the PRC tobacco enterprises”,
“mastering control over retail channels” and “developing food
additives channels” with a view to achieving diversified business
portfolio development.

In the future, Huabao will focus on three main lines of business. Each
of which is complementary and synergistic with each other:

On the basis of
the flavours and fragrances core technology, Huabao will, in
the short term, focus on the highly-customised flavours and
fragrances, raw materials and auxiliary materials solutions
for local smokers and medium to large-sized food customers
in China and the channels establishment regarding small to
medium-sized food and catering customers. After mastering

- Expand flavours and fragrances business:

certain control over the domestic channels, it will engage in
“markets for technology”
international enterprises and carry out M&A with small-sized
enterprises to gradually expand its business into the areas of
semi-finished goods, ingredients, high value-added additives
with an aim to bring the PRC food additives industry to a level
exceeding its international peers

cooperation with medium-sized

- Develop differentiated tobacco auxiliary services based on the
design of cigarette’s taste: Expand business into differentiated
raw materials for tobacco (such as RTL and tobacco stem),
auxiliary materials (such as capsules, wired conductors and
“three papers and one rod”) beginning with the design of
cigarette’s taste and commence comprehensive cooperation
with the PRC tobacco enterprises

- Build the innovative incubator segment: Leverage on the core
competency of its existing business segments, it makes use of
different incubator systems as platform and explores diversified
new businesses and new models (such as SPV refresher) to
establish an accelerating growth engine in the future
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Chairwoman's Statement
FEHRE

To ensure successful implementation of the strategies, Huabao will
carry out the four major measures of capacity building and system
optimisation:

- Open R&D system: While strengthening core R&D capabilities,
to establish an open R&D system by way of subcontract
or cooperate with external parties in regards to other R&D
segments (such as fundamental research)

- Marketing channel and technology services: To focus on
strengthening the technology services, big customer services and
channel management to establish a synergistic informationised
platform

- M&A and post investment integration: To enhance, both
domestic and abroad, M&A and post-investment integration
management capabilities

- Innovative project execution capability: To establish internal and
independent business platforms and operation systems that are
suitable for innovative business developments

At the same time, Huabao endeavours to build a number of capital
platforms based on the development needs of different segments and
its subsidiaries and establish an incentive and constraint mechanism
in response to the market by adopting a differentiated management
model.

After the strategic transformation and upgrade, Huabao is destined
to face hardships or even intermittent pain. We must take a
"forward-looking” strategic approach and analyse the economics
from an international and wider perspective, coupled with
professional competencies of utilising more efficient management
tools and in adherence to a combatant spirit to get prepared and
seek change. Huabao will continue to promote the strategy of
"Multi-pronged, Focused Growth” and deliver its success story in
a global perspective by leveraging on its sound financials, superior
team execution competencies and a new business model of
systematic efficiency, with a view to telling the marvellous story of
Huabao’s second venture to the global capital markets and investors!

CHU Lam Yiu
Chairwoman

Hong Kong, 23 June 2015
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Management Discussion and Analysis

INDUSTRY REVIEW
Tobacco industry

In 2014, the sales volume of cigarettes in the PRC amounted to
50.99 million cases, representing an increase of 1.05 million cases or
approximately 2.1% compared with last year. The sales revenue of
the entire industry amounted to approximately RMB1,359.0 billion,
representing an increase of RMB111.6 billion or approximately 8.9%
compared with last year. The total industrial and commercial profit
tax of the cigarette industry for the year also exceeded the threshold
of RMB1,000.0 billion and reached RMB1,051.8 billion, representing
an increase of RMB95.8 billion or 10.0% compared with last year.
This has fully accomplished the annual target of “8-10% of growth
rate and RMB1,000 billion of sales revenue” made in early 2014.

Industry growth

Although the sales volume of cigarettes in the PRC continued to
record growth, it is worth noting that there is pressure of high
inventory in the cigarette industry. In 2014, the monthly inventory
of the cigarette industry was higher compared with that of last
year. In particular, the inventory level has been on the rise every
month since last August. As at the end of 2014, the industrial and
commercial inventory in the cigarette industry was 5.42 million cases,
representing an increase of 0.62 million cases or 12.9% compared
with last year, and was the highest in recent years.

Starting from 2015, although the inventory level is under control to
some extent, the condition is not as optimistic in general. At the end
of the first quarter of 2015, the industrial and commercial inventory
of cigarettes in the PRC was 4.31 million cases, representing a
decrease compared with that at the end of 2014, but remained 0.41
million cases higher than the same period of 2014. In view of such
unfavourable condition, the STMA has formulated a plan to reduce
cigarette production by 2.0 million cases during the first half of
2015.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENRR DN

Based on statistical data, the production output and sales volume of
the tobacco industry for the first quarter of 2015 both decreased.
The production output of cigarettes in the PRC for the first quarter
was 13.33 million cases, representing a decrease of 0.67 million
cases or 4.8% compared with last year; whereas the sales volume of
cigarettes for the first quarter was 14.20 million cases, representing
a decrease of 0.52 million cases or 3.5% compared with last year.
Such extent of decrease in the production output and sales volume
of cigarettes is unprecedented in the industry in the recent decade.
In addition, the sales revenue from cigarettes for the first quarter
grew by only 3.1% compared with last year, far below the growth
in total national retail sales of consumer goods (10.6%). As to
industry profit tax, the accumulated profit tax for the first quarter
of 2015 amounted to RMB368.25 billion, representing an increase
of RMB19.76 billion or only 5.7%, which is lower than the targeted
"7-9% of growth rate” for the entire year. Worse still, to cope with
STMA's inventory clearing plan for the first half of the year, the
production of cigarettes for the second quarter of 2015 needs to be
reduced by more than 1.30 million cases.

Status on tobacco leaves inventory

Apart from the tremendous pressure on cigarette inventory, the
tobacco leaves inventory was also facing a severe situation. According
to the figures released at the National Tobacco Leaves Working
Conference held in November 2014, as of then, the tobacco leaves
inventory level in the PRC was up to 37.2 months or close to 5.0
million tonnes, which was way beyond the optimal level of inventory
for “natural aging” of tobacco leaves (being 24 to 28 months).
The reserve of tobacco leaves locked up funds of approximately
RMB350.0 billion. Accordingly, the STMA has formulated a three-year
adjustment plan with respect to the production of tobacco leaves,
pursuant to which it plans to acquire tobacco leaves of 2.35 million
tonnes by 2014, 2.25 million tonnes by 2015 and 2.15 million
tonnes by 2016 in order to adjust the tobacco leaves inventory to a
reasonable level within three years or so.

The high inventory level of tobacco leaves, to a certain extent, has
discouraged tobacco enterprises to further use innovative tobacco
materials such as RTL to produce low tar cigarette products. At
the same time, traditional low tar cigarette brands, due to its own
insufficient growth potential, also suppressed the overall growth
potential of the low tar cigarette industry. During the first quarter
of 2015, the sales volume of low tar cigarettes (8mg or below per
stick) in the PRC was 2.01 million cases, representing a decrease of
0.10 million cases or 4.9%, and presented a downward momentum.
Among which, the sales volume of low tar cigarettes (6mg or below
per stick) was 0.27 million cases. Despite an increase of 0.02 million
cases compared with last year, the pace of growth slowed down
significantly.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Conditions faced by the industry in the near future

After a long period of fast growth, the cigarette industry in the
PRC has gradually entered a difficult period and faced a tough
environment filled with numerous unfavourable internal and
external factors. Firstly, as the impacts of the comprehensive
smoking control on cigarette consumption in the PRC intensified,
coupled with the successive introduction of state and local related
smoking control policies and the further increase in supervision by
society and public opinion, the smoking control circumstances and
conditions have become more complex. These trends and measures
will impose restrictions on the cigarette consumption environment,
thus restraining the consumption behaviour of cigarettes. Secondly,
tobacco consumption from business, gift and group purchase was
suppressed and the consumption behaviours of some high-end
cigarettes have changed and shifted. Thirdly, the PRC Advertising
Law (Draft Amendments) was passed in April 2015 which stipulates
further constraints on tobacco advertising. This has further reduced
the room for cigarette marketing and communication. Accordingly,
brand promotion and guidance are subject to further restrictions.
Lastly, as a result of the implementation of the new tobacco tax
policy in early May 2015, it is believed that the retail price of
cigarettes will be increased, which will have considerable impacts on
the routine purchase behaviours of smokers.

According to the statistics, at the end of the first quarter of 2015, 23
(9 more than last year) provinces in China posted a decrease in sales
volume compared with last year. In particular, the sales volume in 6
provinces decreased by more than 10%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Countermeasures and future prospects

To cope with these adversities, the STMA will strengthen the austerity
measures on economic operation in five areas. These include 1)
reducing the production progress to effectively clear the inventory
backlog; 2) advancing the inventory reserve and stepping up industry
allocation to maintain profit tax growth; 3) balancing business sale
to reduce commercial’s backlog; 4) promoting the cooperation on
production among tobacco enterprises; and 5) strengthening the
refined management and exercising strict cost control. In addition
to adopting various austerity measures in the domestic market,
the STMA has also proposed a clear line of thought for overseas
market development. Capitalising on the opportunities arising
from the strategic planning of “One Belt One Road” implemented
by the central government, the Chinese tobacco manufacturers
shall adhere to the “going out” growth strategy to catch up with
leading tobacco multinationals, cigarette equipment manufacturers
and major auxiliary materials producers. It endeavours to enhance
the competitiveness of the Chinese tobacco manufacturers in the
global perspective through enhancing the level of entity operation
to improve infrastructure development, enhancing the level of
international capital operation to promoting M&A and restructuring
as well as enhancing the level of imported innovation and integrated
innovation to increase cigarette making competencies.

At the workshop held in early 2015, the STMA promulgated its
targets for the entire year — to continue to increase the tobacco
industry’s total profit tax, sales revenue, unit average price and profit
tax, average revenue of tobacco farmers, average revenue of tobacco
plantation per acre, profit of retail customers and sales volume
of cigarettes in overseas markets and endeavour to achieve total
industry and commercial profit tax of RMB1,125.6 billion for the
entire year of 2015, achieving the target of “7-9% of growth rate”
compared with last year. It is believed that, under a series of austerity
measures of the STMA, the pressure on tobacco leaves inventory and
cigarette inventory can be gradually eased. Meanwhile, as a result of
the implementation of an internationalisation strategy, the Chinese
cigarette manufacturers can pull through the prevailing difficult
period and move towards the next phase of development.

(Source: China Tobacco)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Food and beverage industry

In 2014, production of the food industry in the PRC maintained
steady growth. However, the pace of growth continued to slow
down. According to the figures released by the National Statistics
Bureau, more than 37,000 food enterprises above designated size
grew by approximately 7.8% in 2014 over last year, down by 1.3
percentage points from the year before. Revenue from principal
business of food enterprises above designated size amounted
to approximately RMB10.9 trillion, representing an increase of
approximately 8.0% compared with last year. However, such growth
was down by 5.1 percentage points from last year. Total profit of
food enterprises was approximately RMB760 billion, representing an
increase of merely 1.2%. Such growth decreased drastically by 12.4
percentage points from last year.

In recent years, the global food product industry has undergone
substantial changes and details of such changes mainly relate to the
following areas:

- Globalisation: the slowdown in overseas food enterprises
(CAGR in the next decade is expected to decrease to 3%) have
prompted them to seek growth opportunities in developing
markets such as China, presenting more global cooperation
opportunities to local enterprises in China

- Professionalism: given further upgrade in industry structure,
professional food raw materials enterprises with technological
know-how in the niche market will differentiate themselves
from other competitors

- Localisation and regionalisation: with the increasing level of
localisation and regionalisation of food products and flavours,
more localised food solutions will be needed

- Personalisation and customisation: as a result of the more
personalised demand from downstream consumers, food
and raw materials enterprises will need to introduce more
customised and innovative solutions

- Healthy, safe and natural products: as consumers attach greater
importance to “healthy, safe and natural” products, food
and raw materials enterprises will need to introduce relevant
solutions

Huabao International Holdings Limited EEERIZERERAR

BEEENRR DN

BREBHTERR

“ET-MF BRRMIELCERRRE T FBE
- BERANEELE - BREBRRATBHEHE
N ZZE—F37,0002XERUN ERBTELE
BINER L IERL7.8% @ BEH FEREI3EAT
Do PEBEN IR TECEER T LEKIK
AHARE10.981FIC © RILLIERAS.0% @ Bi%iR
L EFESABEELE MEARIEETRFBERATELN
AR¥7,600870 0 RILLEEELN1.2% @ Ei@k £
FEAEBE12.4EB DL -

MFERNEHRBEMEEZREE - RINERE
BOHPTERBAATHLELTE :

- EWt: BNRMABRIEERNE (FRRARK L
FEHERBRFTETBE3I%) - BUIFRNU
FREARKNERTHSNERZE  LTF
BATEEL2HREIERE

-  BEl: EEEBE-IHE EESTIHEER
HABRMERNBEX(CRMEMEEE S M
A

- At mEl: REmEA - KEXRLE &
HeREE— TR FEESAL(CRRE
RITEE

— A EHME - THREEERBEZ AR
FR - HRARRHEEREE S EHIRIHR

RITEREN

- BE -T2 RANML: HEEEMIRE
22 RAIER FRRALFEHDE
REERES =

2014-2015 Annual Report &}

19



20

Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENRR DN

- Channel re-development and online popularity: in the mobile
and digital era, online channel will become increasingly popular
(market share of online channel was approximately 3% in 2014
and the CAGR may reach 11% in the decade ahead), exerting
pressure on traditional channels and pressure them to increase
efficiency

In the food flavours and fragrances industry, despite the advantages
enjoyed by foreign-invested enterprises, market concentration in
China is not significant with abundant business opportunities for
local flavours and fragrances enterprises. Firstly, there are numerous
medium to large downstream food enterprises featuring a high
level of localisation. Even the existing international flavours and
fragrances giants are unable to dominate the market. Secondly, large
downstream customers often maintain business relationship with
a number of medium to large flavours and fragrances suppliers in
order to minimise risks. Thirdly, many small flavours and fragrances
enterprises will be gradually phased out or merged with large scale
flavours and fragrances enterprises.

For niche market analysis, it is expected that savoury flavours, sports
drink flavours and juice flavours will become the niche flavours and
fragrances products with the greatest potential for some time in the
future. At the same time, local flavours brands have considerable
comparative advantages in these niche markets with further potential
for continuous expansion in the future.

RTL and new cigarette materials industry

It is understood that currently there are a total of 14 production
bases of RTL approved by the STMA in China with a total annual
production capacity of 165,000 tonnes. With the implementation,
completion of construction and commencement of production of
RTL projects, the Chinese cigarette manufacturers have successively
applied RTL in the cigarette formula and increase its proportion. As
a result, the production output and usage of RTL in China increase
each year. However, it is also faced with intensifying industry
competition. The wide application of RTL has also resulted in the
fundamental change in the concept of usage among its customers,
who are increasingly demanding on customised and functional RTL
products. RTL has developed gradually from a simple tobacco leave
filling in the past into today’s important and integral part of Chinese
cigarettes. It is understood that, currently, almost all cigarette brands
in the PRC use RTL although varying in product specifications and
proportions. However, its usage remains far below international
levels.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Over the past year, RTL production lines in Yunnan, Jiangsu and
Anhui that have previously obtained approvals from the STMA have
completed construction and commenced production. Currently,
among all approved production capacities, only one production line
in Guizhou has not yet completed construction (for which the Group
is a joint venture partner). These production bases that are newly put
into operation have brought great impacts to the market. Moreover,
the increase in proportion of RTL as a substitute for natural tobacco
leaves in cigarettes will have a direct impact on the usage amount
of natural tobacco leaves. Given the current high backlog of natural
tobacco leaves, tobacco enterprises are likely to be discouraged to
add RTL in cigarette production. In recent years, all RTL enterprises
have stepped up their efforts in technological advancement to
enhance their technology and quality, reduce costs, increase safety
and solve environmental problems. Over the past year, with the
speedy release of production capacity, the shortage in supply is
greatly relieved. It is expected that more intensifying competition and
pricing pressure will follow.

From another perspective, given the unique cost advantage and low
tar content of RTL products, the usage amount of RTL by mainstream
cigarette brands worldwide has exceeded 20% in general. In some
developed countries or regions, such addition percentage may
even reach 30-35%. Based on the estimates on the current total
production output in the RTL industry in China, the adoption rate
by cigarettes in China is only around 5-8%, which is significantly
below the international benchmark and has tremendous potential for
increase. In addition, the product structure of the cigarette industry in
China is undergoing rapid enhancement with increasing proportions
of medium to high-end products. In 2014, the sales volume of Class
| cigarettes was approximately 10.25 million cases, representing an
increase of approximately 16.8% compared with last year; whereas
the sales volume of Class Il cigarettes was approximately 5.29 million
cases, representing an increase of approximately 19.0% compared
with last year; and the average unit sales revenue in the cigarette
industry amounted to RMB26,700 per case, representing an increase
of approximately 6.7% compared with last year. The improvement
in product structure of the cigarette industry will lead to higher
requirements on new product launches, and ultimately lead to a
higher demand for the usage of new cigarette materials.

As to the innovative inflated stems, as increasingly more tobacco
enterprises are interested in such technique and gradually increase
their investment and research resources, and the STMA has included
inflated tobacco stem technique as a key technological project, it is
expected that such technique may be widely applied after product
commercialisation. With respect to filters and related products,
currently the products are mainly filters that are personalised,
functional and designed for slim cigarettes. It is believed that, with
the enhancement in the specifications of cigarette products among
tobacco enterprises, demand for unique filter products is expected to
increase.

(Source: China Tobacco)
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Innovative tobacco products (e-cigarette)

Innovative tobacco products include e-cigarettes and low-temperature
cigarettes. Below are some characteristics of the industry at current
stage: it started off relatively late, low base in terms of sales
volume, faster growth, numerous manufacturers, low concentration
and immature regulatory environment. Currently, major tobacco
companies worldwide have increased their R&D efforts to introduce
innovative products and vigorously explore potential markets.

According to the statistics, the global e-cigarette market was valued
at USD6.28 billion in 2014. It is expected that by 2019, the global
e-cigarette market size may be increased to USD18.52 billion with
a CAGR of up to 31.0%. Geographically speaking, in 2014, North
America accounted for approximately 33.3% of the overall market;
western Europe accounted for approximately 27.9%; eastern and
central Europe accounted for approximately 26.6%; and Asia Pacific
accounted for approximately 8.1%. It is expected that, by 2019,
North America and Asia Pacific's market share will increase up to
approximately 46.5% and 14.0% respectively.

MEEERM (EFELE)
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Global E-cigarette Market by Geographical Segmentation 2014-2019
EREFEMIHRBED #H2014-2019

Western Europe
=
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2014

\

North America
ibx
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R T M
2.2%

33.3%

With respect to the domestic market, as far as the management is
aware, there is currently no other large-scale promotion of brands
and products apart from the Group’s SPV brand. However, some
references indicate that domestic consumers are showing greater
interests over the industry. For example, in 2014, the number of
searches for the e-cigarette category on taobao.com and tmall.com
was 73.28 million times, representing an increase of approximately
82% compared with last year; number of visitors was 55.37 million,
representing an increase of approximately 74% compared with last
year; number of bookmarked visitors was 4.65 million, representing
an increase of approximately 236% compared with last year.

At present, the Pearl River Delta region in China remains the primary
e-cigarette production base. However, with increasing awareness of
the public on the quality and safety issues of e-cigarette products,
especially the implementation of more stringent regulations by the
United States of America on e-cigarettes in the future, there are
higher requirements on product quality and safety. Accordingly, some
e-cigarette manufacturers begin to relocate their production bases
to the United States of America to ensure that their products meet
the conditions for market launch. Given the level of automation
and higher management standards, it is expected that the cost of
production will be reduced.

As the major component of e-cigarette products is tobacco oil, the
flourishing market has also attracted various players to invest in
the production of e-cigarette tobacco oil, including tobacco leaves
multinationals and flavours and fragrances companies. However, there
are increasingly more concerns over the ingredients, functions and
safety of e-cigarette tobacco oil. It is expected that relevant regulations
on the production of e-cigarette tobacco oil may be promulgated by
the United States Food and Drug Administration in the future, such
as labelling the ingredients of e-cigarette tobacco oil and stipulating
the production within the United States of America, which may have
considerable impacts on the manufacturers and post key challenges to
the e-cigarette tobacco oil manufacturers in the future.
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As to product trends, consumers are increasingly interested in larger
e-cigarette products. Usually these products are larger in size so as
to increase energy output, thus allowing consumers to have a more
personalised vapour experience. As the large e-cigarette products
are more popular among the primary consumers, its competition
with disposable e-cigarettes is very keen. However, for beginner
consumers, as the large e-cigarette is more expensive with greater
vapour production, the disposable e-cigarette products that come
smaller in size, less vapour production and cheaper in price may be
more attractive to such consumers. According to the forecasts made
by the research institute, there are currently 5,000-6,000 e-cigarette
stores within the United States of America and such number is
growing in first tier and second tier cities. Among these e-cigarette
stores, many of them do not have those nationally reputable
disposable e-cigarette products for sale, but the regional brand large
e-cigarette products that are highly personalised.

On the other hand, the shift in the industry trends has resulted in the
launch of a variety of e-cigarette flavours to the market, including
peppermint, cola, chocolate, cool mint, melon, bubble gum, grape
and assorted fruits. E-cigarette manufacturers also endeavour to roll
out more flavours to attract more consumers. Based on preliminary
statistics, there are more than 3,000 flavours for existing e-cigarette
products in the market at a growth rate of more than 300 new
flavours each month. This has proved that e-cigarette products
are highly attractive to consumers and can cater for the highly
personalised needs of consumers at the same time. It is expected
that such trend will continue in the coming five years and the size of
e-cigarette industry will continue to grow.

(Source: Tech Navio “2015-2019 Global E-cigarette Market”)

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENT
STRATEGIES

Review of Flavours Business

For the year ended 31 March 2015, sales revenue of the flavours
business of the Group amounted to HKD3,209,099,000, representing
an increase of approximately 4.8% from the last financial year. The
EBIT margin of the flavours segment was approximately 59.1%,
representing a decrease of approximately 5.6 percentage points as
compared with approximately 64.7% for the last financial year. The
EBITDA margin was approximately 61.8%, representing a decrease of
approximately 5.6 percentage points as compared with approximately
67.4% for the last financial year. Sales revenue of flavours
maintained a sound growth rate, which was mainly attributable to
the accelerated growth of food and beverage flavours. The decrease
in profit margins was mainly attributable to the larger share of food
and beverage flavours accounted for, which is relatively lower in
profit margins, and the increase in sales and administration expenses.
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During the financial year, the tobacco flavours business of the
Group made a number of achievements. In April 2014, Guangzhou
Huafang's “molecular distilled natural flavours” was accredited as
a "Guangdong province high-tech product” by the Guangdong
Provincial Department of Science and Technology. In August 2014,
Yunnan Tianhong was granted the title of “2014 Yunnan Top 100
Domestic Enterprises” jointly by the Yunnan Provincial Enterprise
Federation and Yunnan Provincial Entrepreneur Association. In
October 2014, Huabao Shanghai passed the audit of China Quality
Certification Centre’s “Occupation Health and Safety Management
System OHSAS 18001:2011". It was the first time Huabao Shanghai
applied for such certification and passed smoothly. In November
2014, Wuxi Huahai’s “functional premium natural flavours and
fragrances” was awarded the “High-tech product certification”
by the Jiangsu Provincial Department of Science and Technology.
In December 2014, Yunnan Tianhong was accredited an “A-Class
Flavours and Fragrances Supplier” by China Tobacco Yunnan.

FHMARHARED;

BWE, SERNA SFALEEHLE
8 FRODERUEACFEENERE
Fi.

EATE,; RREE (0] M.
LE & P8 N

“Guangdong Province high-tech
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In respect of the tobacco industry, the following trends are emerging:

In terms of the composition of smokers in China, the aging
of loyal smokers will put downward pressure on the total
market size. Meanwhile, smokers’ awareness on health and tar
reduction requirements are increasing (annual average growth
of the number of smokers decreased slightly from 1.1% from
2008-2010 to 0.5% from 2012-2014);

In terms of customer demand from tobacco enterprises, various
brands will have higher requirements on further enhancing the
quality of taste. In addition, the tobacco industry in China has
also set a clearer direction on the “going out”
development;

international

In terms of product competition, given the industry strategic
brand
concentration continues to increase alongside with increasing
market share of high-end cigarettes. Despite the limited market
size of the innovative tobacco products, its considerable growth
is worth noting.

guidance of “big enterprise, big market, big brand”,

As to the Group, tobacco related business is a high-yield and stable

business and the main source of profit. Accordingly, with respect to
the abovementioned possible industry trends in the future, the Group
will focus on the demand from key customers and transform itself
from a product supplier to a multi-solution provider with emphasis
on technological upgrade and innovative product development by
taking a service strategy with four layers of differentiation:

26

Flavours and fragrances raw materials supply: Focus on the
development and production of high value-added and unique
flavours and fragrances raw materials to structure an unique
flavours and fragrances raw materials system for the Group;

Flavours and fragrances solutions: Continue to provide services
to all customers of the PRC tobacco customers by leveraging
on its high-quality and differentiated flavours and fragrances
products and technological know-how;

Unique auxiliary materials based on the design of Cigarette
Overall Taste: Develop differentiated and unique auxiliary
materials solutions beginning with unique RTLs and tobacco
stems based on the integrated design capability of Cigarette
Overall Taste with flavours advantages;
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-  Comprehensive partnership: Enter into close cooperation — Z2FMAERYS : EFEEBERYERERE
with the PRC tobacco enterprises to capture the growth £ IBBEPRESEBREHNEREE  E—F
opportunities in the internationalisation of the tobacco MREBHEFE 2 HMNEERLEIE -

industry in China and to further strengthen the comprehensive
partnership with key customers.

To ensure the successful implementation of the above strategic AR[E LB BIZNRNEWR  AEEEEED
objectives, the Group will focus on enhancing its four major IEEMEARES :

capabilities:

- Key flavours and fragrances raw materials extraction/synthesis, — FARBREHNER AK  BILEENET
mass production and stable procurement capability; g

-~ Flavours and fragrances solutions development and technology — EiEEHRF A REAZETMREEN > £
service capability, including: 1) fundamental development o) AERMEEARFE  2) EARMR
of flavouring technique; 2) application technology and TEEET) 5 3) KithRisaE S

workmanship; 3) technology service capability;

- Building a technology service team mastering the design of — N AEHAZIBEERE R T AR IRAS @ B -
Cigarette Overall Taste;

- Forward looking insights on demand from comprehensive — Z2ERENNEEEIOIRES  LELRFE
service oriented customers, especially building an effective BUHEHERMRESEF R ELEEES ZE
communication and cooperation mechanism between the sales BREBBIGBIERS

and technology service team and the R&D and production base.
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In terms of food and beverage business, faced with such complex
operating environment, the Group further optimised its customer
mix by adhering to the growth strategy of “Big Customers, Big

Brands” and performed satisfactorily in business. During the
financial year, Huabao Kongque successfully secured large customers
including Mondeléz and Pepsi. With respect to the promotion of
natural flavours and fragrances products, the samples developed for
Wahaha by the Group were well received by the customers and thus
facilitating the negotiation on subsequent cooperation. Guangzhou
Huabao’s confectionary snacks and meat products business fulfilled
the business target as expected and the sales from customers
including Jinluo and Panpan grew significantly. Guangdong
Zhaoqing's small canned ethyl maltol products continued to dominate
the market. During the financial year, by adopting the new technique
of UV laser mark, the label is embedded in the body of the can,
which can effectively eliminate the counterfeit products available
Qingdao Qingda’s
major export product is red pepper extracts, which are exported
to the European countries, particularly Germany, as the major
export markets in order to secure quality customers who are fairly
well-known in the industry and have higher demand for products.
Guangdong Zhaoging’'s export sales to the Southeast Asia market
recorded a double digit growth compared with last year. Looking

in the market. In terms of export business,

forward, it will endeavour to expand into the markets in Europe, the
United States of America, the Middle East, Africa and South America
by actively working with the International Business Department of
the Group.

During the financial year, the food and beverage business of the
Group made a number of achievements. In September 2014, Huabao
Kongque was awarded the “2014 China Flavours, Fragrances and
Cosmetics Products Exhibition — Excellence Award”. In October 2014,
it was named the “National Iced Beverage Raw Materials Quality
Supplier” by the Frozen Food Professional Committee of the China
Association of Bakery & Confectionary Industry. In November 2014,
it was granted “The Third Annual National Nuts and Roasted Seeds
Science and Technology Progress Awards — Second Class Award”
by the Nuts and Roasted Seeds Professional Committee of China
National Food Industry Association. In April 2014, Guangdong
Zhaoging was granted “Guangdong Province Famous Trademark
Certificate” by the Evaluation Committee of Guangdong Famous
Trademark. In September 2014, it was granted the “Certificate for
Level Il Measurement Assurance System of Guangdong Enterprises”
by the Administration of Quality and Technology Supervision of
Zhaoqing.
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In addition, the Group attaches great importance to the issue
of food safety by adhering to strict quality control. In July 2014,
Guangdong Zhaoging's “Xinghu” ethyl maltol was confirmed by the
Administration of Quality and Technology Supervision of Guangdong
Province after inspection to be in line with international product
recognition and trademark standards and was again awarded the
“Adopting International Standard Product Marking Certificate”,
representing the product quality of “Xinghu” ethyl maltol has
fulfilled such internationally recognised standard. In September 2014,
Huabao Kongque passed the audit of Intertek’s “FSSC 22000 Food
Safety Management System Certification”, representing Huabao
Kongque has fulfilled such internationally recognised standard. It is
also evidence of its establishment of a comprehensive management
system and full compliance with the requirements of customers and
the industry regulations regarding food safety.
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“2014 China Flavours, Fragrances and Cosmetic Product Exhibition —

Excellence Award” certificate
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In terms of the food and beverage flavours industry, its downstream
customers are consumer goods manufacturers such as food and
beverage with tremendous market potentials and rigid demand in
general. At the same time, with the increasing purchasing power
of the Mainlanders, the market demand for high-quality and
personalised products are increasingly high. This has resulted in
higher requirements on the food and beverage flavours industry,
presenting good growth opportunities to the industry players.
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In terms of the food and beverage flavours market, despite the
comparative advantages enjoyed by foreign-invested enterprises,
market concentration is low, which provides tremendous
opportunities for local flavours enterprises. Currently, there are
numerous medium to large enterprises in the downstream food and
beverage market with a higher level of localisation. Even the existing
international flavours giants are unable to dominate the market. In
addition, large flavours enterprises usually focus on tens of large
customers. Numerous medium to large flavours enterprises are faced
with tremendous opportunities with dispersed small to medium
customers in the downstream market. At the same time, due to the
shorter product life cycle, higher requirements on quality, rising price
of raw materials and high R&D investments, these trends will erode
the expansion ability of the smaller flavours enterprises, accelerating
the pace of industry integration where many small enterprises will
be gradually phased out or merged with larger enterprises. By
capitalising on its own technological strengths in the flavours and
fragrances industry, coupled with local enterprises’ flexible and
speedy response in the area of customer service, the Group will
quickly expand its scale and influence in the domestic market.

In terms of specific product mix, there are more attractive and low
entry barrier niche markets under the food and beverage flavours
segment, including sports drink flavours, savoury flavours, juice
flavours and baking flavours and dairy beverage flavours. These are
the areas that the Group may expand into as its next key products
and markets. In these niche markets, local enterprises in the
downstream market far outnumber the foreign-invested enterprises.
It is expected that the number of local suppliers will continue to
grow in the future. Obviously, to the local enterprises, it is more
feasible for them to enter these niche markets.

Based on the foregoing market analysis, the Group’'s food and
beverage flavours business will focus on the local food and beverage
sector and the highly attractive niche markets (such as seasonings,
beverage and baked food). With respect to local medium to
large-sized food and beverage enterprises, the Group will provide
customised solutions through differentiated channel development:

- Strengthen customer direct sales channel to provide highly
customised additive raw materials solutions including
high-quality flavours to local large-sized food and beverage
enterprises;

- Provide integrated application formula semi-finished product
technology solutions covering flavours, additives and
ingredients to local medium-sized food and beverage enterprise
through enhancing the capability and efficiency of distributors
and upgrading the Group’s own technology service capability;

- Capitalise on the extensive distribution network and online
channels to provide unique products to other dispersed caterers
and small-sized enterprises.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group will utilise M&A as an inception point to build its superior
channel capability, system R&D platform, raw materials procurement
and technician recruitment capability to ensure the implementation
of the strategies of the food and beverage flavours business.
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Review of RTL Business

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the sales revenue of the RTL
business of the Group reached HKD945,574,000, representing
a decrease of approximately 11.6% from the last financial year.
Operating profit of the segment was approximately HKD417,891,000,
representing a decrease of approximately 1.1% as compared with
the last financial year. EBIT margin reached approximately 44.2%,
representing a further increase of 4.7 percentage points as compared
with approximately 39.5% of the last financial year. The decrease
in sales revenue of the RTL segment was mainly due to the fierce
industry competition as a result of numerous new entrants over
the past year and the decrease in usage of RTL due to the backlog
of tobacco leaves among tobacco enterprises. However, since the
quality of the Group’s RTL products remains industry leading, coupled
with effective cost control, the profitability continued to maintain at
a relatively high level. Looking into the future, with the easing of the
tension between industry supply and demand, and the tremendous
pressure on the development of RTL business due to the backlog of
tobacco leaves and cigarettes, the management remained cautious
on this business segment. In the long-term, there remains growth
potential in the RTL industry. It is believed that, upon digestion of the
backlog of tobacco leaves by the domestic tobacco enterprises and
the subsequent launches of higher-end and specification cigarettes,
the RTL industry will see continuous growth.
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In September 2014, Guangdong Jinye was awarded the title of
“Large-scale Industrial Backbone Development Enterprise” by the
Shantou Municipal Government. Guangdong lJinye as the No.001
"Key Support and Protected Enterprise” in Chaoyang District was
the only selected enterprise in Chaoyang District. The award not
only demonstrated Guangdong lJinye’s corporate spirit of solid
work and “To Be No.1”, it also reflected the local government'’s
recognition of Guangdong lJinye's production and operation. In
December 2014, Guangdong lJinye successfully passed a total of 65
requirements under five major categories including general operation
qualifications, production and operational management, innovative
technology competence and quality control system on tobacco raw
materials stipulated by China Tobacco Guangdong Industrial Co.,
Ltd. and was granted the “Tobacco Materials Supplier Certification”,
laying a solid foundation for further cooperation in the future. In
January 2015, the “High-speed high-efficiency clean and stable
production key technology of paper-making RTL” was granted
“Second Class of the Science and Technology Progress Award
2014" by China National Tobacco Corporation, the highest level
of award among RTL players during the year. During the financial
year, Guangdong lJinye participated in a number of researches on
RTL technology and engaged in the works of product quality, such
as the “R&D of the special pulp workmanship for paper-making
RTL production”, “Regulation on paper-making RTL workmanship”,
“Research on the approval and safety assessment of the materials
used in RTL production”, etc.
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Review of New Materials Business

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group’'s sales revenue
from new materials was HKD86,769,000, while sales revenue was
HKD21,003,000 for the last financial year. Operating profit from
the segment was HKD15,311,000, while for last financial year was
operating loss of approximately HKD14,360,000. The EBIT margin of
the new materials segment for the financial year was approximately
17.6%.

In recent years, in response to the STMA's overall planning of
"Optimisation of Cigarettes” to promote tar reduction and quality
stability of cigarettes, the Group began the development of the
new materials segment some years ago and set up technological
platforms for cigarette smoke transmission, innovative tobacco stem
treatment and specialised RTL in an effort to provide customers
with all-round and diversified solutions. During the financial year,
the related products derived from the cigarette smoke transmission
technological platform performed well and met the initial target set
by the management. Currently, the new materials segment is mainly
engaged in the sales of flavoured capsules and related products,
which are mainly applied in the middle to high-end cigarette
products of a few major customers. Next, the Group will continue to
increase its efforts in the R&D of innovative capsule technology with
an aim to enhance its product competitiveness.

During the reporting period, the Group’s dry-pressed RTL technology
passed the project identification of the STMA and was recognised
as the first, both locally and abroad, dry-pressed RTL pilot scale
production line and a full set of equipment with its own intellectual
property rights, filling the gap in the industry. Overall, such R&D
achievements have attained the advanced international level. The
Group also made some breakthroughs in the innovative tobacco stem
treatment technological platform and its related products. Currently,
the R&D team is developing a microwave and steam treatment
technique which allows efficient expansion of tobacco stems and
effective microwave chemical reaction to reduce the content of
semi cellulose and speed up the reduction of polysaccharides into
fragrance components. This can increase the ductility of tobacco
stem and further strengthen the industrial applicability of expanded
tobacco stems. Innovative tobacco stems are divided into different
shapes including sheets, cuts or granules by multidimensional cutting
technology according to customers’ uses and requirements. The cuts
are mainly made into formula cuts after blending with tobacco leaves
for application in tobacco rods. The granules are mainly made into
combined filters after combining with acetate fibres for application
in tobacco filters. The major features of the products are reduced
tobacco stem miscellaneous gas, enhanced cigarette flavour and
fragrance as well as reduced tar content.

Huabao International Holdings Limited EEERIZERERAR

BEEENRR DN

Rl R B B
BE-_Z—AF=A=T—HLEE AE£EHM
P E W AER T A #86,769,0005T ¢ i L — @B
BRFEEREBHEEWRAREK21,003,0007T © Rk
EERFEXE15,311,0007T 0 T — B BE
R AL EEENBE14,360,0007T : AP HEFEE
R M EHR SR RIEBITREZEL)17.6% °

MFER - ROERERREL [BE KT EER
2 mUOBERERE BEIRESER AKE
RETFRERBREFBNEIREBNEE - R E
FRLTHEZREE  HRBHNEE  FEEE
BRERMYE  IR/EFPEHENMA - ZHI(L
BRI E - AMBFER @ BEERFERMF
BHHEBERXARBTAEMNKE  TRTEE
EBNFHNBER - BATFMERIBEF T 2R A RN
AIREBENEWER  TERANZEIERP
MR REBEERET - T—FAKREREENK
WA RERMARCHARE  RSEROHEFE
5

RBEHA > REBZEDREESH ZMEETH
BRHBERETE  WRAESEAIERAFEA A
HERNEDEEEFAPALEERRKNERE &
MTTEZER PAERREREIBRRLKFE -
AEBEENEFBAEEZMF e RERBER LT
BT —EMRE - T EBEKE AT EAER(E— RS
WORANZ T R R IR X0 - 2R B IR S MR
HRE - EHAEBMNBREERRIE  BEFEHES
B REERRESELBTRKS  KMERZ
BRREME  E—TEBWREFNT AR -
REBFEPHABRMENR  HABRBEBIED Y
AR R -~ IR BERIRE TR RN E R ©
HMRERTEMERGBIRAKE T EH  £=Z
R ER  BAREREEMBEEEARTKES
B ERBHER - EmABRRERMER - (2
EBEERME  MEERSNERINGE

2014-2015 Annual Report &}

33



34

Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENRR DN

Review of Fragrances Business

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the sales revenue of the
fragrances business of the Group amounted to HKD85,044,000,
representing an increase of approximately 0.4% from the last
financial year. Operating profit of the segment amounted to
approximately HKD10,654,000, representing a significant increase
of approximately 37.3% from the last financial year. EBIT margin
reached approximately 12.5%, representing an increase of
approximately 3.3 percentage points as compared with 9.2% for the
last financial year.

The year 2014 was a year of structural adjustment for the fragrances
industry in China. As foreign-invested fragrances giants saw a
slowdown of varying degrees, its own structure and future growth
strategies underwent some changes. The emerging Chinese local
brands have driven the development of local enterprises. The
industry is taking on a new look under the rule of survival of the
fittest. Xiamen Amber has set its market foothold in the washing
business a few years ago and performed remarkably in the past few
years. During the financial year, the washing business, particularly
the detergent products, again performed nicely and for the first time
replaced the sanitising business and accounted for the largest portion
of sales.

In April 2015, the Group proposed to list the shares of Xiamen Amber
on the National Equities Exchange and Quotations (the “NEEQ")
and filed the application with the relevant departments (pending for
approval). Immediately following the proposed quotation, the Group
will continue to hold 51% equity interests in Xiamen Amber, which
will continue to be an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Group where the business of which will continue to be separately
operated by Xiamen Amber and the financial results which will
continue to be consolidated into the financial statements of the
Group.

The NEEQ is commonly known as the New Third Board, and is a
unified national system that typically provides a trading platform
for off market transfer of non-listed public shares by subscribing
members of the NEEQ. It was established on 20 September 2012.
The Group is of the view that, the proposed quotation will enable
the Group to capitalise the value of its existing investment in
Xiamen Amber; provide separate fund-raising platforms for Xiamen
Amber with respect to its operation and future expansion; provide
a mechanism to attract and motivate the management of Xiamen
Amber in line with the operating and financial performance of
Xiamen Amber on a standalone basis; and provide more transparency
in the future business performance by Xiamen Amber.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Next, Xiamen Amber will improve and enhance a number of areas
including internal structure, sales system and management model.
Such adjustment process is expected to take two years during which
it will step up its efforts to expand customer base, identify target
major customers in each region and rationalise small customer base.
As to products, Xiamen Amber will continue to focus on the high
volume usage washing products including detergent, shower gel
and soap. Looking ahead, it will further expand into aroma, incense
and fragrance business that applies natural raw materials. As to
R&D, it will target at the areas of fragrance raw materials, extraction
and synthesis as well as increase the investment in equipment and
manpower.

Latest Development of E-cigarette

The Group’s non-nicotine e-cigarette brand, SPV, was a sponsor of
the STORM Electronic Music Festival, one of the largest electronic
music festivals in China, held in Shanghai in October 2014. In
addition, a SPV flagship store was established on tmall.com and
introduced the first generation disposable product V-series with
four different flavours including fruit mint and roasted coffee. After
months of continuous hard work, the Group was well-prepared in all
other aspects and had a full-scale launch of SPV's second generation
products in June 2015.

Product development

As to SPV brand products, in addition to the first generation
disposable series launched on pilot scale, the second generation
products also had its full launch in June 2015 with significant
upgrade in the areas of design, functions, flavours, usage experience,
workmanship and quality. The “luminous charger series” has now
been rolled out. It is expected that other series, namely the “car
"gift series”, "duty free special series”
and “celebrity customised series”, will be launched successively. It
is believed that the diversification of product lines may seize the
potential target consumers more accurately in order to provide them
with an unparalleled experience.

series”, "offline sales series”,

In addition, SPV will also be involved in the e-cigarette tobacco
oil products. Currently, a small portion of the products are sold
overseas. The Group plans to establish or acquire overseas tobacco
oil production base for e-cigarette production in the future and is in
active negotiation with tobacco or e-cigarette manufacturers locally
and abroad to build a stable and long-term working relationship and
become a fairly recognised and influential e-cigarette tobacco oil
supplier which will participate in or guide the formulation of global
and domestic industry standards.
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Teambuilding

Since e-cigarette is a consumer good, individual consumers are in
turn its direct users. Accordingly, brand building and marketing are
crucial to the success of a product. This greatly differs from the
Group's B2B business model in the past. The Group is fully aware
of the difference between them and has therefore built a special
team for SPV products. Apart from technicians and R&D talents, the
team comprises industry elites from consumer goods, electronics,
advertising and marketing. As the business expands rapidly in the
future, the size of the team will further expand.

Brand building/marketing

The new product launch of SPV brand was held in Shanghai in June
2015, marking the milestone of SPV brand’s official and formal
entrance to the market. Mr. Feng Shaofeng who starred the microfilm
“Stand Point” was invited to attend the event where famous Chinese
talk show host Mr. Huang Xi was the emcee of the night and more
than 100 guests from the fashion industry, media and the investment
community attended the event.

The microfilm “Stand Point” has five episodes where the first
episode will be aired online at the end of June 2015. The rest of the
four episodes will be aired at the end of each month from July to
October on mainstream video sites including youku.com, tudou.com,
sohu.com and gqg.com.

SPV brand is also the title sponsor of a news related TV programme
which has perpetually named “SPV News”. The programme, which
is expected to be released soon, will be covering over the topics of
people, hot topics and related matters.

At the same time, given the significant promotion effects of
sponsoring the STORM Electronic Music Festival in 2014, SPV expects
to sponsor the 2015 STORM Electronic Music Festival and increase
the sponsorship package such as title sponsorship, customised press
conference for SPV brand, production of customised music track
by popular artists, increased exposure of SPV brand products and
interstitial advertisements.

In addition, SPV brand will also capitalise on online and offline
influential mainstream platforms in China to conduct social media
promotion in various means throughout the year, inviting celebrities
to participate in interactive discussions and events. Meanwhile,
SPV brand will also actively participate in various sales promotion
and marketing activities such as Singles Day and Chinese New Year
holidays. Through the above and future marketing efforts, it is
expected that SPV brand and its products will become the focus of
consumers’ concerns persistently.
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With respect to the overseas market, SPV was a lead sponsor of
“Vapexpo 2015 Moscow” recently held in Moscow in June 2015.
During the exhibition, in addition to major manufacturers of
e-cigarettes, tobacco oil and parts and components, special guests
from various sectors including tobacco industry leaders, international
health experts, administrative and legislative officials, standardised
and product quality critics and marketing professionals were also
invited to exchange views on the e-cigarette industry in the areas
of laws and regulations, future development, standardisation and

quality rating and development of distribution model.

Sales channel development

SPV brand’s flagship store was established on tmall.com in October
2014, reflecting its satisfactory performance. Recently, SPV plans to
open flagship stores on all mainstream online platforms in China to
achieve extensive online coverage.

As to offline physical channel development, SPV brand initially
plans to market its products in places of entertainment where the
consumer age group is more energetic and easier to explore trendy
products, including bars and night clubs. At the same time, the
Group endeavours to seek cooperation with chained convenience
stores to extend its coverage horizontally and vertically. Moreover,
the Group also plans to set up SPV brand’s franchise stores as part of
offline channel development.

With respect to the overseas offline channels, SPV and a distributor
in the United States of America have entered into cooperation to
commence preliminary sales of the second generation products
in Virginia of the United States. Meanwhile, SPV also engaged in
negotiation with distributors in Spain, Russia, Croatia, Sweden and
Korea with a view to kicking off sales of products in these markets as
soon as possible.

With efforts deployed to various areas above including products,
brand building, marketing and channel development, the Group
strives to become a leading e-cigarette brand and tobacco oil supplier
locally and abroad in a few years’ time, and such business to become
a growth driver for the Group’s future development.
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Review of R&D

The Group pays foremost attention to constantly enhancing
the capacity of R&D. During the financial year, the Group’s R&D
cost amounted to HKD256,205,000, representing an increase of
HKD12,688,000 as compared with the last financial year. R&D cost
represented approximately 5.9% of sales revenue, such ratio slightly
increased as compared with approximately 5.7% of the last financial
year. After continuous investment, the Group has set up a R&D
team which is in a leading position in China and is of international
standards. The State-recognised technology center in Shanghai, the
overseas R&D centers in Germany and the U.S. and the professional
R&D departments in Yunnan, Guangdong and Fujian, etc., together
form a vertically integrated platform for R&D in areas ranging from
fundamental research to product applications. The R&D strategy of
the Group is market-driven and focuses on technology innovation, so
as to closely follow the latest global industry trends and to accelerate
the mastering of technologies in key raw materials. With such
strengths, the Group is able to develop products and technologies
that meet market demands, to gradually form a R&D team with
a global perspective and deliver a system integration platform
of technology, and thereby comprehensively elevate its overall
competitiveness in relation to research and development.
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During the financial year, the Group and its major customers further
stepped up their cooperation and continued to carry out key R&D
projects. In May 2014, the grand opening ceremony of the “China
Tobacco Yunnan - Huabao International Tobacco Innovation and
Technology Joint Laboratory” took place at Guangdong Jinye. The
establishment of such laboratory is conducive to generating synergies
between the parties in the areas of R&D of tobacco innovation
technology, product enhancement and technology innovation. Later
in August 2014, the grand opening ceremony of the “China Tobacco
Yunnan New Materials R&D and Innovation Platform” took place
at Huabao Korea. The establishment of such innovation platform
marks the official overseas technology cooperation between China
Tobacco Yunnan and the Group. Leveraging on Huabao Korea, both
parties will strengthen cooperation in the area of new materials
R&D and step up innovation efforts to further strengthen their
respective global competitiveness, so as to facilitate their synergistic

development.
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At the same time, the Group is also actively engaged in the research
on fragrances along with research institutes and has established
a strategic cooperation relationship with them,
strategic partnership with Shanghai Jiao Tong University to study the
standardised construction and development of aromatic plants. In

including the

terms of specific achievements, the Group has developed a modern
separation technology to prepare for natural fragrances from natural
aromatic plants where important fragrances components can be
entirely extracted from natural plants. The fragrances quality of these
fragrances products made with such technology is greatly enhanced,
leading to a higher selling price. Currently, its finished products
have been featured in the Group’s major customers’ products.
Moreover, the Group also utilises a synthetic technology to prepare
for important fragrances components, which are key to the tobacco
industry. Currently, the Group has two products that are under pilot
scale production.

Furthermore, during the reporting period, the R&D team filed for a
total of 16 new patent application in regards to invention and utility
innovation, where 19 invention patents that were previously applied
granted, and 8 utility innovation patents that were previously applied
granted.

Some of the major patents granted include:

- The production method of a new roasted fragrance and its
products and applications

- A tobacco biological fragrances and its production method and
applications

- The production of a Maillard reaction tobacco fragrance

- A method to reduce carbon monoxide emission of mainstream
smoke from cigarettes

- A paper-making RTL pulp grinding workmanship

- The production method of raw materials of dry-pressed RTL

- The base paper shaping device for dry-pressed paper-making
RTL production

- The drying device for dry-pressed paper-making RTL production

- An air filter affixed with increased resistance solid sheet

- The production method of the controllable release and humidity
resistant gelatine compound tobacco capsules and it products
and applications
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Internationalized R&D team

Tobacco flavours technicians

Food flavours technicians

Fragrances technicians

Biochemical technicians

Fragrances developing technicians

Innovative tobacco developing technicians

Analysis, inspection and quality control technicians

New cigarette materials, new workmanship and other R&D technicians
Total

Among all, 19 are foreign experts, and 42 are senior experts with
over 20 years of experience

Human Resources and Corporate Culture
construction

As at 31 March 2015, the Group employed a total of approximately
2,300 employees in the PRC, Hong Kong, Germany, U.S., Botswana
and Korea, down by approximately 200 employees as compared
with approximately 2,500 employees last year. Such decrease was
mainly due to the optimisation of employee structure carried out
by subsidiaries, particularly Guangdong lJinye. The labour costs
for the year (including pension and mandatory provident fund,
etc.) amounted to HKD432,491,000, representing an increase of
HKD38,527,000 from HKD393,964,000 of the last financial year.
The increase in the labour costs was primarily attributable to the
hike of product prices and living standards in China and the Group’s
investment in human resources. Regarding employee salary and
incentive system, the Group has implemented a remuneration system
referenced to the market to attract stable and exceptional talents,
so as to meet with the Group’s long term development needs.
Generally, remuneration includes fixed and performance-based
salaries, while senior management would also be entitled to
incentives such as discretionary bonus and share options, which are
subject to adjustment with reference to price level in the market
and their respective performance. As to Directors’ remunerations,
remunerations are subject to adjustment made by the Board with
reference to their respective duties and responsibilities, the prevailing
benchmark in the market and the Group’s performance. For details,
please refer to Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements
headed under “Employment Benefit Expenses”.
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The Group has placed substantial emphasis on talent building.
Through external recruitment and internal nomination, the Group
has established a comprehensive recruitment system. For reserve
talent training, the reserve talent pool is constantly reinforced
through internal recruitment and training courses, ensuring healthy
and systematic growth of the reserve talent team and providing
new talent for the Group at a suitable time. Various departments
of the Group carried out different training activities based on work
requirements from time to time. During the financial year, the Group
recorded a total of approximately 25 training activities. Among
which, for the long-term development of the Group and development
of flavour and fragrance talents, a flavourist training was held by
the Group at the Shanghai Institute of Technology during March
2014 to February 2015, at which approximately 16 talents selected
internally participated. To enhance the management capability of
reserve talents and for the long-term development of the Group’s
human resources, the second reserve talent training programme
was held by the Group in Guangzhou and Shanghai during May to
November 2014, at which approximately 25 employees participated.
To aid fresh graduates quickly learn about the Group and get to
know about its corporate culture and commence work as soon as
possible, a 14-day fresh graduate training course was held by the
Group in Shanghai and Yingtan in July 2014. In April 2015, the core
management team of the Group participated in the strategic training
programme tailored by the China Europe International Business
School featuring corporate strategic thinking, value creation and

investment decision-making. The core management team comprised
of 38 members led by the Chairwoman of the Group will regularly
participate in such one-year training programme.
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The Group has remained committed to corporate culture
development and established a clear vision, as well as a common
goal for all employees, of combining corporate development and
individual growth to achieve common development of the Company
and its employees. Adhering to its core value of “client first”
for years to maximise client values, the Group also formulated a
code of conduct for each employee on the basis of this concept.
Corporate culture and information is spread through the Company’s
monthly internal magazine, and employees are also encouraged
to submit articles for cultural enrichment. On the other hand, the
Group enriched employees’ leisure time through various recreational
and sports activities including sports contests and outward bound
trainings to reinforce cohesion of Huabao people and their sense of
identity. During the financial year, different forms of leisure activities
were held by the Group to allow employees to relax after hectic
work schedules and interact with each other. In September 2014, the
“Top 10 Employees” of the year started off their journey to Mongolia
and spent a memorable five-day vacation together. During the trip,
not only each of the employees had the opportunity to share their
revelations over the past year, they also experienced local life and
culture by staying in Mongolian yurts, riding camels in the desert
and tasting a roasted goat. In November 2014, the eighth annual
“Huabao Cup” badminton finals of the Group was held at the
Jiading Stadium in Shanghai, athletes from the Group’s headquarters
and its subsidiaries participated in the game. “Huabao Cup” is one
of the key sports events of the Group where its subsidiaries are
divided by geographical location into the eastern China division and
the southern China division. The winners of the preliminaries will
then compete in the finals held in Shanghai for various trophies.
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In terms of media promotion and development, the Group will make
use of both internal and external media going forward. Regarding
its own media system, the Group has completed the platform
development of “Three Ws, One Website and One Magazine”, where
"Three Ws" refers to the development of public accounts through
Weibo, Wexin and Wegia platforms. Capitalising on the most popular
online communication platforms nowadays, real-time and effective
dissemination of information of the enterprise including latest
news, development and concepts is made possible. In respect of the
corporate website, the Group also completed the full-scale facelift
of the old version of the website with new designs and contents in
all aspects. The website after revamped is refreshing and is more
in line with the future positioning of the Group. The contents are
more informative which can provide more useful information to
those in need. In addition, to align with its strategic transformation
and upgrade, the Group has also revamped its internal magazine,
"Huabao View"”, which contains columns like news, plans (such as
feature articles and hot topics, etc.) and employee participation.
This has not only significantly increased employees’ participation
and recognition, but also enhanced the use value of the internal
magazine, which enriches the employees’ life and, at the same time,
effectively delivers the core concepts and cultures of the enterprise to
them. For external media, the Group plans to engage a professional
public relations company in the near future to enhance its corporate
image by packaging, planning and promotion.
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Corporate Information Technology Development

The management is of the view that, to cope with the intensifying
competition in the industry, the Group will need to maintain its
edge in the industry through enhancing its management standards.
Accordingly, the IT strategy of the Group will focus on formulating
the overall strategic objectives of the Group and its positioning
should serve as a strategic tool to support and promote the
long-term development and management of the Group.

Looking ahead, the Group will focus on building an IT platform
that generates synergies in the areas of production, management
and industry. Based on the overall concept of IT management,
the Group’s IT development efforts will focus on the following
i) to provide support to the Group for management
innovation; ii) to provide shared services for its subsidiaries; and iii)

three areas:

to build an ecological environment for the extension of the industry.
With respect to management innovation, the Group will achieve
meticulous management and operation to enhance customers’
satisfaction; strengthen management and control to avoid risks and
enhance corporate governance capability; facilitate flat management
of the Group to enhance communication. With respect to synergistic
and shared services, the Group will construct a service sharing centre
to provide IT management and development services for member
companies of the Group. At the same time,
information exchange among peers and increase the synergistic
benefits in the industry chain. With respect to building an ecological
environment, the Group will endeavour to achieve expansion and
extension with a view to building a synergistic informationised

it will enhance the

strategic platform.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Analysis of annual results for the year ended 31
March 2015

Sales revenue

The Group’s sales revenue amounted to HKD4,326,486,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2015, representing an increase of
approximately 2.1% as compared with HKD4,237,425,000 for the
last financial year. The continuous growth in sales revenue was
mainly attributable to the stable increase in sales of flavours by
approximately 4.8% in this financial year, and a significant increase
in sales of new materials by HKD65,766,000 in this financial year.
But as sales of RTL in this financial year decreased by approximately
11.6% from last financial year, the overall growth was partially
offset. For the year ended 31 March 2015, sales revenue from
flavours reached HKD3,209,099,000, contributing approximately
74.2% of total sales revenue; sales revenue from RTL reached
HKD945,574,000, contributing approximately 21.8% of total sales
revenue; sales revenue from new materials reached HKD86,769,000,
contributing approximately 2.0% of total sales revenue; while sales
revenue from fragrances reached HKD85,044,000, contributing
approximately 2.0% of total sales revenue.

Cost of goods sold

The Group's cost of goods sold amounted to HKD1,301,169,000
for the year ended 31 March 2015, representing an increase of
approximately 5.0% as compared with HKD1,239,306,000 for the
last financial year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit of the Group increased from HKD2,998,119,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2014 to HKD3,025,317,000 for the year ended
31 March 2015,
gross profit margin was 69.9%, representing a decrease of less than

representing an increase of approximately 0.9%;

1 percentage point from 70.8% of the last financial year. The gross
profit margin remained largely stable as compared with last financial
year.

Other income and other gains - net

Other income and other gains — net of the Group was
HKD263,205,000 for the year ended 31 March 2015, representing
an increase of HKD58,634,000 as compared with HKD204,571,000
for the last financial year. The increase in other income is mainly
attributable to increase in fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and government grants.
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Selling and marketing expenses

The selling and marketing expenses of the Group mainly comprised
travelling expenses, transportation costs, advertising and promotion
expenses, salaries and office expenses. The selling and marketing
expenses of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2015 were
HKD204,650,000, representing an increase of approximately 20.4%
as compared with HKD169,936,000 for the last financial year. Selling
and marketing expenses to total sales revenue for the year ended 31
March 2015 and 2014 amounted to approximately 4.7% and 4.0%
respectively. The increase of such ratio was mainly because the Group
had stepped up its advertising effort for products such as e-cigarettes
which drove up the promotion expenses.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses amounted to HKD763,727,000
for the year ended 31 March 2015, representing an increase of
approximately 16.5% as compared with HKD655,510,000 for the
last financial year. Administrative expenses to total sales revenue
during the current financial year amounted to approximately 17.7%,
representing an increase of approximately 2.2 percentage points as
compared with 15.5% for the last financial year. The increase in the
ratio of administrative expenses to total sales revenue was mainly
attributable to the increase in R&D expenses, employee salary and
staff benefit expenses, etc.

Operating profit

Operating profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2015 was
HKD2,320,145,000, representing a decrease of approximately 2.4%
as compared with HKD2,377,244,000 for the last financial year,
while the operating profit margin decreased to approximately 53.6%
of the current financial year from approximately 56.1% of the last
financial year. The decrease in operating profit and operating profit
margin were mainly attributable to the growth of sales revenue was
slower as compared with the faster increase in selling and marketing
and administrative expenses, etc.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2015
was HKD391,054,000, representing a decrease of approximately
7.0% as compared with HKD420,381,000 for the last financial year.
Income tax rate of the current year was approximately 16.4%, which
was decreased by approximately 1 percentage point as compared
with approximately 17.4% for last financial year. The decrease in
income tax expenses and income tax rate was mainly attributable to
the decrease in withholding income tax on dividends resulted from
dividends expected to be declared by PRC subsidiaries will be lower
than that in current financial year.
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Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company was
HKD1,986,584,000 for the year ended 31 March 2015, representing
an increase of 0.5% as compared with HKD1,977,325,000 for the
last financial year.

Net current asset value and financial resources

As at 31 March 2015, the net current asset value of the Group
was HKD4,454,334,000 (2014: HKD4,068,533,000). The Group
generates its working capital mainly through its operating activities
to maintain a sound financial position. As at 31 March 2015, the
Group's cash and bank balances amounted to HKD3,626,091,000
(2014: HKD3,181,745,000), over 97% of which was held in RMB.
The Group neither held any forex hedging products nor structured
investment products or financial derivatives.

Bank borrowings and debt ratio

As at 31 March 2015, the Group had bank borrowings of
HKD750,278,000 (2014: HKD530,131,000), all of which were due
within one year. Among which, HKD735,128,000 are unsecured
loan with interest calculated based on inter-banks borrowings rate.
For the year ended 31 March 2015, the average annual interest rate
of such unsecured loan was 2.24% (2014: 2.39%); the average
annual interest rate of the remaining secured loan was 6.30%
(2014: 6.30%). As at 31 March 2015, the Group’s debt ratio (total
borrowings, include current and non-current borrowings, divided by
total equity (excludes non-controlling interests)) was 8.2% (2014:
6.1%).

Investing activities

The Group’s investing activities were for the purchase of property,
plant and equipment, financial assets investment and the
strategically development strategies for M&As. For the year ended
31 March 2015, the net cash used in investing activities amounted
to HKD349,535,000, mainly for newly acquired financial assets,
procurement of properties, plant and equipment, and placement of
short-term time deposits. For the year ended 31 March 2014, the net
cash used in investing activities amounted to HKD595,898,000.

Financing activities

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the net cash used in financing
activities amounted to HKD1,497,567,000, mainly used for dividend
distribution to shareholders. For the year ended 31 March 2014, the
net cash used in financing activities amounted to HKD770,576,000.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Debtors’ turnover period

Debtors’ turnover period is calculated on the basis of the average
amount of trade receivables net of provisions as at the beginning
and end of a relevant financial year divided by the total sales revenue
for the corresponding period and multiplied by 360 days. The Group
generally offers its customers a credit period of approximately
0-180 days, depending on the business volume of, and the length
of business relationship with, the customers. For the year ended 31
March 2015, the Group’s average debtors’ turnover period was 79
days, representing an increase of 3 days as compared with 76 days
for the last financial year ended 31 March 2014. Debtors’ turnover
period is generally stable.

Creditors’ turnover period

Creditors’ turnover period is calculated on the basis of the average
amount of trade payables as at the beginning and the end of a
relevant financial year divided by the cost of goods sold for the
corresponding period and multiplied by 360 days. Credit periods
granted by suppliers to the Group ranged from 0-180 days. For the
year ended 31 March 2015, the Group's average creditors’ turnover
period was 116 days, representing a decrease of 4 days as compared
with 120 days for the last financial year ended 31 March 2014.
Creditors’ turnover period remains stable.

Inventory and inventory turnover period

As at 31 March 2015, the Group’s inventory balance amounted to
HKD818,433,000 (2014: HKD855,694,000). For the year ended 31
March 2015, the inventory turnover period (calculated on the basis
of the average amount of inventory balances as at the beginning and
end of a relevant financial year divided by the total cost of goods
sold for the corresponding period and multiplied by 360 days) was
232 days, representing an increase of 6 days as compared with 226
days for the last financial year. The inventory balances at the end of
the financial year decreased by HKD37,261,000 as compared with
the beginning of the financial year. The increase in inventory turnover
period was attributable to the average inventory balances of this
financial year was higher than that of last financial year.

Foreign exchange and exchange rate risk

The principal businesses of the Group are located in Mainland China
and the majority of the sales revenue is denominated in RMB, with
the exception of only a certain amount of imported raw materials and
equipment which are denominated in foreign currency such as USD
or EUR. The Group is of the view that the risk of RMB depreciation
is very low. As a result, the Group’s exposure to exchange rate risk is
relatively low.
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Pledge of assets

As at 31 March 2015, the secured bank loan of the Group amounted
to RMB12,000,000 (2014: RMB12,000,000).

Capital Commitments

As at 31 March 2015, the Group had capital commitments in respect
of the purchase of property, plant, equipment and available-for-sale
financial assets, contracted for but not provided in the financial
statements amounting to approximately HKD274,175,000 (2014:
HKD44,709,000), mainly was investment in high-tech fund amounted
to HKD193,520,000.

Contingent liabilities

Based on the information available to the Board, the Group had no
contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2015.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Note)
EEREREEERER (&)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS #1{T==

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu, aged 45, the Chairwoman of the Board, CEO, Executive Director
and the chairwoman of Nomination Committee of the Company. Ms. Chu has
been a member of the Board since March 2004. Ms. Chu is the mother of Mr. Lam
Ka Yu (Non-executive Director of the Company). Ms. Chu is also a director of the
Company's principal subsidiaries marked with "C1" and the legal representative of
those companies marked with "C2" as set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements. Ms. Chu is experienced in formulating strategies and making executive
decisions on business operation, investments and market development. She was a
member of the Fifth Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference Committee
(Shenzhen, Guangdong province). Ms. Chu, through the corporations controlled by her,
is the beneficial owner of shares of the Company as set out in page 91 headed under
Directors' Interests in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures.
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Mr. XIA Li Qun, aged 48, an Executive Director, President, Chief Financial Officer
and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Xia has been
a member of the Board since September 2006. Mr. Xia is also a director of the
Company's principal subsidiaries marked with "X1" and the legal representative
of those companies marked with "X2" as set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements. Mr. Xia holds a Bachelor's degree in economics and is a certified
accountant, certified tax specialist and certified appraiser in China. Mr. Xia has over
20 years of financial and corporate management experience. He previously worked
in domestic accounting firms in China and was a senior management member of a
foreign invested enterprise in China. Mr. Xia is currently the honorary chairman of the
Shanghai Food Additive Trade Association.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Note)
ESNSRTERER ()

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok, aged 52, an Executive Director, Vice President and the
Company Secretary of the Company. Mr. Poon has been a member of the Board since
March 2004. Mr. Poon was awarded the postgraduate diploma in laws by the University
of London, United Kingdom. He holds a Bachelor's degree in laws and a Bachelor's
degree in business studies and a Master's degree in international accounting. He is a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute, a fellow member
of both The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and a member of its Technical Consultation Panel
and Professional Development Committee. Mr. Poon has over 25 years of experience in
regulatory affairs, investment banking and listed companies management.
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Mr. WANG Guang Yu, aged 51, an Executive Director and Vice President of the
Company. Mr. Wang has been a member of the Board since August 2004. Mr. Wang
is also a director of the Company's principal subsidiaries marked with "W1" and the
legal representative of those companies marked with "W2" as set out in note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements. Mr. Wang holds a Master's degree in chemical
analysis and has a qualification of senior engineer. Mr. Wang was an expert with
special allowance provided by the State Council of the PRC government in recognition
of his outstanding contribution to the engineering technology sector of China. Mr.
Wang previously worked in management positions of large-scale chemical company
in China. He has over 20 years of R&D and management experiences in the chemical
industry.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Note)
EEREREEERER (&)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR ¥ #H{TE=S

Mr. LAM Ka Yu, aged 22, a Non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Lam has
been a member of the Board since November 2013. Mr. Lam is the son of Ms. CHU
Lam Yiu (the Chairwoman of the Board, CEO and Executive Director of the Company).
Mr. Lam received education in the United Kingdom and the United States of America.
For corporate management experiences, Mr. Lam is currently the director and general
manager of an unlisted company, which is principally engaged in advertising media
business in China. He is also a director of a non-profit foundation in China. Mr. Lam
previously served as an assistant to the general manager of a company engaged in
energy technology business in China.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Note)
ESREREEERE ()

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BY EHITES

Dr. DING Ningning, aged 67, an Independent Non-executive Director and a member
of both of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. Dr.
Ding has been a member of the Board since August 2013. Dr. Ding graduated from
Tsinghua University with a Bachelor's degree in electrical engineering, and graduated
from the Party School of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China
in its first doctorate course in economics. Dr. Ding is currently a researcher of the
Social Development Research Department of the Development Research Center
("DRC") of the State Council of the PRC, a director of the China Development
Research Foundation, an executive director of the China Energy Research Society
and an executive director of the China International Association for Urban and
Rural Development. He has been conducting research at the DRC for over 30 years

since 1982, and he was a director of the Enterprise Economic Research Department
of the DRC from 1993 to 1998 and a director of the Social Development Research
Department of the DRC from 1998 to 2008. Dr. Ding was a member of the Listed
Company Supervisory Committee of China Securities Regulatory Commission.
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Mr. LEE Luk Shiu, aged 57, an Independent Non-executive Director, the chairman
of both of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee and a member of
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Lee has been a member of the Board
since May 2006. Mr. Lee is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in the United Kingdom and an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lee has about 30 years of experience in commercial
accounting and corporate finance. Mr. Lee has principally engaged in corporate finance
and regulatory aspects in the Stock Exchange. He was an assistant vice president of
the Listing Division of the Stock Exchange, and his duties included regulating and
monitoring the Hong Kong listed companies in relation to their compliance with

the Listing Rules and processing new listing applications. He also served as a senior
consultant of an investment bank for more than 5 years.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Note)
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Ms. MA Yun Yan, aged 54, an Independent Non-executive Director and a member
of both of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company. Ms.
Ma has been a member of the Board since September 2004. Ms. Ma graduated from
the Law School of Peking University in 1984 and obtained qualification as a lawyer in
China in 1986. She is now the Partner of Shu Jin Law Firm. Ms. Ma was a member of
the Fourth Listing Committee of Shenzhen Stock Exchange and she was re-appointed
as a member for the Eighth Committee in September 2014 for a term of two years. Ms.
Ma has been dedicated to teaching and doing research in the Law School in relation
to international commerce and investment aspects for 10 years. She has extensive
experience in the legal field in relation to the capital markets, including investments,

mergers and acquisition, issuance of securities etc., and has lead-managed the issuance
of shares and convertible bonds and major restructuring of numerous companies listed
in PRC and Hong Kong. From August 2009 to August 2011, Ms. Ma was a member of
the Growth Enterprises Board Public Offering Review Committee of China Securities
Regulatory Committee.
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Mr. WU Chi Keung, aged 58, an Independent Non-executive Director and a member of
both of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Wu
has been a member of the Board since August 2013. Mr. Wu is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom and an associate
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wu has over 30 years
of experience in financial audit, corporate restructuring and merger and acquisitions.
He was a partner of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu until he retired in December 2008.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Note)
ESNSRTERER ()

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (VICE PRESIDENT) SR EEE (FIAR)

Mr. XIONG Qing, aged 38, a Vice President of the Company, joined the Group
since May 2007. Mr. Xiong is also a director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
marked with “XQ1” and the legal representative of those companies marked with
“XQ2" as set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements. Mr. Xiong
majored in international accounting from Tsinghua University School of Economics and
Management, and graduated with a Bachelor’s degree in economics and he is also an
EMBA degree holder of INSEAD in France. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Xiong worked
in several international investment banks for years. He has extensive experiences with
Chinese enterprises and international capital market.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT S EHEE

Mr. CHOY Man Fai, aged 51, a director of Tobacco Flavours and Fragrances Center of
the Group, joined the Group since August 2006, responsible for marketing and sales
of tobacco flavours. Mr. Choy is also a director of the company’s principal subsidiaries
marked “FC1” as set out in the Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements. He
holds a diploma of applied chemical technology of Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
Mr. Choy served as a marketing manager in a number of globally renowned flavours
and fragrances companies. Mr. Choy has over 20 years of experience in flavours and
fragrances marketing and management.
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Mr. SONG Jun He, aged 46, an assistant to the president of the Group, joined the
Group since August 2006. Mr. Song is also a director of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries marked with “SJ1” as set out in the Note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements. Mr. Song graduated from Anhui University and holds a Bachelor’s degree
in analytical chemistry, later he studied at Zhejiang University and obtained a Master's
degree in management. Before joining the Group, Mr. Song was a board member of a
large domestic chemical enterprise. He has comprehensive management experience in
R&D and production in the field of chemical industry.
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Ms. YUAN Xiao Qin, aged 46, an assistant to the president of the Group, joined
the Group since August 2006. Ms. Yuan is also a director of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries marked with “YX1” and the legal representative of those companies
marked with “YX2" as set out in the Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.
Ms. Yuan holds an MBA degree and is a qualified engineer. Before joining the Group,
Ms. Yuan served as an executive in a Hong Kong listed state-owned enterprise. She has
around 20 years of experience in senior management position. Ms. Yuan is currently
the representative of the People’s Congress in Shantou City, Guangdong Province,
a member of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference in Chaoyang District, Shantou City and the vice president of the Federation
of Industry and Commerce in Chaoyang District, Shantou City.
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Mr. CHEN Hu, aged 40, a director of Food Flavours and Fragrances Centre of the
Group, joined the Group since August 2006. Mr. Chen is also a director of the
Company’s principal subsidiaries marked with “CH1"” and the legal representative of
those companies marked “CH2" as set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements. Mr. Chen holds a Bachelor’s degree in economics from Central South
University and an MBA degree from Nanyang Technological University, Singapore. Before
joining the Group, Mr. Chen worked for several companies and has extensive experience
in investments, merger and acquisition, marketing and corporate management. Mr.
Chen is currently the deputy director of China Association of Bakery & Confectionery
Industry and vice president of The Specialized Committee for Nuts and Roasted Seeds
of China National Food Industry Association.
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Mr. Alan DAVIES, aged 67, the chief technical officer of tobacco flavours and general
manager of Aromascape Development Centre in Germany, joined the Group since
February 2007. Mr. Davies is also a director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
marked with “AD1" as set out in the Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.
Mr. Davies holds a Higher National Diploma in food science of Grimsby College of
Technology, United Kingdom. Mr. Davies served as a senior flavourist in charge of
creation and applications in a number of globally renowned flavours and fragrances
companies and tobacco factory, including BBA, Carreras Rothmans, Dragoco and
Symrise. Mr. Davies has over 35 years of experience in tobacco flavours.

Alan DAVIESSEAE @ 675%  EAEMBBEHRNEE - =B Aromascapefft 8 0 84T IR -
E-TTLF - ARMARER o Daviesst £ MR E AR E IS WK ME35F [AD1] FF5%
ZAERBEEMBATNES © Daviesst £15H EEGrimsby College of Technologyf) &
ERESHERE  TEARSRERNENEBERABMER - £IEBBA « Carreras
Rothmans ~ Dragoco X Symrise - B FEE R RFAEM R EEFREMER - Daviest £ E
BiB=+hFOERTRERESR

Mr. ZHAO De Xu, aged 38, a director of corporate management and information
of the Group, joined the Group since February 2015. Mr. Zhao graduated from The
Brandenburg University of Technology in Germany and holds a Master degree in
information technology. He worked in Germany for more than 10 years. Mr. Zhao was
selected as a member of China’s “Thousand Talents Plan” of Xinjiang Project and as an
overseas high-level talent of Jiangsu Province. He was named the “2012 China’s most
valuable CIO” and one project he participated was awarded the “First Class Award
of Nanjing Enterprise Management Modernization Innovation Achievements”. Before
joining the Group, Mr. Zhao held executive position in a large diversified holding group.
He has extensive experiences in the fields of corporate management, strategic and
information management.
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Mr. CAl Ning, aged 32, a director of investment of the Group, joined the Group since
March 2015. Mr. Cai graduated from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law and
holds a Bachelor's degree in economics. Before joining the Group, Mr. Cai served as an
executive in several sizable listed companies and was responsible for the implementation
of a number of major investment and acquisition projects. He has extensive experiences
in strategic mergers and acquisitions abroad, project management of overseas greenfield
investments, cross-border operational managements and business negotiations, etc.

EE|RE N2p EERERE B _ZE-RF-_ARNALREE - £ELEXNPHH
REVERR  BREBBELEM - BEENMAAKBEZHEESTARE LT RAELIRE
B AEBZEASAREENBERNER - ROBINEBKIES 6 - BINEIEKRER
BEE BEEEEE BEXAHNEF T ARFLEENER -

Mr. CHEN Cong, aged 33, head of the CEQ’s Office of the Group, joined the Group
since January 2013. Mr. Chen graduated from Tsinghua University with a Master’s
degree in finance. Before joining the Group, Mr. Chen worked in a leading domestic
investment bank for several years. He has extensive experiences in the field of capital
operation.

FREGSE 4 » 335% » EECEOWAEZ T BT —=F— ABMAREER « [REEZLERN
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Note: Information contained in this section was up to 31 March 2015
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Corporate Governance Report

Corporate governance refers to the rules and incentives by which the
management of a company is directed and controlled to maximize the
profitability and long-term value of the firm for shareholders while
taking into account the interest of other legitimate stakeholders (UK
Cadbury Report 1992). The Board recognizes the importance and
benefits of good corporate governance practices and has adopted
certain corporate governance and disclosure practices aiming at
a high level of transparency and accountability. The Company is
committed to continuously improving its corporate governance
practices as part of its own corporate culture.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Throughout the financial year, the Company had complied with the
code provisions in the CG Code and, where appropriate, adopted the
recommended best practice as set out in the code provisions, except
for code provisions A.2.1 and A.4.1:

Code provision A.2.1 provides that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Ms. CHU Lam Yiu, Chairwoman of the Board and
Executive Director of the Company, took up the position of CEO
starting from 9 April 2013. As the Board meets regularly to consider
matters relating to business operations of the Group, the Board is of
the view that the above arrangement will not impair the balance of
power and authority of the Board and the executive management.
The effectiveness of corporate planning and implementation of
corporate strategies and decisions will generally not be affected.

Code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors should
be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. The INEDs
and Non-executive Director of the Company were not appointed
for a specific term as they are subject to retirement by rotation no
later than the third annual general meeting of the Company since
their last appointment or re-election and are eligible for re-election
in accordance with the Company’s bye-laws. As such, the Company
considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that
the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less exacting
than those set out in the CG Code.

Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter of applying
and complying with the CG Code but about promoting and
developing an ethical and healthy corporate culture. The Directors
will continue to review and, where appropriate, improve the current
practices of the Company on the basis of the experience and
regulatory changes to enhance the confidence of shareholders of
the Company, and to safeguard shareholders’ interest for assuring
healthy business developments.
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Changes in Information in respect of Directors

In accordance with Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes
in information required to be disclosed by directors pursuant to
paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) subsequent to the date
of the Interim Report as of 30 September 2014 of the Company are
set out below:

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Magnum Entertainment Group Holdings
Limited with effect from 15 May 2015.

THE BOARD
Board Composition

The Company has a well-balanced Board. The Board comprises four
Executive Directors, one Non-executive Director and four INEDs. The
members of the Board are as follows:

Executive Directors
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu

Mr. XIA Li Qun

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok
Mr. WANG Guang Yu

(Chairwoman and CEQ)
(President and CFO)
(Company Secretary)

Non-executive Director
Mr. LAM Ka Yu

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. DING Ningning

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu

Ms. MA Yun Yan

Mr. WU Chi Keung
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Corporate Governance Report

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material relationship) between any members of the Board,
except for Ms. CHU Lam Yiu is the mother of Mr. LAM Ka Yu
(the Non-executive Director of the Company). Biographies of the
Directors are set out on pages 51 to 55 of this annual report. The
present Board has experience, expertise, and qualifications in aspects
of production, management, accounting and finance, legal and
regulatory both in Hong Kong and China. Two out of four INEDs
possess recognized professional qualification in accounting. The
INEDs bring independent judgment, professional knowledge and
experience appropriate for the Board’s deliberations. All Directors
have relevant qualifications in relevant field of expertise and have
exhibited personal and professional ethics and integrity. The diversity
of experiences and backgrounds enables the Board to enhance better
corporate governance and performance standard and to bring in
valuable contributions and objective advices for the development of
the Group’s businesses.

March 2015, the Board met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
independent non-executive directors representing at least one-third
of the board, with at least one independent non-executive director
possessing appropriate qualification, or accounting or related
financial management expertise (in compliance with Rule 3.10 of

During the year ended 31

the Listing Rules). The Company has received, from each of the
INEDs, an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board has assessed their independence
and concluded that all the INEDs are considered to be independent
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Chairwoman and Chief Executive Officer

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu is the Chairwoman of the Board and Executive
Director of the Company. She took up the position of CEO since 9
April 2013. Ms. Chu has extensive experience in business operation
and strategic planning. The Board believes that Ms. Chu by taking up
the roles of the Chairwoman and CEO concurrently, is beneficial to
the business development and management of the Group.

Since the adjustment of senior management structure of the
Company last September, Ms. CHU Lam Yiu acts as Chairwoman of
the Board (responsible for the management of Board operation and
development of the Group’s strategic planning) and CEO (responsible
for important management and business decisions making of the
Company); Mr. XIA Li Qun as President, responsible for the daily
operational management of the Group and report to the CEO
directly.
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There are guidelines setting out the authority and duties of the
Chairwoman and the CEO, details of which were set out in the
Corporate Governance Report of the Company’s annual report
from year 2007/2008 to year 2012/2013. With the support of the
President, the Company Secretary and the Qualified Accountant, the
Chairwoman shall ensure that all Directors are properly briefed on
issues arising at board meetings and receive adequate, complete,
reliable and timely information for making decisions. Apart from the
above, the Chairwoman is also responsible for the duties as specified
in code provisions A.2.4 to A.2.9 of the CG Code.

Roles and Responsibilities of Directors

The primary objective of the Board is to maximize the profit of the
Company and to safeguard and enhance long-term value of the
Company for the shareholders. To this end, the Board assumes
the responsibilities for leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the businesses, strategic development direction, financial
performance and corporate governance of the Group. All new board
members have been given information on the general business
background and policy of the Company on joining the board. All
Directors have been provided with regular trainings by external
experienced lawyers to update and refresh the applicable legal and
other regulatory requirements and enhance the knowledge and skills
required from Directors to perform their duties.

The Board, led by the Chairwoman, is collectively responsible for
formulating and approving the business strategies of the Company,
setting objectives for management, overseeing its performance and
assessing the effectiveness of management strategies.

The Executive Directors are responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Company’s operations and conduct meetings
with senior management of the Group at which operational issues
and financial performance are evaluated.

The bye-laws of the Company set out the responsibilities and
proceedings of the Board. Significant operational policies have to
be discussed and approved by the Board. To enable the Directors to
meet their obligations, an appropriate organizational structure is in
place with clearly defined responsibilities and limits of authority.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for the
Directors and senior management of the Company in respect of legal
action against them in the course of execution of their duties in
good faith.
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Board Meetings

The Board conducts scheduled board meetings on a quarterly basis to
discuss strategies and business issues, including financial performance
of the Group. Details of attendance of the Directors at the physical
meetings are set out on page 80 of this annual report.

Notices of board meeting are given to each member of the Board
at least 14 days prior to the meeting, whereby the Director can put
forward his/her proposed items into the agenda. The agenda and the
relevant board papers are then circulated to the Directors at least 3
days before a board meeting is convened to enable them to make
informed decisions at the meeting.

Drafts of the board minutes and board committee meeting minutes
are circulated to all Directors and the relevant board committee
members respectively for their review and comments before
finalization. The final version of these minutes will be kept by the
Company Secretary and are open for inspection by the Directors
and committee members. If a Director has an interest in a matter
to be considered at a board meeting, the Board will ensure that
an adequate number of independent directors are involved in the
consideration of the relevant resolutions, and the relevant director(s)
having an interest in the matter will abstain from voting.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and relevant
materials and have unrestricted access to advice and services of
the Company Secretary/Legal Department of the Company with a
view to ensuing that board procedures and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed. Directors are able to seek independent
professional advice as and when required at the Company’s expense.
INEDs are encouraged to take an active role in board meetings and
serve on the sub-board committees.

During the financial year, the Chairwoman has held a meeting with
the INEDs without the presence of Executive Directors.

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election

Although all the Directors were not appointed for a specific term,
every Director shall, in accordance with bye-law 87 of the Company,
retire from office by rotation no later than the third AGM of the
Company since their last appointment or re-election and are eligible
for re-election.
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Directors’ Interests and Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct
regarding dealing in the securities of the Company by the Directors.
Having made specific enquiries to all Directors, the Company has
received their written confirmations that they have complied with
the required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the
financial year. Full details of the Directors’ interests in the shares are
set out on page 91 of this annual report.

Delegation of Directors

The Board may from time to time delegate all or any of its powers
that it may think fit to a director or member of senior management
of the Company. The Board has formulated specific rules and
policies on such delegation of power to facilitate efficient operation
of the Company and is supported by three committees which
are Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has maintained the Remuneration Committee, Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee. Each of these committees
has specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with their
authority and duties. The chairman of the committees will report
their findings and make recommendations to the Board after each
meeting.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three INEDs, namely Mr.
LEE Luk Shiu (the chairman of Remuneration Committee), Ms. MA
Yun Yan, Mr. WU Chi Keung, and an Executive Director, Mr. XIA Li
Qun.
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The Remuneration Committee’s responsibilities include making
recommendations for approval by the Board with respect to
matters relating to the remuneration of Executive Directors and
senior management. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee was published on the Company’'s website at
www.hbglobal.com and on the Stock Exchange’s website at
www.hkexnews.hk. In discharging its responsibilities, the
Remuneration Committee has performed the following works:

o To review and make recommendations on the Company’s
policies and structure for the remuneration of the Executive
Directors and senior management;

o To evaluate remuneration packages of the Executive Directors
by reference to market conditions, performance of the Group
and the individual and corporate goals and objectives as set by
the Board from time to time, and make recommendations on
the remuneration of the INEDs for the Board's approval; and

o To review and evaluate the Company’s Share Option Scheme.
Directors will abstain from voting in determining their own

During the year ended 31 March 2015,
the Remuneration Committee met three times regarding the

remuneration packages.

emolument packages of the Directors and senior management
and the remuneration package of Mr. XIA Li Qun for taking up the
position of President of the Company. The individual attendance of
Remuneration Committee members at meetings is set out on page
80 of this annual report. Details of the emolument of the Directors
are set out in Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements while
details of the Share Option Scheme and the share options granted to
the Directors and senior management are set out on pages 87 to 89
of this annual report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises four INEDs, namely Mr. LEE Luk Shiu
(the chairman of Audit Committee), Dr. DING Ningning, Ms. MA Yun
Yan and Mr. WU Chi Keung.
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The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee include assisting
the Board in maintaining a high standard of corporate governance,
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations to the Board,
particularly by providing independent review of the effectiveness
of the Company’s financial reporting process and material internal
controls, including financial, operational, compliance and risk
management controls and, to maintain good and independent
communications with the management as well as auditors of the
Company. The Audit Committee is also responsible for performing
the corporate governance duties set out in the terms of reference
under code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code as delegated by the
Board. In discharging its responsibilities, the Audit Committee has
performed the following work:

. To review the annual and interim financial statements and
results announcements during the financial year;

o To discuss with the external auditors and the management on
possible accounting risks;

. To review the effectiveness of the Group’s financial controls,
internal controls and risk management systems;

o To review the sufficiency of manpower for financial reporting
purposes;

o To approve the audit fees and terms of engagement of the
external auditors;

o To review the independence of the external auditors and make
recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment of the
external auditors; and

o To review and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

The Audit Committee meets regularly with the Company’s external
auditors to discuss various accounting issues, and reviews the
effectiveness of internal controls. The terms of reference of
Audit Committee was published on the Company's website at
www.hbglobal.com and on the Stock Exchange’s website at
www.hkexnews.hk.
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During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Audit Committee met
twice for reviewing the financial reports for 2013/2014 annual results
and 2014/2015 interim results (including the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and the contents disclosed in the Corporate
Governance Report) and the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
controls system. The individual attendance of Audit Committee
members at meetings is set out on page 80 of this annual report.
Members of the Audit Committee were satisfied with the Company’s
internal control systems and the financial reporting disclosures.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises an Executive Director, Ms.
CHU Lam Yiu (the chairwoman of Nomination Committee) and two
INEDs, namely Dr. DING Ningning and Mr. LEE Luk Shiu.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include
formulating nomination policy for the Board’s consideration and
implementing the Board's approved nomination policy, considering
the development targets and strategies of the Company and the skills
mix needed in respect of the Board, and making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment of directors and succession planning
for directors. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
was published on the Company’s website at www.hbglobal.com and
on the Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk. In discharging
its responsibilities, the Nomination Committee has performed the
following work:

o To review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
diversity of Board members, and make any proposed changes
to the Board according to the Company’s corporate strategy;

o To consider the development targets and strategies of the
Company and the skills mix needed in respect of the Board,
and make recommendations to the Board;

o To assess the independence of INEDs and review the INEDs’
annual confirmations on their independence; and make
disclosure of its review results in the Corporate Governance
Report;

o To review the time required from a Director to perform his/her
responsibilities; and

o To make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of directors.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company adopted a board diversity policy in September 2013
(the "Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity
on the board by considering a number of factors and measurable
objectives, including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional skills, knowledge, experience
and length of service,
and balance of talents, skills, experience and background of the
Board. Appointments of Board members shall be based on merit, and
candidates will be assessed based on objective criteria. The Company
will also take into account factors based on its own business model

in order to maintain an appropriate range

and specific needs from time to time. The Nomination Committee
will monitor the implementation of the Policy; review the Policy from
time to time, as appropriate; report to the Board on their decisions
or propose recommendations on any amendments for the Board'’s
review and approval, to ensure the effectiveness of the Policy.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Nomination Committee
met two times for reviewing the board structure, the diversity
of Board members and the commitment of Directors (including
considering the appointment of Mr. XIA Li Qun as President of
the Company), and making recommendations to the Board. The
Nomination Committee considered that the composition of the Board
is well balanced and diversified in terms of gender, age, educational
background, professional skills and experience. It meets with the
needs of the business operations and development of the Group.
The Board is of the view that every Director has dedicated sufficient
time and attention to the affairs of the Company. Each Director
had disclosed to the Company at the time of his/her appointment
the directorships held in other listed companies or nature of offices
held in public organizations and other significant commitment. The
Company has also requested Directors to provide in a timely manner
any change in such information. The individual attendance of
Nomination Committee members at meetings is set out on page 80
of this annual report.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has full responsibility for maintaining an integrated and
effective internal control system of the Group, which includes the
establishment of a defined management structure with specified
limits of authority. The system is designed to assist in the achievement
of business objectives of the Group, safeguarding assets against
unauthorized use or disposition, ensuring the maintenance of proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information
for internal use or for publication and ensuring compliance with
relevant legislation and regulation. The internal control system
is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss. The system (embedded in the
operations of the Company and forms part of the Company’s culture)
includes:

o effectiveness and efficiency of operations;

o capability in responding quickly to evolving risks to the business
arising from factors within the company and to the change in
business environment; and include procedures for reporting
immediately to appropriate management levels regarding any
significant control weakness that are identified together with
details of corrective action being undertaken;

o reliability of financial reporting; and
o compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

The key procedures that the Board established to provide effective
internal controls are as follows:

Organizational Structure

An appropriate organizational structure is in place with defined
operating policies and procedures as well as responsibility and lines
of authority.

Authority and Control

The executive directors and senior management are delegated with
respective levels of authorities to carry out the corporate strategies
and policies and related matters formulated by the Board.

Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting

The Group implements budget management and the financial budget
is executed upon approval by the Board. Relevant procedures have
been established to assess, review and approve major capital and
recurring expenditures, and regular review and comparison between
operating results and the budget are made.
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The Group has established appropriate internal control procedures to
ensure accurate and complete accounting and management records
are kept on a timely basis. Examination and review are carried
out regularly to ensure that the financial statements are properly
prepared in conformity with the generally accepted accounting
principles, the Group’s accounting policies and the applicable laws
and regulations.

Risk Management

The Group has Legal Department which is led by professional legal
staff, together with other business functions (including Internal
Audit Department) to monitor and assess risk regularly, boost related
management standards and evaluate investment projects.

Internal Audit

The Company has set out internal audit team with scope of works
advised by the Audit Committee shortly after a review on its internal
control system by an external independent expert in 2008.

Internal Control Review

During the reporting period, the internal audit team had carried out
an annual review on the internal control system including financial,
operational and compliance control, and risk management functions.
The review adopts a risk-based approach to create and review the
effectiveness of an internal control system and includes the following
work:

(i) To follow up the enhancement progress in response to the
previous recommendations from an external independent
expert in respect of internal control system;

(i)  To carry out a high level review on the internal control system
of new members/businesses of the Group under the principles
set out by The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Committee (‘COSQ’) covering major control aspects;
and

(iii) To arrange site visit and perform focused walk through test
on the internal control system of members of the Group on a
selective basis pursuant to the principles of COSO.
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Internal audit team has presented their review report and make
recommendations to the Audit Committee and the Audit Committee
has discussed with the management and reported the progress of
the work plan and related findings, particularly those related to new
group members to the Board at board meeting during the financial
year. In general, the Board considers that the internal control systems
of the Group are generally effective (including the resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of
the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions are adequate).

Internal Control System and Corporate Governance
enhancement

In compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules and for
the purpose of reinforcing the Group's internal control system,
the Company has established a whistleblowing policy and system
for employees to raise concerns, in confidence, with the Audit
Committee about possible irregularities in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters related to the Company. The Audit
Committee is responsible for reviewing the relevant policy and system
regularly.

The Directors has strengthened corporate governance practices,
including formalization of the reporting practice throughout the
Group in monitoring the operation and business developments of the
Company so as to capture potentially price-sensitive information on
an on-going basis, monitoring the continuing disclosure obligation.
The Board has further strengthened corporate governance practices
by establishing lending policy to monitor its credit level. In addition,
Herbert Smith Freehills, the retained legal counsel of the Company,
has provided the Directors (existing and new board members) and the
relevant senior executives with training on Listing Rules, regulatory
requirements and cases of enforcement at least twice a year.
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Directors’ Training

All Directors participated in appropriate continuous professional
development and provided the Company with their records of
training they received for the period from 1 April 2014 to 31 March
2015. Directors participated in the training which included reading
regulatory updates, attending seminars or conducting training
sessions and exchanging views.

Executive Directors HITES
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu RMIE L+
Mr. XIA Li Qun ERE L
Mr. POON Chiu Kwok ERR B
Mr. WANG Guang Yu FHREE
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. LAM Ka Yu MBETERE
Independent Non-executive Directors BUKHITES
Dr. DING Ningning TEEEL
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu FRIREE
Ms. MA Yun Yan it = 3 2 £
Mr. WU Chi Keung FAER L

Company Secretary’s Training

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok, the Executive Director, Vice President and
Company Secretary of the Company is responsible for assisting
the Board for facilitating communications among Directors as well
as ensuring that the Board’s policy and procedures are followed
properly. The Company Secretary also provides professional advice
and services to the Board on corporate governance and other
matters. He is also responsible for organizing general meetings and
facilitating the induction and professional development of Directors.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Company Secretary has
obtained over 15 hours of relevant professional training.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibility in Preparing Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for the preparation and timely publication
of financial statements. In preparing the financial statements,
relevant statutory requirements have been complied with, applicable
accounting standards in force in Hong Kong have been adopted,
appropriate accounting policies have been applied on a consistent
basis, going concern basis has been adopted and reasonable and
prudent judgments and estimates have been made.

Auditors’ Statement and Remuneration

The external auditors have a primary responsibility for auditing and
reporting on the financial statements and the Auditors’ Report to the
Shareholders is set out on pages 97 to 98 of this annual report.

During the financial year, the remuneration paid/payable to the
Company’s auditors (including statutory auditors of the subsidiaries)
in relation to audit services and non-audit services provided to the
Group are as follows:

EEA®RE

B E M F &

EERENMBRROELE

EXS R ARBAERTIEMBERR - REMBER
RES - B MEBEBHE R EEABRRBRERE
ROBEET  FRRATHEASHENDERA
HENGTREFELTARBARFELEEE
EERR

REMEANNE
BB EERE ARV BHRERRERIELRE - &
BOR 2 BB S BN A FIRFEITEIRE -

RAFBEER - AR AZBED (BIEHME QA
ETE MR EED) MAEE R 2 R B R IFREBR
% BN NS BRNT

Amount
Nature of Services REME |
(HK$'000)
(BT
Audit services ZH R

— for the audit of the Group — EEER 6,659

— for the statutory audits of the major PRC — FEEATFREVEERF
subsidiaries 1,701

Please also refer to Note 25 to consolidated financial statement
set out on page 173 of this annual report for details of Auditors’
Remuneration.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shares with voting rights in the Company are ordinary shares.
The number of issued ordinary shares as at 31 March 2015 was
3,104,317,961. Details of share capital of the Company are set out
in Note 18 of Notes to the consolidated financial statements on
page 166 of this annual report. Shareholders holding issued ordinary

B RAER
MERZEEORNDIAERATLBREN - RZF
—AF=ZRA=1+—HB BERTEERBROHEKE S
3,104,317,961/% - R R G R ANFIEE R AN FERE
166 B4R A M MEM 18 - HBEARF B 1T
TR Z/REET -

shares of the Company were set out below:

Full details can
be found on

the following Total number Percentage

page of of issued of the issued

this report Shares held share capital

R A F R aHER HE 81T

Category/Name L)l =t UTEH ERTROE [N

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu Mete D R 22 £ (=D page 915918 1,219,813,415 39.29%

Directors of the Company KARES page 9155918 8,250,000 0.27%

Substantial Shareholders (ote 2 FERRER (M) page 9255928 588,062,875 18.94%

1,816,126,290 58.50%

Public NS YN 1,288,191,671 41.50%

Total &5t 3,104,317,961 100.00%
Notes: Mz -

1. As defined in the Listing Rules, any person (including a holder of 1. BETHAESE  TRNBEREARRRREAE LT

depositary receipts) who is or group of persons (including any holder of
depositary receipts) who are together entitled to exercise or control the
exercise of 30% (or such other amount as may from time to time be
specified in the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs
as being the level for triggering a mandatory general offer) or more of
the voting power at general meeting of the Company; and

2. Pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, corporations and/or persons hold
interests or short positions in 5% or more of the issued share capital of
the Company.

Procedures for shareholders to convene a special general meeting

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the bye-laws of the Company,
shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Secretary
of the Company, to require a SGM to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business transaction specified in such requisition.
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The requisition shall state clearly the matters required to be
considered and approved at the SGM and must be signed by the
requisitionist(s) (with contact details) and submitted to the Board in
written form to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong at least 21 days before the proposed date of the SGM.

The SGM shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date
of the deposit of the requisition proceed to convene a meeting,
the requisitionists may themselves do so in accordance with the
provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1982 of the laws of
Bermuda (as amended) (the “Companies Act”), but any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3 months from the
said date.

Shareholders’ right to propose resolutions at general meeting

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, (i) any number
of shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth (5%) of
the total voting rights of all the shareholders having at the date of
the requisition a right to vote at the general meeting to which the
requisition relates; or (ii) not less than 100 shareholders, may submit
to the Company a written request stating the resolution intended
to be moved at AGM or a statement of not more than 1,000 words
with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or
the business to be dealt with at a particular general meeting.

The written request/statement must be signed by all the
requisitionists and may consist of several documents in like form,
each signed by one or more of the requisitionists, and must be
deposited at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong, not less than 6 weeks before the AGM in case of a requisition
requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one week before
the general meeting in case of any other requisition. Provided that if
an AGM is called for a date 6 weeks or less after the requisition has
been deposited, the requisition though not deposited within the time
required shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the
purposes thereof.

Shareholders’ right to propose a person for election as a director

Shareholders shall have right to propose a person for election
as a director at the Company’s general meeting. Please refer to
the detailed procedures for such right on the Company’s website
www.hbglobal.com.
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Making enquires

Shareholders shall have the right to examine the relevant information
of the Company according to the Bye-laws. Shareholders should
direct their questions about their shareholdings to the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited.
Shareholders may also direct questions or requests for information
through the Company’s website at www.hbglobal.com or by
contacting the Head of Investor Relations Department of the
Company (e-mail: ir@huabao.com.hk).

ACCESSIBLE AND TRANSPARENT COMMUNICATION
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

In addition to the on-going Investor Relation Department’s efforts
to mention in the next section, the Board values the importance of
communications with the shareholders. The Company uses a range of
communications tools, such as AGM, annual report, various notices,
announcements and circulars, to ensure its shareholders are kept well
informed of key business imperatives.

The Company has maintained a website www.hbglobal.com which
serves as a forum for corporate communication with its shareholders
and the general public. All corporate communications required under
the Listing Rules are displayed and can be achieved (for documents
published in the previous 7 years) on the Company’s website and
there is established procedure to ensure timely update in compliance
with the Listing Rules.

Open Communications

The Group is committed to acting in good faith and in the best
interests of its shareholders at all times and in all areas of its
operations. The Group actively promotes open communication and
full disclosure of all information needed to protect and maximize
transparency.

Shareholders’ communication policy

The shareholders’ communication policy is available for viewing on
the Company’s website at www.hbglobal.com.

Shareholders’ Meetings held during the reporting period

The general meeting provides a forum for the Board to communicate
with the Shareholders. To facilitate enforcement of the Shareholders’
rights, significant issues were dealt with under separate resolutions
at the general meeting, including the election and re-election
of individual Director. Details of general meeting(s) held during
reporting period are summarized as follows:
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Meeting Date Venue

=E =:] B

AGM 8 August 2014 Falcon Room,

RRBAFRE ZE—OF Gloucester Luk Kwok,
VAVEPANE| 72 Gloucester Road,

Wanchai, Hong Kong
BB ELITET2%
NEVEE =R

MERGERS & ACQUISITIONS

Details of the mergers and acquisitions of the Company carried out
during the reporting period can be found on page 85 of this annual
report.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the continuing connected transactions of the Company can
be found on pages 93 to 95 of this annual report.

PO~ F--- 2N
.m%%a/nﬂﬁﬁ
Resolutions
RER
1. To receive and consider the audited financial

statements and the reports of the directors
and of the auditors for the year ended 31
March 2014;

LEHE"T-NEF=-A=+-HILFELR
CHBEHE EEEWE RIXBERE

2. To declare final and special dividends for the
year ended 31 March 2014;

EREBE_E—NFE=A=1+—BILFEHE
REEFRIE

3. To re-elect Directors and to authorize the
Board to fix their remunerations;

BEREF URBRESTETREZME

4.  To re-appoint the auditors and to authorize
the Board to fix their remunerations; and

EMRERHE YREESSETEMS -
K

5. To grant general mandates to buy back
shares, to issue shares and to exercise the
buy-back mandate.

BF—RIREARBA Y - BT RITER
ERE

e ig & Bf

R|ERA - ARRWBE G BN AFRESS
H o

HEBERS

ARRZFHEREZXSHBRRAFHRFIZAEIS
=
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EEERHmE

ATTENDANCE RECORD

Details of attendance of the Directors (either in person or through

H % &0 8%
EEENHEPARBLEREBERE REER
TREFEEEEH EFZEegaBREXRE
W FEERFBEIIMT

telephone/video conferences) at board regular meetings, meetings of
board committees and general meetings during the reporting period

are set out below:

Board Audit  Remuneration Nomination Annual
Regular Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meeting
ESeENes FAZALES HUERELH RZELEF  RRAFAE
No. of meeting held 22Ny 8 2 3 2 1
Executive Directors HiTE=S
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairwoman and CFO) kit (£E#EE#HTTE) 8/8 NATER NATER 0 "
Mr. XIA Li Qun (President and CFO) BNBES (BHRIFEE 8/8 NATEF 33 NAT R "
Mr. POON Chiu Kwok (Company Secretary)  &REL% & (2 74 E) 8/8 NATEA NATEF NATEA 11
Mr. WANG Guang Yu P i) 718 /AR NATER N/ATRER 0
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. LAM Ka Yu MEFELE 6/8 N/ATER N/ATER N/ATER 7
Independent Non-executive Directors By ¥#TES
Dr. DING Ningning TEEfAL 718 2 NATMER 22 11
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu Frkit 8/8 22 33 22 11
Ms. MA Yun Yan MEHRL 8/8 2 33 NAER 11
Mr. WU Chi Keung WEREA 8/8 ) 33 NATER 11
MAJOR CHANGES TO THE BYE-LAWS NEAMAUABEREE
During the financial year, the Company did not make any RAMBEFERN @ RA 722 7RI L E ([
amendments to the Company’s Bye-laws. 1BaT -

Huabao International Holdings Limited ZEBEIMRIZRERA T
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The Company is committed to upholding an open and proactive
investor relations strategy with an aim at optimizing the knowledge
and understanding of the investment community with respect
to the Company’s corporate mission and vision, development
strategies, competitive position in the industry and operating and
financial performance, so as to enable public investors to make
informed decisions on their investments. The Company fulfils
the above-mentioned through a designated Investor Relations
Department.

The Investor Relations Department acts as an intermediary between
the Company and public investors. The Company abides by the basic
and fair disclosure guidelines to ensure that communication with
Shareholders, investors and media is conducted in a fair manner and
that no material non-public information is made available to any
individual on a selective basis.

Investor Relations Review

In order to develop continuously and maintain investor relations
communications to ensure that the most updated information would
be transmitted to investors in an accurate and fair manner, the
Company organized various activities proactively and aggressively
through different channels, conducted effective and satisfactory
communications under reasonable circumstances. Details of these
activities during the reporting period are as follows:

Details of the activities EEFHE
Non-deal roadshows IER FHEE
Investment conferences wEETH

One-on-ones and group meetings —H—R)EeE
Teleconferences BiEEE

BE2E &R AR

Plant visits and reverse roadshows

Huabao International Holdings Limited EEERIZERERAR

REEBERRE

ARBBN@FHARLEBNREEBERR 5
EEMSREMBFNBREBREBARARZEER
B RS BRRE - ZABRFNRREEMIH
KRB NBREARE/BESFNREFLABR
E o ARABBFROREEBERISFIARFEZR -

BREEBRIBPARRRARRRERZNBR - AR
ARBRAFRENEARRA - UBERERER - RE
ERBRZBBAARFHIAET  RILEAE
BUERREAENALTREERIEARES -

REEBRIFEDE

ARBRFBEERIEFREEWERBR  UER
RAASRERATHERERESE  ARAXH
BREEMERTFREETERAEY  HRESE
MBERTREZFNENREER - AREHAH
EEEENT

Number of participations (approximately)

SERY (W)

9 (including China, Hong Kong, Singapore,
Frankfurt, London and New York, etc.)
(BIERE - B - K - EZHERE - RBR
MEEH)

7

51

34

4
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Annual General Meetings

It is important that the Shareholders have access to clear and
meaningful data which enables them to have a constructive
dialogue with the Company. Shareholders can raise any
questions and comments on the performance or future
business directions of the Company and on any resolutions to
be considered at the AGM and SGM. The Company’s Chairman
and the Audit Committee’s Chairman were present and
available to answer questions raised at the AGM during the
year.

Interim Results Presentation

Interim results presentation was held after the interim results
announcement in November 2014, at which the management
availed themselves to answer questions such as the Group's
operational and financial performances.

International Roadshows and Investment Conferences

The Company treasures every opportunity to communicate with
and explain its strategies to investors and Shareholders through
active participation in global investor roadshows and investors’
conferences hosted by reputable investment banks, securities
houses and research institutes.

Ongoing Communication with the Investment Community

Regular face-to-face meetings and an ongoing schedule
of teleconferencing calls with institutional investors and
research analysts were held throughout the year. Questions
and comments on the Company raised at the meetings were
summarized and reported to the senior management team after
the meetings. Regular meetings with research analysts were
organized which provided a different channel for the analysts
to communicate with the members of the Board. All these
serve the multi-purposes of maintaining market surveillance and
close contact with investors as well as gathering constructive
suggestions from the capital market.

Huabao International Holdings Limited EEEMRIZERERA T
2014-2015 Annual Report &5
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Company'’s Site Visits and Reverse Roadshows

Site visits to the Company’s major customers, R&D centres
and production bases had been arranged for investors and
analysts during the year which provided them on one hand the
opportunities to have better understanding of the Company’s
businesses, technology and daily operations, and independent
market surveillance on the other.

E-Communication via Websites of the Company and
Professional Investor Relations

The Company’s website at www.hbglobal.com contains
information such as important corporate data, biographical
details of Directors, organizational structure and press releases,
while interim and annual reports, announcements and circulars
are published on a professional investor relations page on
the aforementioned website, which enables the Company’s
Shareholders and members of the investor community to have
timely access to the most updated information about the
Company.

Media Communications

During the announcement of its interim and annual results, the
Group held results presentations to facilitate the access of the
most updated information of the Company by investors and
the public in a fair, open and timely manner. In addition, to
strengthen the interactions between the Group and the media
it also proactively issued press releases on a timely basis.

Investor Relations Contacts

For inquiries, please contact:

Investor Relations Department
Huabao International Holdings Limited
Suite 3008

30th Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2877 8999

Fax: (852) 2511 8229
E-mail: ir@huabao.com.hk

Huabao International Holdings Limited EEERIZERERAR

REEBERRE

NAEH 2B R KGR
ARRFARKREERSTELH2EARF
TERP  HEhLOREESN - —TEFELL
FMMERSUARRER  HEEAELE
BEEERER - Z—0HE - FAREBYTS
HEEMEIT -

EBARREREEREEBERLETET
B

AN B 48Uk Awww . hbglobal.com » H{EEE
ZHERE  ESEE - ABRE - ARHE
EEL - MEMBUPEHEEENREEBER
HE - FIBPHERFERS  ASRBRERE
B BAARBREREEMBEENREEEA
NAIZEHER °

HEEE

AEENRP R 2 FRENMERREELM
GAIRIREE R RARRAF - AR
MERTEEARMNRKIEE - I K&
B ER THMAABELFERAMBEE

TR o

2L

REEBERERBE

mEEH -

&S
i

AR

7 8 1 855
FIRES301E

3008%
HEEEERIERAER AR
TEEBERD

Frf -
B AR -

e

(852) 2877 8999
(852) 2511 8229
ir@huabao.com.hk
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REEBERERE

Information for investors (as at 31 March 2015)

Board Lot Size
Number of shares issued
Market capitalization (based on

the closing price of HKD5.77
on 31 March 2015)

Stock Code
The Stock Exchange of

Hong Kong Limited stock code
Reuters ticker
Bloomberg ticker
Financial Calendar
Announcement of 2014-15

Interim Results

Announcement of 2014-15
Annual Results

Closing date for transfer of shares
for Annual General Meeting

Annual General Meeting

Fiscal year-end date

2014-2015 Annual Report &3

1,000 shares

3,104,317,961 shares

HKD17.912 billion

00336

336.HK

336HK

19 November 2014 (Wednesday)

23 June 2015 (Tuesday)

From 3 August 2015 (Monday)
to 6 August 2015 (Thursday)
(both days inclusive)

6 August 2015 (Thursday)

31 March

Huabao International Holdings Limited EEEMRIZERERA T

REEER (Rl —

SFEEEMRH
RELSGTRRELE!
mE (W=F—RF
=ZA=+—H
W BB
5.777CitE)
REBRE
BEEBAZHAT
BIR AR K5
BELRH R
ZERD R
AR
—E-ME-RF
REREE N

“T-mE-RF
EERERQM

Bt BB B

- BREFAE

BERBFRE

FHEEFER

E-hFE=H=+—H)

1,0008%
3,104,317,961 %

47517912187

00336

336.HK

336HK
“E-EFET-A+TAR (BH=)
—ZT-AF~AZt=R(E#HD)

“Z-hFN\A=R (28—)
Z/\ARE (EHm)
(BEEREMA)

—T-AF/\AXAE (EHM)

=A=1+—8H



The Board is pleased to present its annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2015.

MERGERS & ACQUISITIONS

In June 2014, the Group’s wholly owned subsidiary disposed of all
of its equity interests (25%) in Henan Jinrui, an associate of the
Group, to the controlling shareholder of Henan lJinrui for a cash
consideration of approximately HKD11,818,000. After completion of
the disposal, Henan Jinrui ceased to be an associate of the Group.

In October 2014, the Group’s wholly owned subsidiary acquired
the remaining 49% equity interests in Sino Investment from
the non-controlling shareholder of Sino Investment for a cash
consideration of approximately HKD40,000,000. After completion
of the acquisition, the Group’s shareholding in Sino Investment
increased from 51% to 100%.

In March 2015, the Group's wholly owned subsidiary acquired
the remaining 30% equity interests in Huabao Korea from
the non-controlling shareholder of Huabao Korea for a cash
consideration of approximately HKD18,700,000. After completion of
the acquisition, the Group’s shareholding in Huabao Korea increased
from 70% to 100%.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in Note
35 to the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the financial year by
business segment is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2015 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 101 of the annual
report.

The Board declared an interim dividend of HK9.52 cents per Share
(2014: HK8.68 cents per Share) and a special dividend of HK22.20
cents per Share (2014: HK2.88 cents per Share) both in cash,
amounting to a total of about HKD984,690,000 which were paid to
Shareholders on 27 February 2015.

Huabao International Holdings Limited EEERIZERERAR
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RAB S 40,000,000 [A) 45 B 7 FE 7 IR AR B UIL
B IREHE R T49% M - s B ER 1R - A% E
R R A HR51%EE100% °
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The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2015 (2014: final dividend of HK10.49
cents per Share and special dividend of HK7.00 cents per Share).

CLOSE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING

In order to determine the entitlement of Shareholders to attend and
vote at the AGM of the Company which is scheduled to be held on 6
August 2015, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from 3 August 2015 to 6 August 2015, both days inclusive, during
which no transfer of shares will be effected. All properly completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 31
July 2015. Shareholders whose names are recorded in the register of
members of the Company on 6 August 2015 are entitled to attend
and vote at the AGM.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the financial year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 103 and in Note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2015, the distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to HKD1,303,947,000 (2014: HKD1,712,527,000).

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
financial year amounted to approximately HKD806,000 (2014: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
are set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set
out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 197.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

As per a resolution passed at the SGM held on 22 September
2006, the Company adopted a share option scheme (“Share Option
Scheme”). As at 31 March 2015, the number of share options
granted by the Company pursuant to the Share Option Scheme which
are valid and outstanding amounted to 17,590,000, representing
approximately 0.57% of the issued share capital of the Company
upon full exercise of the aforesaid share options. The following is a

summary of the Share Option Scheme:

(@) Purpose of the Scheme

The Share Option Scheme aims at encouraging the participants
to make contributions to and promote benefits of the Group
and developing and maintaining business relationships with
participants for the benefit of the Group.

(b) Participants of the Scheme

The Board has absolute discretion to grant share option to any
participant.

() Maximum number of shares issuable under the Scheme

The total number of share options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued
Shares of the Company as at 22 September 2006. Upon
approval by the Shareholders, the Company may renew the
Scheme Mandate Limit, provided that each renewal shall not
exceed 10% of the issued Shares as at the date of approval
by the Shareholders, and a circular regarding the proposed
renewal of the Scheme Mandate Limit has been dispatched to
the Shareholders in a manner complying with, and containing
the matters specified in, the relevant provisions of Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules. The aggregate maximum number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of share options granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 30%
of the total number of Shares in issue from time to time.
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(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

88

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the
Scheme

The maximum number of Shares (issued and to be issued)
upon exercise of options (whether exercised, cancelled or
outstanding) granted to any participants in any 12-month
period under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company shall not exceed 1% of
the Shares in issue from time to time. Any excess over 1%
requires the formal approval by Shareholders through an
ordinary resolution at a general meeting at which the relevant
participant and his close associates shall abstain from voting
and the Company shall issue a circular pursuant to relevant
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Time for exercise of options

The grantee may subscribe for Shares during such period as
may be determined by the Board (the said period shall not in
whatever case be later than the last day of the 10-year period
after the day on which the offer relating to the option is duly
approved by the Board in accordance with the Share Option
Scheme (subject to early termination)).

Minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised

Unless the Directors determine otherwise and state in the
offer of the grant of option to the grantee, the Share Option
Scheme does not provide for any minimum period for which
share options must be held before it can be exercised.

Acceptance of option offer and payment

The grantee may accept the offer of the share option within 21
days from the date of the offer letter issued by the Company.
The grantee shall pay HKD1 as consideration for accepting the
offer of the share option.

Basis for determining the exercise price

The exercise price of share option granted pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme shall be determined by the Board and
shall be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the
date of offer, which must be a business day; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of the offer; and (iii) the nominal value of
the Shares.
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EEgRE
(i) The life of the Scheme (i) FrEIMEERENE
The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for 10 years BREGFEINR T RFAA T AR T
starting from 22 September 2006. FRNEX -

Details of share options granted, exercised, cancelled and lapsed R KFENRN - RIFEJREBHIR - 176 - 18
during the financial year under the Share Option Scheme are set out  MAMHIBEREFBOT ¢
as follows:

Number of Share Options
BREHA
Granted Exercised  Cancelled/ Balance
Balance during during lapsed as at
as at the the  during the 31 March
1 April financial financial financial 2015
Exercise 2014 year year year R-Z-T1F
Grantee Grant Date Price Exercisable Period R=Z-MF HHEE BBEE  MBEER ZA=t-H
ERA RiUBH e UTERH BA-BE&R kg RiTE /RN &8
HKD
BB
Executive Director
HiTEE
Mr. POON Chiu Kwok 25 October 2006 3.09  25/10/2006-24/10/2016 3,000,000 - (3,000,000) - -
AREEE “RRNETAZTRR
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUFHEE
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu 25 October 2006 3.09  25/10/2006-24/10/2016 200,000 - - - 200,000
Tkt “ETNETACTRR
Ms. MA Yun Yan 25 October 2006 3.09  25/10/2006-24/10/2016 800,000 - - - 800,000
MEHRTT “ZEETAZTRR
Other Participants 10 October 2006 3.09  10/10/2006-9/10/2016 7,600,000 - - - 7,600,000
R25% —ZE2RETATH
17 October 2007 6.65 17/4/2008-16/10/2017 8,990,000 - - - 8,990,000
Z“TELETRTHA
14 April 2008 6.39 14/4/2008-13/4/2018 3,400,000 - - (3,400,000) -
“ZT\FMA+EA
Total
Bt 23,990,000 - (3,000,000)  (3,400,000) 17,590,000
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the financial year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairwoman and CEQO)
Mr. XIA Li Qun (President and CFO)

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok (Company Secretary)
Mr. WANG Guang Yu

Non-executive Director:
Mr. LAM Ka Yu

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Dr. DING Ningning

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu

Ms. MA Yun Yan

Mr. WU Chi Keung

In accordance with Bye-law 87(1) and (2) of the Company’s bye-laws,
Dr. DING Ningning, Messrs. WANG Guang Yu and WU Chi Keung
shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible,
have offered themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than disclosed in Note 34 to the consolidated financial

INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF

statements, no contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company, its ultimate holding company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the financial
year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

None of the Directors and their respective close associates (as defined
in the Listing Rules) is considered to have an interest in any business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of directors and senior management as at 31
March 2015 are set out on pages 51 to 60 of the annual report.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Particulars of the remuneration of the directors and the five highest
paid individuals during the financial year are set out in Note 26 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

At 31 March 2015, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register maintained by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
were as follows:

(a) Long position in ordinary shares of the Company

Name of Directors

ESHR

Capacity
3%

CHU Lam Yiuy Note2)

SR 122 BT A ARG
XIA Li Qun Beneficial Owner

S NBE BEmfaA

POON Chiu Kwok Beneficial Owner

R IR Y BEmEAA

Note 1: 1,219,813,415 ordinary shares of the Company were held
by Mogul Enterprises Limited, Resourceful Link International
Limited, Power Nation International Limited, Jumbo Elite

Limited, Raise Sino Investments Limited and Real Elite

Investments Limited, respectively. Ms. CHU Lam Yiu is the sole

beneficial owner of the aforesaid six companies.

Note 2: Ms. CHU Lam Yiu extended the expiry date of a derivative
transaction to and including 31 December 2015 by an
amendment agreement dated 10 January 2013. The derivative
transaction related to a long position of a monetary value
equivalent to 99,937,000 shares of the Company.
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RARRREREZEE (ExREFLMEENE
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&7 R BRI 3521 R E P ir B 2 B iC it Prac sk
Z*& s NORR  REARBRETAREMAMNEG
ARB R 2 s FORBIAT

Number of Percentage of
issued the issued
Shares held share capital
BEERT HE#T
RHEE BRABDE
1,219,813,415 39.29%
5,250,000 0.17%
3,000,000 0.10%

DR R A 21,219,813,4150% & A TY 5 B
fMogul Enterprises Limited, Resourceful

iz

Link International Limited, Power Nation
International Limited, Jumbo Elite Limited,
Raise Sino Investments LimitedfIReal Elite
Investments Limited##% kMLt A L
MAREAREME—BERERA °
MizE2 : AMELZ T RBAPA-T—=F—A+H
W— e - B—BEERRRTRGE
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T-RE+ZA=+—8H1(F%HB)  #
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(b) Interests in share options of the Company

The interests of the Directors in the share options of the
Company are detailed in the “Share Option Scheme” section
stated above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, none of the Directors
nor their close associates had any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or associated companies as defined in the SFO.

DIRECTORS’
DEBENTURES

Other than disclosed in Note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements, at no time during the financial year was the Company,
its ultimate holding company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,

RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR

the Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the financial year.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2015, other than the interests disclosed in the
section headed “Directors’ interests in shares, underlying shares and
debentures”, the register of substantial shareholders maintained
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO showed that the
following person(s)/corporation(s) held interests or short positions in
5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company.

Long position in ordinary shares of the Company

Name of Substantial Shareholders

TERREE

Capacity
4

Lazard Asset Management LLC Investment manager
REKE
Prudential plc

FERREHARRFE
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the percentage of turnover
attributable to the Group’'s five largest customers combined
accounted for approximately 49.91% and the largest customer
contributed approximately 19.40% to the turnover of the Group
(Yunnan Tobacco Materials (Group) Company Limited being the
largest customer), and the percentage of purchases attributable
to the Group's five largest suppliers combined accounted for
approximately 25.01% and the largest supplier contributed
approximately 8.81% to the purchases of the Group.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their close associates
or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Continuing connected transactions with Hongta Tobacco Group

The Group through its subsidiary entered into a framework
agreement with Hongta Tobacco on 28 August 2012, pursuant to
which the Group shall continually provide tobacco flavours and
fragrances products, RTL, stem powder, auxiliary materials and
related services to Hongta Tobacco Group for a period from 1 April
2012 to 31 March 2015 (“Hongta Framework Agreement”). Yunnan
Tianhong is a 60% indirect subsidiary of the Company. The remaining
40% equity interest in Yunnan Tianhong is held by Yunnan Hongta.
Yunnan Hongta is wholly owned by Hongta Tobacco. By virtue of
such 40% interest in Yunnan Tianhong, Hongta Tobacco Group
are connected persons at subsidiary level of the Company under
the Listing Rules. Pursuant to the Listing Rules, all the transactions
conducted between the Group and Hongta Tobacco Group under
the Hongta Framework Agreement constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Group and are subject to applicable reporting,
annual review, announcement and (as they then were) independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules. Pursuant
to the Hongta Framework Agreement, prices of the products will be
by reference to the prevailing market price. Such price shall be no
more favourable than those offered by the Group to independent
third party for similar products and services in its ordinary and
usual course of business. Payments to the Group will be in cash
according to the timeframe as mutually agreed. The annual cap of
the continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31 March
2015 contemplated under the Hongta Framework Agreement is
RMB330,000,000.
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Continuing connected transactions with Guangdong Tobacco
Company

The Group through its subsidiary entered into a framework
agreement with Guangdong Tobacco on 17 December 2012,
pursuant to which the Group shall continually provide tobacco
flavours and fragrances products, RTL and related products and
services to Guangdong Tobacco Company for a period from 1
January 2013 to 31 March 2015 (“GD Framework Agreement”).
Guangdong lJinye,is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company. Guangdong Jinke is a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of Guangdong Jinye. Guangdong Tobacco holds more than 10%
equity interest in Guangdong Jinke. Guangdong Tobacco Company
are connected persons at subsidiary level of the Company under
the Listing Rules. Pursuant to the Listing Rules, all the transactions
conducted between the Group and Guangdong Tobacco Company
under the GD Framework Agreement constituted continuing
connected transactions of the Group and are subject to applicable
reporting, annual review, announcement and (as they then were)
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules. Pursuant to the GD Framework Agreement, prices of the
products will be by reference to the prevailing market price. Such
price shall be no more favourable than those offered by the Group
to independent third party for similar products and services in its
ordinary and usual course of business. Payments to the Group will be
in cash according to the time frame as mutually agreed. The annual
cap of the continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31
March 2015 contemplated under the GD Framework Agreement is
RMB370,000,000.

Annual review of continuing connected transactions

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the transactions between the
Group and Hongta Tobacco Group under the Hongta Framework
Agreement and the transactions between the Group and Guangdong
Tobacco Company under the GD Framework Agreement amounted to
approximately RMB167,669,571 and RMB236,501,326 respectively.

The aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been reviewed
by the INEDs of the Company. The INEDs confirm that the aforesaid
connected transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Company;
(i)  either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less

favourable to the Company than terms available from
independent third parties; and
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(iii) in accordance with the terms of the relevant agreement, and
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders
of the Company as a whole.

The Company has engaged the independent auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers to report on the Group’s above-mentioned
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 ‘Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information’ and with reference to Practice Note 740 'Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules’ issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. PricewaterhouseCoopers have issued their unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
above-mentioned continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter
has been provided to the Stock Exchange by the Company.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered into by
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2015 are set out in Note
34 to the consolidated financial statements. None of these related
party transactions constitutes a discloseable connected transaction as
defined under the Listing Rules, except for the transactions described
in this paragraph headed “Continuing Connected Transactions”,
in respect of which the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been complied with.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2015, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Group's corporate governance practices are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 61 to 80 of the annual
report.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As at 31 March 2015, none of the members of the Group was
involved in any material litigation or arbitration and no material
litigation or claim was pending or threatened or made against any
member of the Group.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that was publicly available and to the best
belief and knowledge of the Directors, the Company had maintained
the prescribed public float throughout the year ended 31 March
2015 and up to the date of this report as required under the Listing
Rules.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2015 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming AGM of the Company.

By Order of the Board
CHU Lam Yiu
Chairwoman and CEO
Hong Kong, 23 June 2015
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Independent Auditor's Report

_E
pwc

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
HUABAO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Huabao
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) set out on pages 99 to 196, which comprise
the consolidated and company statements of financial position as
at 31 March 2015, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the predecessor Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap.32), and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

B A BE

T
B
X
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RERFF R R M E BN EA SRR -

BB N EE
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PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F, Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong

T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com

ALl KA B T T BT, BB IR
TERG ¢ +852 2289 8888, HH. : +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as
at 31 March 2015, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the predecessor Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap.32).

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 23 June 2015
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
mE BB R

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

(BRAAEAEN  HESRHUNEE TITIIR)

As at 31 March

R=RA=t+-—AH
Noﬁe 2015 2014
ihE=s —Z—EHF —ET—HF
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment MEE - S ERE 6 1,405,495 1,425,497
Land use rights T fE A R 7 194,060 200,247
Intangible assets BIZEE . 8 2,897,367 2,931,430
Investments in associates REE RN 2 & 10 227,795 239,044
Investments in a jointly controlled entity REFRESHEE 2 IRE 11 6,987 7,442
Available-for-sale financial assets A HESREE 12 225,217 154,504
Deferred income tax assets BESHREAE 13 65,194 66,208
5,022,115 5,024,372
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 14 818,433 855,694
Trade and other receivables 25 REMEWRIE 15 1,309,693 1,341,399
Financial assets at fair value through KAnEETEAHE
profit or loss AABHENEREE 16 124,535 -
Assets held for sale FELEEE - 5,196
Short-term time deposits RHTEHER 17 951,802 806,400
Cash and cash equivalents HEREEEED 17 2,674,289 2,375,345
5,878,752 5,384,034
Total assets HMEE 10,900,867 10,408,406
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves attributable to AATEREEAEMN
the Company’s equity holders BRAR R
Share capital f& s 18 310,432 310,132
Reserves EA 20 1,188,606 1,110,334
Retained earnings R &7
— Proposed final dividend — BUR AR A% 2 30 - 325,520
— Proposed special dividend — B RIAR S 30 = 217,221
— Others — HAth 21 7,670,008 6,722,364
9,169,046 8,685,571
Non-controlling interests FEEFI R 234,796 314,658
Total equity mER 9,403,842 9,000,229
LIABILITIES =
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Deferred income tax liabilities FEFREHAE 13 72,607 92,676
Current liabilities REBEE
Borrowings EX 22 750,278 530,131
Trade and other payables B 5 R H Ath FE I 508 23 562,030 652,094
Current income tax liabilities EHEHRAasE 112,110 133,276
1,424,418 1,315,501
Total liabilities Rk 1,497,025 1,408,177
Total equity and liabilities BERREE 10,900,867 10,408,406
Net current assets REBEEZEE 4,454,334 4,068,533
Total assets less current liabilities HBEERARBAEMS 9,476,449 9,092,905
The notes on pages 105 to 196 are an integral part of these 105E196H MM EERALRE M IBHME A EER
consolidated financial statements. e
On behalf of the Board REEES
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu Mr. XIA Li Qun
RMELZ L AL
Chairwoman Director
E EE

Huabao International Holdings Limited FEEEIMRIZRERA A
2014-2015 Annual Report R

99



Statement of Financial Position
BRSO 3R
(BRBEIRBPEIN  FTESBEEUEE T TIIR)

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

As at 31 March

100

R=B=+—H
Note 2015 2014
Bt 7 —E-AE —E—E
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FREEE
Investments in subsidiaries R BRAAZI&E 9(a) 1,245,085 1,245,085
Current assets RENEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 & HE A EMGRIE 15 498 498
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG E S 9(b) 1,804,735 1,996,586
Cash and cash equivalents BERIBELEED 17 15,705 30,460
1,820,938 2,027,544
Total assets BEE 3,066,023 3,272,629
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves attributable to RARESZEFEAEML
the Company’s equity holders B s
Share capital & A 18 310,432 310,132
Reserves 1 20 792,485 783,515
Retained earnings REBEF
— Proposed final dividend — BREIRAZ B 30 = 325,520
— Proposed special dividend — BRI B 30 - 217,221
— Others — HAth 21 1,015,756 881,595
Total equity R 2,118,673 2,517,983
LIABILITIES =R
Current liabilities REBEE
Borrowings =& 22 735,128 515,000
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN ENGIESE] 9(b) 209,192 237,344
Trade and other payables B 5 & KA e 5IE 23 3,030 2,302
947,350 754,646
Total liabilities HBEFE 947,350 754,646
Total equity and liabilities HWESNEE 3,066,023 3,272,629

The notes on pages 105 to 196 are an integral part of these financial

statements.
On behalf of the Board
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu
KMELZ L

Chairwoman

TR
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

Consolidated Income Statement

(BRABEAEHN

A2 BB UK TITIIR)

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

Note 2015 2014
B 5E —E-REF —T—mF
Sales = 5 4,326,486 4,237,425
Cost of goods sold SHE KA 25 (1,301,169) (1,239,306)
Gross profit ER 3,025,317 2,998,119
Other income and other gains — net H A A R HE A Uas — 58 24 263,205 204,571
Selling and marketing expenses HERMSHRERX 25 (204,650) (169,936)
Administrative expenses THEHR 25 (763,727) (655,510)
Operating profit EERF 2,320,145 2,377,244
Finance income BAFEUR A 83,095 54,352
Finance costs BRE A (13,988) (11,997)
Finance income — net WA — 5 27 69,107 42,355
Share of loss of associates and e B2 N A) N2 H R4
a jointly controlled entity B EE 10, 11 (3,005) (2,354)
Profit before income tax ‘AT EF 2,386,247 2,417,245
Income tax expense FT{SHi 28 (391,054) (420,381)
Profit for the year AEEER 1,995,193 1,996,864
Attributable to: FEqG
Equity holders of the Company RKARERFTEA 1,986,584 1,977,325
Non-controlling interests FEPE S MR 2 8,609 19,539
1,995,193 1,996,864
Earnings per share for profit FRARQABERTEABIER
attributable to the Company’s FRER
equity holders for the year
~ Basic (HK cents) EAR GBI 29(a) 64.02 63.76
- Diluted (HK cents) g OB) 29(b) 63.93 63.72
Interim and final dividends FREIR RS 30 295,531 594,714
Special dividend RIS 30 689,158 306,539
984,689 901,253

The notes on pages 105 to 196 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

,T/\ ®
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
METEWER

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BB ERAEIN - FTESBEH BB T TIIR)

Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=+—BLFE

2015 2014
—EB-HF —ET—F
Profit for the year FEEREF 1,995,193 1,996,864
Other comprehensive income: Hip 2 mE S
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss AJEFT 7 2 1B H)H H
Fair value changes on available-for-sale AHHESHEEZ
financial assets, net of tax BREEHN AR EE 13,461 62,398
Currency translation differences on foreign operations JG/MN¥7% 2 & # it =26 6,341 126,031
Other comprehensive income for the year, TEERBEREMEZEKE
net of tax 19,802 188,429
Total comprehensive income for the year, TEERBEEZERREE
net of tax 2,014,995 2,185,293
Total comprehensive income attributable to: BiEEEWRALE !
Equity holders of the Company RATRE=RFEA 2,006,322 2,157,918
Non-controlling interests FEFE Il MR A 8,673 27,375
2,014,995 2,185,293

The notes on pages 105 to 196 are an integral part of these 5105% 1968 KM 5T A A4S B 783 & f) &L 528 8
consolidated financial statements. 3 o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MERERBER

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BB HEEBEEIN  TESBEHNEE T TIIR)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ALARERRE ARG
Non-
Share Retained controlling Total
Note capital Reserves earnings Total interests equity
ik B B REEA B FEAtER fEs
Balance at 1 April 2013 RZE-ZERA-A 311,013 914,333 6,054,065 72719411 346,265 7,625,676
Fair value changes on available-for-sale financial assets, net of tax HEESREBE /B ENALEED - 62,398 - 62,398 - 62,398
Currency translation differences EHnEEE - 118,195 - 118,195 7,836 126,031
Profit for the year KERRA = = 1,977,325 1,977,325 19,539 1,996,864
Total comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2014~ §Z=%F-BE=R=T-ALLFEH2ALFEE - 180593 1977315 | 2157918 235 2,185,293
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners: HRATEEANRS
Appropriations from net profit EM\J@/T 20,2 - 15,475 (15,475) - - -
Dividends payable to non-controlling interests FEHtERRANRE = = = = (3,707) (3,707)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests “%‘J tERERNRE - - - = (39,846) (39,846)
Acquisition of additional interest in Yongzhou Shanxiang Flavour Fﬂjﬂ“%\M EslEAMLABHARAR
Co., Ltd. ("Yongzhou Shanxiang") from non-controlling interest (M) B - (948) - (948) (4,294) (5,242)
Disposal of a subsidiary HERBAT - = - - (14,356) (14,35)
Additional investment in a non-wholly owned subsidiary BINTANFLANEAT = = = = 31 321
Repurchase and cancellation of shares B R RN (881) 881 (13.937) (13.937) - (13.937)
Final and special dividend for the year ended 31 March 2013 HECT-ZFA=t-RLFEZERR
BARE Il = = (378,361) (378 361) - (378,361)
Interim and special dividend for the 6 months ended HECT-ZENA=-TALAEAZPER
30 September 2013 5hlkRe 2 - - (358510 | (358512 - (3851
Total transactions with owners HEEARSER (881) 15408 (766,285) |  (751,758) (58.982)  (810,740)
Balance at 31 March 2014 R-E-mE=B=1-A 310132 1,110,334 7,265,105 8,685,571 314658 9,000,229
Balance at 1 April 2014 RZZ-MERA-A 310132 1,110334 7,265,105 | 8,685,571 314,658 9,000,229
Fair value changes on available-for-sale financial assets, net of tax HEESREBE /B EN AL EED - 13,461 - 13,461 - 13,461
Currency translation differences FhAEZE - 6,277 - 6,277 64 6,341
Profit for the year KEERA - - 1,986,584 | 1,986,584 8,609 1,095,193
Total comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2015~ BZ=2-F£=fA=1-ALEEN2EHHELE - 19738 1,986,584 | 2,006,322 8673 2,014,995
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners: EANRREANRS
Appropriations from net profit ﬁm%ﬁ 20,21 - 54,251 (54,251) - - -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests FEHIERE ANRE - - - - (34553)  (34553)
Acquisition of additional interest in Sino Investment High-Tech Ltd. 3F “%\ gijAZ ERRHRERD
("Sino Investment”) from non-controlling interest (TRt ) @ohEs 31(a) - (9,824) - (9.824)  (30,176)  (40,000)
Acquisition of additional interest in Huabao Korea Co,, Ltd BE3 “%Wéﬁn”& BEERRAE
("Huabao Korea") from non-controlling interest ([=E8E]) FoMEs 31(b) - 5,137 - 5,137 (23,806) (18,669)
Employee share option scheme EEEREE:
- Issue of shares upon exercise of share options - TEERENEAOIR 300 8,970 - 9,210 - 9,210
Final and special dividend for the year ended 31 March 2014 HE E-ME=A=+-BIEE S%R
5hIRE Al = = (542,741) (542,741) - (542,741)
Interim and special dividend for the 6 months ended HECT-MENA=TALNEAZMER
30 September 2014 ke ]l - - (984,689) (984,689) - (984,689)
Total transactions with owners BREARREE 300 58,534 (1581681) [ (1522847) (88,535  (1,611,382)
Balance at 31 March 2015 R-E-E§=B=1-A 310432 1,188,606 7,670,008 | 9,169,046 23479% 9,403,842

The notes on pages 105 to 196 are an integral part of these #105Z196EM T ARG BEHREEY
consolidated financial statements. 7o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FERERER

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

(Br=BEBEHEI

B REHNEETTIIR)

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t+-RLFE

Note 2015 2014
Bz —2-1% —TmF

Cash flows from operating activities RETHHERE
Cash generated from operations HEEEZRS 32 2,582,464 2,245,508
Income tax paid EANGIGTH (440,569) (420,585)
Net cash generated from operating activities BETHELECHSFE 2,141,895 1,824,923
Cash flows from investing activities REFTBNHESTE
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HEHNB R AIFER - 15,993
Capital injection into an associate AR RE] 10 = (138,136)
Purchases of available-for-sale financial assets AR HEEMEE 12 (52,558) =
Proceeds from disposal of an associate BB R R FT{S 10,952 -
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BARAABIREERRER

through profit or loss HemMEE (95,877) -
Purchases of property, plant and equipment, BEAMZE  MEREE T

land use right and intangible asset EREREREE (154,179) (161,946)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment & #)% « #22 R R EFTSHUIE 32 375 233
Short-term time deposits placed FARBEBRER (144,425) (361,229)
Dividend received B S 3,089 843
Interest received BEUF 8 83,088 48,344
Net cash used in investing activities RETBHFAZREFE (349,535) (595,898)
Cash flows from financing activities METHNRSRE
Dividends paid to shareholders BEESERE S (1,565,695) (776,719)
Acquisition of additional interests in BE bl Tl =1 =N

subsidiaries from non-controlling interests REIMER 31 (58,669) (5,242)
Capital contributions from non-controlling interests FEEHIt R A LB 2 EF0E - 3,221
Proceeds from issue of shares in connection IR BREMBITRIRAE

with exercise of share options O 9,271 =
Repurchase of shares BT - (13,937)
New short-term bank borrowings IR HIRITE R 290,150 65,131
Repayment of borrowings BEER (65,150) =
Repayment to a shareholder BERERE (93,985) (30,000)
Interest paid BERFE (13,489) (13,030)
Net cash used in financing activities MEETHFAZREFE (1,497,567) (770,576)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents BEeRBRSEEMENTE 294,793 458,449
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April RBEA—BZHRERREEED 2,375,345 1,886,183
Effects of currency translation on cash EEBEHINE KRG EEY

and cash equivalents 9% 4,151 30,713
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March RE=B=1—-HZHERELZEY 17 2,674,289 2,375,345

The notes on pages 105 to 196 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

GENERAL INFORMATION

Huabao International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liability. The address of its registered office is Clarendon House,
2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

The Company has its primary listing on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are mainly engaged in the
research and development, production, distribution and sale
of flavours, reconstituted tobacco leaves, new materials and
fragrances in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). Ms.
Chu Lam Yiu (“Ms. Chu"”), who is the Chairwoman of the
Board of Directors, holds approximately 39% beneficial equity
interest in the Company as at 31 March 2015, through six
limited companies incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
and solely beneficially owned by her, namely Mogul Enterprises
Limited, Resourceful Link International Limited, Power Nation
International Limited, Raise Sino Investments Limited, Jumbo
Elite Limited and Real Elite Investments Limited, and is the
single largest shareholder of the Company.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of units of HK dollars (“HKD'000") unless otherwise
stated. These consolidated financial statements have been
approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 June 2015.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
"HKICPA"). The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by remeasurement of available-for-sale financial
assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, which are carried at fair value.

e ISR M EE

(BRABHAEIN - IESRABETTIIR)

—RE

EEFREREAERAR ([ARF]) RERE
Al AEREBR AR - HadfiEE
i 3iF &Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda °

ARRMBENEBEREEBARXZMARAF
(T pr]) 7 »

RABBEEEZERAR - ARAIREHNE R
Al ([RNEE]) 2EX¥EBEERPEARENE
([HBE]) AREERER - £E  2HEHEER
RAERER - BEER SIMHERBRERSE
Ko KMBEL LT ([RET]) HEARFBZES
BERE RZE-—RF=ZA=+—H KX
TEBANRNAEBREZESEMAIZNER
A ®IMogul Enterprises Limited » Resourceful
Link International Limited * Power Nation
International Limited * Raise Sino Investments
Limited * Jumbo Elite Limited}Real Elite
Investments Limited @ #78 ZA&Q &]4139% 2 #
@ BARAIRE KRR -

R BMBEMEFRERHBEIN - GAEET
[BETTD IR AGEHBHRRE R

T AEAA- TS AREERHETIE -

[T
Y~

TEEHHERE

ARG EMEREMERNE R ST BORHE
RTX - BREHRPEI  WERREM2H
MIFEFENERER -

21 REBEE
KRR BERE M IS RER IIRIE S A S TAD
AREBRMEHBE BT BIREER ([FEH
BRERER]) » WIRES KA ERR -
BEpEFFEsAHEESREERIN
ARhBEFEEEZIHTABENSE
BEMmMELESET °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

106

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
predecessor Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.32)
for this financial year and the comparative period.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

(@ The following amendments and interpretation
to standards are mandatory for the first time for
the financial year beginning 1 April 2014, but are
not currently relevant or do not have a significant
impact on the Group’s operations (although they
may affect the accounting for future transactions
and events):

. HKAS 32
instruments:

“Financial
Presentation” on asset and
liability offsetting is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014

(Amendment)

o HKFRS 10, 12 and HKAS 27 (Amendment)
“Consolidation for investment entities” is
effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2014

. HKAS 36 (Amendment) “Impairment of
assets” on recoverable amount disclosures is
effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2014

Huabao International Holdings Limited FEEREIZRAR AT
2014-2015 Annual Report £ %
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(a)

The following amendments and interpretation
to standards are mandatory for the first time for
the financial year beginning 1 April 2014, but are
not currently relevant or do not have a significant
impact on the Group's operations (although they
may affect the accounting for future transactions
and events): (continued)

. HKAS 39 (Amendment) “Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”
— Novation of derivatives is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2014

° HK(IFRIC) 21 “Levies” is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014

(BRABFHAEHN -

e ISR M EE

B BABET TIIR)

2. FESHEEBEE (#)

2.1 REEXE (F)

(a)

THHER ZEFTRRER -F
—HEMOA - HRENPREE
BREHER BRENEEX
BEBIESATE (BARETE
EXERRNXZNERNES
iLiR) ¢ (&)

o F il B398 (&
B)IeMTA: MBR
Bl -TETANENR (A
—E—ME—A—Hzk( 2%
BKA 4 R HARS AR A ) o

o AR (HRMBHMEBRER
Bg) -MEQEE2R
FE] (B =_F—NOF—A
— B2 KAKRNFE R
AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR M EE

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
(b)  The following new standards and amendments to
standards are not yet effective and have not been
early adopted by the Group:

(BR=BHBES

2.

MAEZRABETTIIR)

TERETHERE (&)

2.1 REEE (H)

(b) TIMLARERMASEIRELR R
RN ERI e HIR BRI B

Effective for annual
periods beginning

on or after

ZEBRN

FEHBBEN

HKAS 19 (Amendment) regarding defined BB ERE 195 (B2 1 July 2014

benefit plans BRARE BRI EE —Z—MFEEA—H

Annual improvements 2012 on changes 20125 EHEBTE2010-20124 1 July 2014

from the 2010-2012 cycle of the annual RS RAF EGETE B MEE —Z—mMFELHA—H
improvements project

Annual improvements 2013 on changes 20135 EHHEBFE2011-20134F 1 July 2014

from the 2011-2013 cycle of the annual RS RAF EGETE B M EE) —Z—-MFELA—H

improvements project

HKFRS 14 “Regulatory Deferral Accounts” BB IGHRE R F 145 1 January 2016
[EEBIRIERR A | —E—R"F—A—H

HKFRS 11 (Amendment) on accounting for BT IERMELEDFE 11598 (Bk) 1 January 2016
acquisitions of interests in joint operation [ RS E RN g A —ZT—AE—H—H

HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 (Amendment) on BT ELE 1658 X FE38IE 1 January 2016
clarification of acceptable methods of (15e) [FrEmBENrEXTE —E—XR"F—HA—H
depreciation and amortisation 7B |

HKAS 16 and HKAS 41 (Amendment) on BB estERE 165 NEA1E 1 January 2016

bearer plants (&) [ EEMEEY —T—XF—H—H
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (Amendment) on BRI IEHRE AR 1058 & 1 January 2016
the sale or contribution of assets between an & &st2%8]5E285% ({&2h) —ET—RF—H—H

investor and its associate or joint venture

[REEHERAEBERSEDRZH

MNEEHESEE ]
HKAS 27 (Amendment) “Equity method in BB ERFE275 (B2) 1 January 2016
separate financial statements” [E Bk 2 s s AN =
Annual improvements 2014 on changes 2014F E R FE2012-2014 1 January 2016
from the 2012-2014 cycle of the annual FERF TR B B2 E) —ZET—R"F—H—H

improvements project

Huabao International Holdings Limited FEEREIZRAR AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b)

The following new standards and amendments to
standards are not yet effective and have not been
early adopted by the Group: (continued)

e ISR M EE

(BRABHAEIN - IESRABETTIIR)

TRETHEBE (&)

2.1 mEEXE (FE)
(b) RN AR LKAk E R iR 2
R ER R IR EELNE

2 (#)

Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after
ZEBR
FEHBBEN

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

the consolidation exception

BES W ELERE105%
(Amendment) on investment entities: applying &7 B 153k & 2 BI 55 1255 &
ARG EAZE285% (1&52k)

1 January 2016
—T—RF-H—H

[EARIRE ML - BRAHN

HISMETE |

HKAS 1 for the disclosure initiative

ARG ERE 1% (B2

1 January 2016

[T & ] —T—R"F—A—H

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with

BAPBHREERE 155

1 January 2017

Customers” [ZEEERWA —E—+F—A—H
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” BB BREERZESR [T A 1 January 2018
—T—N\F—A—H

Management does not anticipate that the
application of the standards will result in a material
impact on the Group's consolidated financial
statements.

2.2 Consolidation

(a)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

110

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(a)  Subsidiaries (continued)

()

Business combinations

Apart from the application of merger
accounting on those common control
combinations (Note 2.2(b)), the Group uses
the acquisition method of accounting to
account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to
the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group. The
consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date. The Group
recognizes any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are measured at either fair value or
the present ownership interests’ proportionate
share in the recognized amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value,
unless another measurement basis is required
by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair
value at the acquisition date; any gains or
losses arising from such re-measurement are
recognized in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR RMEE
(BB AHRBEI  FTAESHEABE T TLIIR)

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)

TRETHEBE (&)

2.2 Consolidation (continued) 2.2 #%E8EH (&)
(@)  Subsidiaries (continued) @) MBARE] (&)
(i)  Business combinations (continued) (i) XEB86t (&)

Any contingent consideration to be
transferred by the Group is recognized at fair
value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an
asset or liability is recognized in accordance
with HKAS 39 either in profit or loss or as
a change to other comprehensive income.
Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the
acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the total of consideration transferred, non-
controlling interest recognized and previously
held interest measured is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase,
the difference is recognized directly in the
income statement.

Intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealized gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealized
losses are also eliminated. When necessary,
amounts reported by subsidiaries have
been adjusted to conform with the Group’s
accounting policies.

Huabao International Holdings Limited FEHERZERERA R
2014-2015 Annual Report %

SEBEEENEARELHE
RUWE R QR EEE
B HEAR/REEXRENK
BEHEAABEMNHERE
B REFEGERE39
MORTE  EREPHIER
Hip s B SR - 78R
REmONEHENER
B HEZERNEEEREET
N

FEEEE  REB T NE
SRR SIS 2R - R
WULHE 75 2 B (E {e] 4 2 A I
BHNAAEE BBFAE
AR B8 F B ER SRR
REE - MAEEEE  ®
R FEIE R MR e 2
RIFEERE  BERB
AMBAREEENDAE
B ASZBRAEERE RS
PR ©

SEARAIZHENRZS R
Z SR MR BIR BN T A
445 - KEARRENRE
(FERREBE) IR T AL -
MEARNEFRRDRE
ZEE WS - URRERE
BREAOERTE R -

111



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR M EE

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

112

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries (continued)

(if)

(iii)

Changes in ownership interests in
subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions -
that is, as transactions with the owners of
the subsidiary in their capacity as owners.
The difference between fair value of any
consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying amount of net assets
of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains
or losses on disposals to non-controlling
interests are also recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured
to its fair value at the date when control is
lost, with the change in carrying amount
recognized in profit or loss. The fair value is
the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequent accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognized in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean
that amounts previously recognized in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss.

Application of merger accounting

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the combining entities
in which the common control combination occurs
on the basis that they had been combined from the
date when the combining entities first came under
the control of the controlling party.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(b)

Application of merger accounting (continued)

The net assets of the combining entities are
combined using the existing book values from
the controlling party’s perspective. No amount is
recognized for goodwill or excess of acquirers’
interest in the net fair value of acquiree’s
liabilities and contingent
liabilities over cost at the time of common control

identifiable assets,

combination, to the extent of the continuation of
the controlling party’s interest.

The consolidated income statement includes the
results of each of the combining entities from the
earliest date presented or since the date when the
combining entities first came under the common
control, where there is a shorter period, regardless
of the date of the common control combination.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated
financial statements are presented on the basis that
the entities had been combined at the previous
closing date or when they first came under
common control, whichever is shorter.

A uniform set of accounting policies is adopted by
those entities. All intra-group transactions, balances
and unrealized gains on transactions between
combining entities or businesses are eliminated on
consolidation.
Transaction costs, including professional fees,
registration fees, costs of furnishing information to
shareholders, costs or losses incurred in combining
operations of the previously separate businesses,
etc., incurred in relation to the common control
combination that is to be accounted for by using
merger accounting is recognized as an expense in
the period in which it is incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

114

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)

()

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights.
associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method,
the investment is initially recognized at cost, and
the carrying amount is increased or decreased to
recognize the investor’s share of the profit or loss

Investments in

of the investee after the date of acquisition. The
Group’s investment in associates includes goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition
of the ownership interest in an associate, any
difference between the cost of the associate
and the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognized in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognized in the consolidated income
statement, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in other comprehensive income is
recognized in consolidated other comprehensive
income with a corresponding adjustment to the
carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or
exceeds its interests in the associate, including any
other unsecured receivables, the Group does not
recognize further losses, unless it has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(©

(d)

Associates (continued)

The Group determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that the
investment in the associate is impaired. If this
is the case, the Group calculates the amount
of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying
value and recognizes the amount adjacent to
share of profit/(loss) of an associate in the income
statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group
and its associates are recognized in the Group’s
financial statements only to the extent of unrelated
investor's interests in the associates. Unrealized
losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in
associates are recognized in the income statement.

Jointly controlled entity

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 “Joint
arrangements” to all joint arrangements. According
to HKFRS 11, Investments in joint arrangements are
classified either as joint operations or joint ventures,
depending on the contractual rights and obligations
each investor has. The Group has assessed the
nature of its joint arrangements and determined
them to be joint ventures. Joint ventures are
accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests
in joint ventures are initially recognized at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognize the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and
movements in other comprehensive income. When
the Group’s share of losses in a joint venture equals
or exceeds its interests in the joint ventures (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the joint
ventures), the Group does not recognize further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint ventures.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

116

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2

2.3

24

2.5

Consolidation (continued)
(d)  Jointly controlled entity (continued)

Unrealized gains on transactions between the
Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the Group's interest in the joint ventures.
Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
the joint ventures have been changed to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-
maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the executive directors that make
strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation
(@) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HKD"),
which is the Company’s functional currency and the
Group's presentation currency.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognized in the consolidated
income statement, except when deferred in equity
as qualifying cash flow hedges or qualifying net
investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are
presented in the consolidated income statement
within “finance income or costs”. All other foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in the
consolidated income statement within
income and other gains — net”.

“other

Changes in the fair value of debt securities
denominated in foreign currency classified as
available for sale are analyzed between currency
translation differences resulting from changes in the
amortized cost of the securities and other changes
in the carrying amount of the securities. Translation
differences related to changes in amortized cost
are recognized in profit or loss, and other changes
in carrying amount are recognized in other
comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets such as equities held at fair value through
profit or loss are recognized in profit or loss as part
of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences
on non-monetary financial assets, such as equities
classified as available for sale, are included in other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR M EE

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

118

2.5 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c)

(d)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that reporting;

(i)  income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(iii) all resulting currency translation differences
are recognized in other comprehensive
income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognized in other comprehensive
income.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is,
a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control
over a jointly controlled entity that includes a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
significant influence over an associate that includes
a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the equity holders of the company
are reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR RMEE
(BB AHRBEI  FTAESHEABE T TLIIR)

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)

TRETHEBE (&)

2.5 SMEBRE (H)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal
(continued)

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group’s losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences
are reattributed to non-controlling interests
and are not recognized in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (that is, reductions in the
Group’s ownership interest in associates or jointly
controlled entities that do not result in the Group’s
losing significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
difference is reclassified to profit or loss.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Construction in progress represents the direct costs of
construction of property, plant and equipment incurred
plus interest capitalized less any impairment losses. No
provision for depreciation is made on construction in
progress until such time the relevant assets are completed
and available for their intended use.

All other property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less depreciation and impairment losses.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognized. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

120

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6

2.7

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
costs to their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, as follows:

Buildings 20 years
Plant and machinery 5-10 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5-10 years
Leasehold improvements 2-5 years or

over the lease term,
whichever is shorter

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period. An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognized within “other income and other gains —
net”, in the consolidated income statement.

Land use rights

Land use rights are up-front payments to acquire long-
term interests in the usage of land. They are stated at
cost and charged to the consolidated income statement
over the remaining period of the lease on a straight-line
basis, net of any impairment losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Intangible assets

(a)

(b)

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries
represents the excess of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identified net assets
acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated to
each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs"), or
groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. Each unit or
group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity at
which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at
the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate a potential impairment.
The carrying value of goodwill is compared to
the recoverable amount, which is the higher of
value in use and the fair value less costs to sell.
Any impairment is recognized immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Customer relationships and non-competition
agreement

Customer relationships and non-competition
agreement acquired as part of a business
combination are capitalized separately from
goodwill and are carried at cost less accumulated
amortization and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortization is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of the intangible assets
over their estimated useful lives of 10 years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Intangible assets (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Trademarks and licenses

Separately acquired trademarks and licenses are
shown at historical cost. Trademarks and licenses
acquired in a business combination are recognized
at fair value at the acquisition date. They have
a finite useful life and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortization is calculated using
the straight-line method to allocate the cost of
trademarks and licenses over their estimated useful
lives of 10 to 20 years.

Computer software

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring to use the specific software. These costs are
amortized over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 5
years.

Patent

Patent includes purchased technology and skills
acquired from third parties. They have a finite
useful life and carried at cost less accumulated
amortization and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortization is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of the technology and
skills over their estimated useful life of 3 to 10
years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9

2.10

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example
goodwill or intangible assets not ready to use, are not
subject to amortization and are tested annually for
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortization are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value
in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

Assets held for sale

Assets are classified as held for sale when their carrying
amount is to be recovered principally through a sale
transaction and a sale is considered highly probable.
The non-current assets (except for deferred tax assets
and financial assets) are stated at the lower of carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell. Deferred tax
assets and financial assets, even if held for sale, would
continue to be measured in accordance with the policies
set out elsewhere in note 2.

Financial assets
2.11.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories: at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and receivables and available-for-
sale. The classification depends on the purposes
for which the financial assets were acquired.
Management determines the classification of its
financial assets at initial recognition.
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Financial assets (continued)

2.11.1 Classification (continued)

(a)

(b)

(9)

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are financial assets held for trading.
A financial asset is classified in this category
if acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the short term. Derivatives are also
categorized as held for trading unless they are
designated as hedges. Assets in this category
are classified as current assets if expected to
be settled within 12 months; otherwise, they
are classified as non-current.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets,
except for the amounts that are settled or
expected to be settled more than 12 months
after the end of the reporting period. These
are classified as non-current assets. The
Group and Company’s loans and receivables
comprise “trade and other receivables”, “cash
and cash equivalents”, “amount due from
subsidiaries” and “short-term time deposits”
in the statements of financial position.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in this
category or not classified in any of the other
categories. They are included in non-current
assets unless the investment matures or
management intends to dispose of it within
12 months of the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR RMEE
(BB AHRBEI  FTAESHEABE T TLIIR)

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Financial assets (continued)

TRETHEBE (&)

211 ©@MEE (&)

2.11.2 Recognition and measurement 2.11.2 R MG Z

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognized on the trade-date — the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset. Investments are initially recognized at
fair value plus transaction costs for all financial
assets not carried at fair value through profit or
loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through
profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value,
and transaction costs are expensed in the income
statement. Financial assets are derecognized
when the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all
risks and rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale
financial assets and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are subsequently carried at
fair value. Loans and receivables are subsequently
carried at amortized cost using the effective interest
method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of the “financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss” category are presented in the income
statement within “other income and other gains
— net” in the period in which they arise. Dividend
income from financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss is recognized in the income statement
as part of other income when the Group’s right to
receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-
monetary securities classified as available-for-sale
are recognized in other comprehensive income.

When securities classified as available for sale
are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value
adjustments recognized in equity are included in
the income statement as “other income and other
gains — net”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Financial assets (continued)
2.11.2 Recognition and measurement (continued)

Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments
are recognized in the consolidated income
statement as part of other income when the
Group's right to receive payments is established.

2.12 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable
in the normal course of business and in the event of
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the
counterparty.

2.13 Impairment of financial assets
(a)  Assets carried at amortized cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or group of financial assets is
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired and impairment losses are
incurred only if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a
“loss event”) and that loss event (or events) has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated.

Huabao International Holdings Limited FEEREIZRAR AT
2014-2015 Annual Report £ %

(BR=BHBES

2.

MAEZRABETTIIR)

TERETHERE (&)

211 ©@EE (&)
2.11.2 BERMEE ()

AHEERETANRE X
& B U BB B SRR HY B R RESE
B EiRARERAERSHMD
WA —&BED

2,12 HEEWMTA

ERAEANTHEINTAECEAS
B UABERFRELEEERFARE
REEMEEAEBER  cREZHEBE
A BRI - WHEM MR R E L F
B o RE A HITHEM B AT BKERK
EHME - ME—REHIBRED AR
REFHEFH-—BEHBEN - BERERE
NEBER - BHBBAREBHIRT -

2.13 S@MEERE

(a)

LA B35/ A5 R ) B
AEEREBEAGEAFERESRF
EEBERERX —SRMEEX
X-—HemEELRBE - R
ETERBEBEARBRER
BERBE FHAZREMFER
HERE ((BERERE]) > &R
(%) BEREEFRYZAENZMAE
ERMEENBARRASRER
RE) BRI AR AE - BRAM
CREEXSREEATELR
BB N E R E RS o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(a)

Assets carried at amortized cost (continued)

Evidence of impairment may include indications that
the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments, the probability
that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation, and where observable data indicate
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

For loans and receivables category, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is
reduced and the amount of the loss is recognized
in the consolidated income statement. If a loan
has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for
measuring any impairment loss is the current
effective interest rate determined under the
contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may
measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s
fair value using an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognized (such as an
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the
reversal of the previously recognized impairment
loss is recognized in the consolidated income
statement.

Huabao International Holdings Limited FEHERZERERA R

(BRABFHAEHN -

e ISR M EE

B BABET TIIR)

2. FESHEEBEE (#)

2.13 SRMEERE (&)

(a)

A B A SRR e B (AE)
BB ENE R BREEB AR
—HEBABLREMBEEE -
BHRERERMNE AT
BB ARE W RE I E ST E A
BBER UAREIHREER
NMAFFARKBREIRE A ERR
Lo PlmEENBAERENE
RBRBAE BN LEE -

HREFRREYRFER - HBX
EEIREEERAEEZSRE
ERRE RN XM EET KRR
HAeng (MER/RIARELRARK
EREXR) WIREME K E R
E-BEREETABIR MA
REBUESS WS RHER - 1
EREFAIANKRERZEHA
T HAEFEFARERRMIFRAX
REBEEREBEENENERN X -
EERERS - SBaH AR #
EHNHIGER  BRIANAAE
B ERE -

R B - R E R B
B MDA EBHESE
IEERERIEA FHAENEM (fIan
BEBANERARBMAEE) - B
ZHEDHERNREERERE
Wk B e -

2014-2015 Annual Report %

127



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

128

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13

2.14

2.15

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(b)  Assets classified as available-for-sale

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets
is impaired.
classified as available-for-sale, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the security
below its costs is also evidence that the assets are
impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-
for-sale financial assets,

In the case of equity investments

the cumulative loss —
measured as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment
loss on that financial asset previously recognized
in profit or loss — is removed from equity and
recognized in the consolidated income statement.
Impairment losses recognized in the consolidated
income statement on equity instruments are
not reversed through the consolidated income
statement.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realizable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average method. The cost of finished goods and work
in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other
direct costs and related production overheads (based
on normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing
costs. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If
not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognized initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16

2.17

2.18

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits
held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
investments.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s
equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration
paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs
(net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable
to owners of the Company until the shares are cancelled
or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are subsequently
reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly
attributable incremental transaction costs and the related
income tax effects is included in equity attributable to
owners of the Company.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortized cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognized in the income statement over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognized as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalized as a prepayment for
liquidity services and amortized over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.
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2.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19

2.20

2.21

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalization.

All other borrowing costs are charged to the consolidated
income statement in the period in which they are
incurred.

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified
as current liabilities if payment is due within one year
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Trade payables are recognized initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognized in the consolidated income
statement, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity. In this case, the tax is also recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries, associates
and jointly controlled entity operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax
Inside basis difference

Deferred income tax is recognized, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognized if they arise from the initial recognition
of goodwill,
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the

the deferred income tax is not

transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantially enacted by the reporting date and
are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realized or the deferred income
tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilized.
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2.

132

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

(c)

Deferred income tax (continued)
Qutside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided
on taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
arrangements, except for deferred income tax
liability where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally
the Group is unable to control the reversal of the
temporary difference for associates. Only when
there is an agreement in place that gives the Group
the ability to control the reversal of the temporary
difference in the foreseeable future, deferred tax
liability in relation to taxable temporary differences
arising from the associate’s undistributed profits is
not recognized.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
arrangements only to the extent that it is probable
the temporary difference will reverse in the future
and there is sufficient taxable profit available
against which the temporary difference can be
utilized.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when the deferred income taxes assets and
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities where there is an
intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Employee benefits

(a)

Pension obligations

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong which is
generally funded through payments to insurance
companies under defined contribution plan. It pays
contributions to administered pension insurance
plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary
basis. Moreover, all the employees of the Group’s
entities incorporated in Mainland China of the PRC
(the “Mainland China”) participate in employee
social security plans, including pension, medical,
housing and other welfare benefits, organized and
administered by the local governments. The Group
also makes defined contribution to retirement
schemes managed by the insurance company in
accordance with German regulation and rules
for the employees of the subsidiary located in
Germany. The Group has no further payment
obligations once these contributions have been
paid. The contributions are recognized as employee
benefit expense when they are due and are reduced
by contributions forfeited by those employees
who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in the
contributions. Prepaid contributions are recognized
as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in the future payments is available. No
pension obligation is required under the Botswana
laws and regulation.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

134

2.22 Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-
based compensation plan, under which the entity
receives services from employees as consideration
for equity instruments (options) of the Group.
The fair value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of the options is recognized
as an expense. The total amount to be expensed
is determined by reference to the fair value of the
options granted:

° including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity’s share price);

o excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets
and remaining an employee of the entity over
a specified time period); and

3 including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save).

Non-market performance and service conditions
are included in assumptions about the number of
options that are expected to vest. The total expense
is recognized over the vesting period, which is
the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. In addition, in some
circumstances employees may provide services in
advance of the grant date and therefore the grant
date fair value is estimated for the purposes of
recognizing the expense during the period between
service commencement period and grant date.
At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-marketing
performance and service conditions. It recognizes
the impact of the revision to original estimates, if
any, in the income statement, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

Share-based compensation (continued)

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any
directly attributable transaction costs are credited
to share capital (nominal value) and share premium.

2.23 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration

received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable

for goods supplied, stated net of discounts returns and

value-added taxes. The Group recognizes revenue when

the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when

it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to

the entity; and specific criteria have been met for each

of the Group’s activities as described below. The Group

bases its estimates of return on historical results, taking

into consideration the type of customer, the type of

transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

(a)

Sales of goods

Sales of goods are recognized when a group
entity has delivered products to the customer,
the customer has accepted the products and
collectability of the related receivables is reasonably
assumed.

Delivery does not occur until the products have
been delivered to the specified location, the risks
of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to
the customer, and either the customer has accepted
the products in accordance with the sales contract,
the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the
Group has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Revenue recognition (continued)

(b)

(c)

Interest income

Interest income is recognized on a time-proportion
basis using the effective interest method. When
a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the
carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being
the estimated future cash flows discounted at
original effective interest rate of the instrument,
and continues unwinding the discount as interest
income. Interest income on impaired receivables is
recognized using the original effective interest rate.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognized when the right to
receive payment is established.

2.24 Research and development costs

Research expenditure is recognized as an expense as
incurred. Costs incurred on development projects (relating
to the design and testing of new or improved products)
are recognized as intangible assets when the following
criteria are fulfilled:

(a)

(d)

(e)

()

it is technically feasible to complete the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

the management intends to complete the intangible
asset and use or sell it;

there is an ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

it can be demonstrated how the intangible asset
will generate probable future economic benefits;

adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset are available; and

the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset
during its development can be reliably measured.

Capitalized development costs are recorded as intangible
assets and amortized from the point at which the asset is
ready for use on a straight-line basis over its useful life,
not exceeding five years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Research and development costs (continued)

2.25

2.26

2.27

Other development expenditures that do not meet
these criteria are recognized as an expense as incurred.
Development costs previously recognized as an expense
are not recognized as an asset in a subsequent period.

Development assets are tested for impairment annually.
No development costs had been capitalized for the year
ended 31 March 2015 (2014: Nil).

Operating lease

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are charged to the consolidated income statement
on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognized at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grants will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognized in the consolidated income statement over
the period necessary to match them with the costs that
they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as
deferred government grants and are credited to the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis
over the expected lives of the related assets.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognized as a liability in the Group’s and Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the final
dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders
and interim dividends are approved by the Company’s
Board of Directors.
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

3.

138

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash
flow interest rate risk, and fair value interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group does not have any
significant price risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out under the policies
approved by the Board of Directors. The Group identifies
and evaluates financial risks in close co-operations with
its operating units. The Board provides principles for
overall risk management, as well as policies covering
specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate
risk, credit risk and investing of excess liquidity.

(@)  Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and
Mainland China and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk primarily through financial
instruments that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency
in which they are measured. The functional
currency of the PRC subsidiaries is RMB, and
the functional currency of the HK subsidiaries
is HKD. The foreign exchange risk of the
Group primarily arises from borrowings
which are denominated in EURO (“EUR") and
dividend receivables which are denominated
in RMB. The exchange rate of HKD against
RMB and cash repatriation from the PRC are
subject to the rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government. The Group did not have other
significant exposure to foreign exchange
risk as the majority of the subsidiaries of the
Group are operated in the PRC and most of
their transactions are denominated in RMB
and the value of RMB has been appreciating
against HKD in recent years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a)  Market risk (continued)

()

(if)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

If HKD had strengthened/weakened by
5% against RMB and EUR during the year
ended 31 March 2015, with all other factors
remaining unchanged, the profit before
income tax for the year would have been

affected as follows:

(BRABFHAEHN -

e ISR M EE

B BABET TIIR)

3- E\ZI';]'%HF%MIE (llﬁ)
3.1 BHEBRER (8

(a) WEER (&)

(i) HSMERE (&)
BE-_ZT—RhF=RA=1+—
Eﬁfﬂ;ﬁq BEBEH
ARBEBITHE KE

Group rEH
- Strengthened by 5% — FHE5%
— Weakened by 5% — B1E5%
Company b
— Strengthened by 5% — FHE5%
— Weakened by 5% — B2{BE5%

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Other than deposits held in banks, the Group
does not have significant interest-bearing
assets. Fluctuation of market rates does not
have a significant impact to the Group’s
performance.

The Group's exposure to changes in interest
rates is mainly attributable to its borrowings
which are at floating rates, and expose the
Group to cash flow interest-rate risk.

At 31 March 2015, if interest rates on
borrowings had been 2 percentage points
higher/lower, with all other variables held
constant, there would be no material impact
to the profit for the year.
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3.

140

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk
arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with
banks and financial institutions, credit exposure
to customers and related parties arising from
outstanding receivables.

As at the reporting dates, all the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents and short-term time deposits are
placed in high quality financial institutions without
significant exposure to credit risk.

The Group currently sells substantially all its
flavours, fragrances and reconstituted tobacco
leaves products in the PRC domestic market. Credit
is granted for a period up to 6 months to the
major customers. The credit period is determined
according to an assessment made on the financial
conditions and past payment history of these
customers with the approval obtained from senior
management. As at 31 March 2015, the 5 largest
debtors accounted for 39% (2014: 45%) of total
trade receivables balance of the Group.

The Directors are of the view that most customers
with outstanding balances as at 31 March 2015
are either existing customers with a long business
relationship with the Group and/or reputable
companies in the industry. The risk of credit default
is considered to be low and accordingly, the
provision for doubtful debts as at 31 March 2015
amounting to approximately HKD7,044,000 (2014:
HKD7,787,000) is considered adequate to cover any
significant potential credit risk.

The Company also recorded some balances due
from subsidiaries. The Directors do not consider
that there is significant credit risk arising from these
balances in light of the past repayment history and
operations of these subsidiaries.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(©

Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecast is performed in the operating
entities of the Group. The Directors monitors rolling
forecasts of the Group’s liquidity requirements to
ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational
needs and that the Group does not breach
borrowing covenants on its borrowing facilities.
Such forecasting takes into consideration the
Group's debt financing plans, covenant compliance,
compliance with internal statement of financial
position ratio targets and if applicable, external
regulatory or legal requirements — for example,
currency restrictions.

The table below analyzes the Group’s and the
Company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period at the
balance sheet date to the contractual maturity
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due
within 12 months equal their carrying balances, as
the impact of discounting is not significant.

(BRABFHAEHN -

3.

e ISR M EE

B BABET TIIR)

M¥EREE (F)
MBEBEE (&)

3.1

(c)

B
RenBRARESENKLE T
BT EFEREENRPE
EHERNRBIER - BREEH
BETRENRERE  BRKER
KETEREERGR - LEHR
AZETEEEBRBETS K
RER - FAERMIFHEARRRLL
KRR RIMNEOEEIOEN R
E — DI EEER S (2Em) »

BERRAEBENIIEAR - R
HEEABEREEARZIHEN
RIS EIEET AN - ERAWE
MEBERAREURRNARRSR
BE-2BRE—FRIHPDIAER
HEFEESAREANEETE
X o

The Group
rEE

Less than

The Company
AT
Less than

At 31 March 2015

Borrowings (including accrued interest)

Trade and other payables excluding
statutory liabilities and advance

At 31 March 2014

Borrowings (including accrued interest)

Trade and other payables excluding
statutory liabilities and advance

Note
B EE

R-ZE—RF=A=+—H

EX (BEEAFE)
ZHMEMEMNTKE (TRE 23
EEBEBERENR)

R=ZEB-WNE=H=+—H

B (BfEREFR)
HHREMENTIE (TeFE 23
HEEBBERIENK)

1 year

—FLTF

761,469
449,584

541,264
595,416

1 year

—FHTF

745,928
3,030

525,843
2,302

As at 31 March 2015, the Group's net current assets
is HKD4,454,334,000 (2014: HKD4,068,533,000).
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2

3.3

Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The operating cash inflows of the Group are sufficient
for investing activities including acquisition of new
businesses.

The Group monitors its capital risk based on the debt-
to-equity ratio. This ratio is calculated by dividing the
net debt by the total owners’ equity. As at 31 March
2015, the Group’s net debt is zero (2014: zero), which
is calculated as total borrowings (including current and
non-current borrowings) less cash and cash equivalents.
Therefore the Group’s debt-to-equity ratio is zero as at 31
March 2015 and 2014.

Fair value estimation

The following categorizes financial instruments carried
at fair value based on the level of inputs to valuation
techniques within a fair value hierarchy. The different
levels have been defined as follows:

- Quoted price (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

- Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that
is, derived from prices) (level 2);

- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3

3.4

8.5

Fair value estimation (continued)

The financial assets of level 1 within the fair value
hierarchy as at 31 March 2015 was the financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss. The fair value of this
financial instrument traded in active markets is based
on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. A
market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily
and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker,
industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency,
and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the group is
the current bid price.

The financial assets of level 3 within the fair value
hierarchy as at 31 March 2015 and 2014 were the
available-for-sale financial assets, of which the changes
for the year ended 31 March 2015 and 2014 are
presented in Note 12. There were no transfers into or out
of level 3.

Other than available-for-sale financial assets and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, there are no
financial instruments that were measured at fair value as
at 31 March 2015 and 2014.

Market approach is adopted in valuation of available-for-
sale financial assets. There were no changes in valuation
techniques during the year.

Group'’s valuation processes

The Group’s finance department includes a team that
performs the valuations of financial assets required for
financial reporting purposes with the assistance of an
independent valuer when necessary, including level 3 fair
values. This team reports directly to the chief financial
officer (“CFO"). Discussions of valuation processes and
results are held between the CFO and the valuation team
at least once every six months, in line with the Group’s
reporting dates.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured
at amortized cost

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities measured
at amortized cost approximate their carrying amounts.

Huabao International Holdings Limited FEHERZERERA R

(BRABFHAEHN -

e ISR M EE

B BABET TIIR)

3. MBERERE (5)

3.3

3.4

3.5

D AEEME (F)

R-ZE-—RAF=A=+—8" LN
TE@ T%WZ%WHQEELA“‘EETE
SAABSENEREE - #
AEMSEENER T ANAAEER
BREERBRANMSREINR - 2 H
BRNBEMERLERSRIZM K5
R EAAL  EERBENE
EREERT  MzEFRERREBAFR
SEEETHNERMERMSER 5
FZMIBHRRER - AEERFENER

BENTEHRE/SEFEHRE -
R=F—H &:2 E¢ H +*

Fhk= E*EE—H—WL EIJtEJ;E’\]
“@UE@WEQWEEJ BEECFATHE
ERF=—ERBERNEAREDL -

fﬁ%ﬁlﬁi\ﬂj ETREE T-HFRK
—ME=A=+— EI Iﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂi
EJHE’A tBEFE -

IHEEEREENGHEDIRATS

& FR BERTGILEEE o
REBMPMLERRE
AEBZPBEHEA—ENE - BEFL
MBHREEERT  LEF2RH—E

B AEBNG THEREENG
B BREAEEEAAEE- /A
BEENSGEE ([M5EEE]) ER - 8
BHEE R G NETIRAEE 2 & B
MBI Ee6fE B 817 — R wm EERiE R
HAEER -

BREBHEKATENEREEREEZD
REE
T’Eﬁﬁfﬁﬁkﬂiﬁ'%m%@ﬁqﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ@’&
AREEDEEREERS

2014-2015 Annual Report %

143



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

144

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(@) Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill
has suffered any impairment in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.9.
The recoverable amounts of CGUs have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations.
These calculations require the use of estimates
(Note 8).

If the budgeted gross margin or estimated pre-tax
discount rate used in the value-in-use calculation
for the CGUs of flavours segment had been 23
percentage points lower or 6 percentage points
higher than management’s estimates at 31 March
2015 respectively, with all other assumptions
remaining unchanged, the Group would not have
recognized an impairment of goodwill.

If the budgeted gross margin or estimated pre-tax
discount rate used in the value-in-use calculation
for the CGUs of reconstituted tobacco leaves
segment had been 14 percentage points lower or
6 percentage points higher than management'’s
estimates at 31 March 2015 respectively, with all
other assumptions remaining unchanged, the Group
would not have recognized impairment of goodwill.

Huabao International Holdings Limited FEEREIZRAR AT
2014-2015 Annual Report £ %

(Bx

SHEBAEI - PABESEAEETTIIR)

BASE S ot fh 5 K I

MEMHE SR AFENG  XERBELRR
HtEER  8RERRERTHEESREEMF
B IETEAR -

4.1 BRETHTRER
AEEARKRIELHERBR - FIBZ
SEEFTNEEE - ROERBHER
*%m” ﬁ&%ﬁﬁ?&%%Z%ﬁ
(EEE2 — AR BREEANAELEKX
ﬁﬁz%#&E“MT

(a) BEHREZIGF
R AR B 5E2.9P 2 B9 & 5K
AEEESFAABERTHER
B -ReEABMHATKRESHE
RRERAEBEEAEMETE - LF
SEOBNRGE (KFE8) -

MRRAEREHEBNRSE
EBAHERBAEFTERFER
B TE AT F = R Ad 5T B AT AR B K
REEERE_ZE—HE=R=+
Bzt 802 Bl Tﬁ%/ibuzadz
6fEE DB - HbRBRFIE
AEEETHEERRRE -

MBBEEELEBNRSEAE

N ERAEEFETRMERANTE

FTEFEREHEAERERE

BEE-_Z—AE=A=+—8H

BT DRI TBE /B aN14sk61EH

“% HihBRRBFLE K&
T BRI E o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(continued)

(a)

(b)

Impairment of goodwill (continued)

If the budgeted gross margin or estimated pre-tax
discount rate used in the value-in-use calculation
for the CGUs of fragrances segment had been 7
percentage points lower or 5 percentage points
higher than management’s estimates at 31 March
2015 respectively, with all other assumptions
remaining unchanged, the Group would not have
recognized impairment of goodwill.

Dividends policy of subsidiaries

According to the relevant regulations of the
Corporate Income Tax Laws, when a foreign
investment enterprise distributes dividends out of
the profits earned from 1 January 2008 onwards
to its overseas investors, it will be subject to
withholding income tax. The applicable withholding
income tax rate varies with the origin of the
overseas investors.

The Directors estimated that a portion of profits
generated by the PRC subsidiaries would be
distributed to their Hong Kong immediate parent
companies and the approval on the treaty rate
will be obtained. Therefore, deferred income tax
liabilities had been provided based on 5% of the
estimated profits to be remitted to Hong Kong.

As at 31 March 2015, deferred income tax
liabilities of HKD358,457,000 (31 March 2014:
HKD304,462,000) have not been recognized for
the withholding tax that would be payable on the
unremitted profits of certain PRC subsidiaries. The
Directors have determined not to distribute these
earnings.

The Directors will regularly review the funding
requirements of the Group and thus revise the
dividend distribution policy of its subsidiaries as
appropriate.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has organized its operations into four main
operating segments:

(1)  Flavours;

(2)  Reconstituted tobacco leaves;

(3) New materials; and

(4)  Fragrances.

The chief operating decision-makers have been identified as the
executive directors (the “Executive Directors”). The Executive
Directors review the Group’s internal reporting in order to
assess performance and allocate resources. Management has
determined the operating segments based on these reports.

The Executive Directors consider the business from the
operation perspective and assess the performance of flavours,
reconstituted tobacco leaves, new materials and fragrances
segments. Flavours segment include research and development,
production and sale of flavours products. Reconstituted
tobacco leaves segment include research and development,
production and sale of paper-making reconstituted tobacco
leaves. Fragrances segment include research and development,
production and sale of fragrances products. In line with the
Group’s business development relating to new materials
products, the management has decided to report a new
operating segment — New materials during this reporting
period. The segment includes research and development,
production and sale of new materials products that are
innovative, functional, and applicable to tobacco industry. The
Executive Directors assess the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of operating profit.
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mEMBHRRME
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BrBAEHRBAEIN  TESBEABETLIIR)
5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. 2EER (&)
The segment information for the year ended 31 March 2015 is HE-_T—RAF=A=1+—RHIEFEZHFE
presented below: K250
Year ended 31 March 2015
HZ-Z-1F=B=t-RALEE
Reconstituted
tobacco New Total
Flavours eaves materials  Fragrances segments Corporate Total
RAERER BE®R iME  AREREH AP an )
Total turnover el 3,229,796 974,301 86,769 85,075 4,375,941 - 4,375,941
Inter-segment sales AHHEEE (20,697) (28,727) - (31) (49,455) - (49,455)
Segment turnover - net PSR- 58 3,209,099 945,574 86,769 85,044 4,326,486 - 4,326,486
Segment result P 1,898,165 417,891 15,311 10,654 2,342,021 (21,876) 2,320,145
Finance income BIBWA 83,095
Finance costs B (13,988)
Finance income - net BEWA - 58 69,107
Share of loss of associates and ElEBED T RER L
ajointly controlled entity BEIRE (3,005)
Profit before income tax BHARF 2,386,247
Income tax expense FEH (391,054)
Profit for the year AEERA 1,995,193
As at 31 March 2015
RZE-EF=A=1-A
Reconstituted
tobacco New Total
Flavours eaves materials  Fragrances segments Corporate Total
RAERER EEER i AREREH A an )
Segment assets AREE 7,204,941 3,353,107 161,573 164,299 10,883,920 16,947 10,900,867
Huabao International Holdings Limited FEHERZERERA R 1 47
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. 2HEER (&)
The segment information for the year ended 31 March 2014 is HE-_ZT-NF=A=1+—RHIEFEZHFE
presented below: B2

Year ended 31 March 2014
HE-T-MF=A=T-ALFE

Reconstituted
tobacco New Total

Flavours leaves materials Fragrances segments Corporate Total
RREREH EEER MitE BREREH ARtz &3 Eh
Total turnover BEXE 3,143,885 1,070,170 21,003 84,688 4,319,746 - 4,319,746
Inter-segment sales HHEHEE (81,969) (339) = (13) (82,321) = (82,321)
Seqment turnover - net AHREE- 78 3061916 1,069,831 21,003 84675 4,237,425 - 4237425
Segment result VIEES | 1,981,437 421,683 (14,360) 7,760 2,397,520 (20,276) 2,377,244
Finance income BIA 54,352
Finance costs BERA (11,997)
Finance income - net 0 N 42,355

Share of loss of associates and ElRE AR RERES
a jointly controlled entity ERIER (2,354)
Profit before income tax B AET 2,417,245
Income tax expense ity (420,381)
Profit for the year REERF 1,996,864

As at 31 March 2014
RZZ-ME=A=T-A
Reconstituted
tobacco New Total

Flavours leaves materials Fragrances segments Corporate Total
RREREH BEEhR MitE  BREREH ARtz &3 &zt
Segment assets AHEE 6,708,824 3,353,762 147 471 167,256 10,377,319 31,087 10,408,406

1 48 Huabao International Holdings Limited FEEREIZRAR AT
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment result represents the profit earned by each segment
without inclusion of unallocated corporate expenses, finance
costs, finance income and share of results of associates and
a jointly controlled entity. This is the measure reported to
chief operating decision makers for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.

The total of non-current assets, other than financial instruments
and deferred tax assets, of the Group as at 31 March 2015 and
2014 are mainly located in the PRC.

Revenues from external customers are derived from the sales
of flavours, fragrances, reconstituted tobacco leaves and new
materials to customers mainly located in the PRC.

Revenue derived from sales made to one single external
customer amounted to 19% (2014: 20%) of the Group’s total
revenue. These revenues are attributable to flavours segment.
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(BRABEHBES - AESBABETTIIR)

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - GROUP 6. WE #EIERRE - FXEE
Furniture,
Plant and Motor fixtures and Leasehold  Construction
Note Buildings  machinery vehicles  equipment improvements in progress Total
G £E

i BT HRERRE RE ET BEXE ERIR )
At 1 April 2013 R=8-=§MA-A
Cost KA 752,213 727,382 11,231 175,716 21,875 133,240 1,887,663
Accumulated depreciation Zithe (145340)  (172,637)  (39,891) (75,859) (10,531) - (444,258)
Net book amount RAE 606,873 554,745 37,346 99,857 11,344 133,240 1,443,405
Yearended 31 March 2014 HZ-Z-ME=A=1-ALEE
Net book amount at 1 April RBA—BEEFE 606,873 554,745 37,346 99,857 11,344 133,240 1,443,405
Additions AE 1,89 34,691 9,495 10,504 2,962 54,657 114,205
Transfers & 2,711 61,802 847 2,880 - (68,240) -
Disposal of a subsidiary HEMBRAR (3,349) (3,379 (206) (81) = - (7,015)
Disposals e 32 - (827) (10) (176) - - (1,013)
Depreciation & 25 (36,908) (74,393) (9,99) (19,790) (2,467) - (143,555)
Currency translation differences  EH#HEZE 10,790 8,246 645 1,286 207 (1,704) 19,470
Net book amount at 31 March ~ M=R=+—BEAFE 582,013 580,880 38,125 94,480 12,046 117,953 1,425,497
At 31 March 2014 W-8-ME==1-8
Cost A 766,269 825,529 87,170 186,960 25,006 117,953 2,008,887
Accumulated depreciation Z:E (184,256)  (244,649) (49,045) (92,480) (12,960) - (583,390)
Net book amount REFE 582,013 580,880 38,125 94,480 12,046 117,953 1,425,497
Year ended 31 March 2015~ BZ-Z-EF=f=1-AL%E
Net book amount at 1 April RUA-BEEFE 582,013 580,880 38,125 94,480 12,046 117,953 1425497
Additions AE 2,968 16,451 4,036 11,674 3,520 95,670 134,319
Transfers @ 24,165 41,004 10 7,609 - (72,788) -
Disposal of a subsidiary HERBAR (654) - - - - (2,548) (3,202)
Disposals rt 32 - (1,213) (15) (143) (100) - (1,471)
Depreciation g 25 (37.713) (82,040) (9,614) (19,356) (2,421) - (151,144)
Currency translation differences  E#HEZH 415 (1,240) (10) (270) (32) 2,633 1,496
Net book amount at 31 March ~ R=A=+—HEEFE 571,19 553,842 32,532 93,994 13,013 140,920 1,405,495
At 31 March 2015 W-%-EF=f=t-A
Cost KA 793,107 878,032 90,702 204,467 27,489 140,920 2,134,717
Accumulated depreciation ZitiE (221,913)  (324,190) (58,170) (110,473) (14,476) - (729,222)
Net book amount REFE 571,19 553,842 32,532 93,994 13,013 140,920 1,405,495
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BrBAEHRBAEIN  TESBEABETLIIR)

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - GROUP 6. % - #BERXE —£KE (&)
(continued)

Depreciation was recorded in the following categories: MERUT A

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HLEE

Note 2015 2014

BitsE —EB-—FF —E—NF
Manufacturing overheads Rk E 69,896 69,094
Selling and marketing expenses HE RHEERK 2,510 2,769
Administrative expenses 1TEE A 78,738 71,692
Total depreciation e 25 151,144 143,555

7. LAND USE RIGHTS - GROUP 7. 1THERE-FEE

The Group's interests in land use rights represent prepaid REERTEAENER RENEEHEE -
operating lease payments and their net book amounts are HREFEI T :

analyzed as follows:

As at 31 March

MR=A=+—H
2015 2014
—E-H%F —T-mE
Outside Hong Kong, held on: EEBRIMNEA N FEEER -

Leases between 10 to 50 years 102 50F L) 194,060 200,247

Year ended 31 March

BZE=A=1+—HLEE
Note 2015 2014
ihg=s —E-RF —ET—OF
At 1 April »WEA—H 200,247 204,045
Additions NE - 367
Disposal of a subsidiary i E BT A Al - (1,168)
Amortization 8N 25 (6,323) (6,346)
Currency translation differences EHRE = 136 3,349
At 31 March R=B=+—H 194,060 200,247
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